

University of North Dakota UND Scholarly Commons

Theses and Dissertations

Theses, Dissertations, and Senior Projects

January 2014

The Interplay Between Aging, Growth Hormone, The Methionine Pathway, And Epigenetic Methylation Marks And Mechanisms

Vanessa Louise Armstrong

Follow this and additional works at: https://commons.und.edu/theses

Recommended Citation

Armstrong, Vanessa Louise, "The Interplay Between Aging, Growth Hormone, The Methionine Pathway, And Epigenetic Methylation Marks And Mechanisms" (2014). *Theses and Dissertations*. 1617. https://commons.und.edu/theses/1617

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses, Dissertations, and Senior Projects at UND Scholarly Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of UND Scholarly Commons. For more information, please contact zeinebyousif@library.und.edu.

THE INTERPLAY BETWEEN AGING, GROWTH HORMONE, THE METHIONINE PATHWAY, AND EPIGENETIC METHYLATION MARKS AND MECHANISMS

by

Vanessa Armstrong Bachelor of Science, University of Minnesota, Crookston, 2008

A Dissertation

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty

of the

University of North Dakota

In partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Grand Forks, North Dakota August 2014

This dissertation, submitted by Vanessa Armstrong in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy from the University of North Dakota, has been read by the Faculty Advisory Committee under whom the work has been done and is hereby approved.

brow k Chairperson

This dissertation is being submitted by the appointed advisory committee as having met all of the requirements of the School of Graduate Studies at the University of North Dakota and is hereby approved.

ii

Wayne Swisher, Dean of the School of Graduate Studies

1 29, 2014

PERMISSION

Title	The interplay between aging, growth hormone, the methionine pathway, and epigenetic methylation marks and mechanisms
Department	Pharmacology, Physiology, and Therapeutics
Degree	Doctor of Philosophy

In presenting this dissertation in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a graduate degree from the University of North Dakota, I agree that the library of this University shall make it freely available for inspection. I further agree that permission for extensive copying for scholarly purposes may be granted by the professor who supervised my dissertation work or, in her absence, by the Chairperson of the department or the dean of the School of Graduate Studies. It is understood that any copying or publication or other use of this dissertation or part thereof for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission. It is also understood that due recognition shall be given to me and to the University of North Dakota in any scholarly use which may be made of any material in my dissertation.

Vanessa L. Armstrong

7-31-14

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES	vii
LIST OF TABLES	x

CHAPTERS

I.	INTRODUCTION1
	Epigenetics1
	Epigenetic markers and mechanisms3
	Genetic and epigenetic stability, aging, and aging pathology13
	The methionine pathway, methylation, and epigenetics24
	Growth hormone, the methionine pathway, and aging26
	The liver as an organ of study for aging and methylation28
	Ames dwarf mice as a model for epigenetic study and aging31
11.	MATERIALS AND METHODS
	Experimental animals
	In vivo GH treatment of Ames dwar mice and IGF-1 treatment of GHRKO
	mice40
	Hepatocyte isolation and GH treatment in vitro41
	Immunoblotting43
	Nuclear extraction and DNMT activity assay45
	Messenger RNA expression via one-step RT-PCR48

miRNA expression via two-step RT-PCR5	1
Interspersed repeat transcription two-step RT-PCR5	2
McrBC-qPCR DNA methylation assay5	4
Global methylation assay5	7
Methylation-specific PCR analysis5	9
Histone extraction and immunoblotting6	2
Histone chromatin modification enzyme RT-PCR pilot study6	3
Statistical analysis6	4
RESULTS6	6
GNMT transcription and translation is higher in dwarf mice6	7
DNA methylation basal expression and activity is significantly altered in Ames dwarf mice compared to wild type mice6	7
Global DNA methylation is higher in dwarf mice at every age and resists changes due to age7	; 3
DNA methylation enzyme expression is significantly affected in growth hormone treated dwarf mice7	8
DNA methylation enzyme expression is significantly altered in hepatocyl from growth hormone treatment8	tes 0
DNMT1 post-transcriptional regulation in Ames dwarf mice8	4
Growth hormone administration affects DDX20, metallothionein expression and methylation9	0
Histone markers associated with aging are differentially expressed and distributed differently in dwarf mice compared to age-matched wild type mice9	3

III.

	DNA methylation enzymes are differentially expressed in other mutant mouse models with deficient or excessive GH signaling
IV.	DISCUSSION111
	Specific Aim 1- To examine GNMT, DNMT expression, DNMT activity, and global DNA methylation cross-sectionally in Ames dwarf and age-matched wild type mice
	Specific Aim 2- To examine growth hormone administration effects on DNA methylation mechanisms and global DNA methylation
	Specific Aim 3- To examine histone H3 and H4 markers associated with aging
	Specific Aim 4- To examine global DNA methylation and DNMT expression and growth hormone expression mutants
	REFERENCES150

LIST OF FIGURES

Fig	gure Pa	ge
1.	GNMT mRNA and protein expression are higher in Ames dwarf mice compared to their wild type siblings	68
2.	DNMT1 and DNMT3a mRNA expression are higher in Ames dwarf mice at 3 months of age	69
3.	Average Ct counts for H4 or β 2m transcripts showed similar biological expression between all age groups and genotypes	69
4.	DNMT protein levels are expressed differently in Ames dwarf and wild type liver tissue at 3, 12, and 24 months of age	70
5.	DNMT expression genotype differences due to age run in separate gels	72
6.	DNMT activity is higher in Ames dwarf mice at 3 months and lower at 24 months than age-matched wild type siblings matching the pattern of DNMT3a protein expression.	73
7.	Global DNA methylation of Ames dwarf mice is higher at 3 and 12 months of age	74
8.	Ames dwarf mice show differences in hypomethylation and transcriptional expression of repetitive elements that may contribute to genetic stability	77
9.	Methylation patterns of LINE1 are different in Ames dwarf mice	78
10	. Body weight is increased by one week of growth hormone injections in Ames dwarf liver	79
11	Liver DNMT mRNA expression For DNMT1 and DNMT3b is increased upon GH administration	79
12	DNMT protein expression is susceptible to growth hormone treatment in Ames dwarf mouse liver	80

13. Ames dwarf hepatocytes are more sensitive to growth hormone treatment which alters DNMT expression	81
14. Growth hormone administration alters global DNA methylation in dwarf mice	82
15. Growth hormone treatment did not change methylation patterns of LINE1 in Ames dwarf mice	83
16. Liver DDX20 mRNA expression is affected by age but not genotype and DDX20 protein is more abundant in dwarf mice	84
17. Dwarf mice display decreased expression of miRNA 140-3p at 3 and 24 months of age but also loss of 5S rRNA transcription at 24 months of age, compared to age-matched wild type mice	85
18.Liver MT1 mRNA basal expression was higher in dwarf mice and affected by age and genotype	87
19. Three month old dwarf liver shows less methylation in MT1 at 464-570 bp of the putative CpG island	89
20. Protein expression of DDX20 is more abundant in dwarf mice treated with growth hormone	89
21. Liver miR-140-3p expression does not significantly change with GH administration	90
22. Growth hormone treatment increases MT1 and MT2 expression and changes methylation patterns in Ames dwarf mice	s 92
23. Panel shows two representative samples MT1 STAT binding CpG Island methylation	92
24. Histone H3 methylation and pan histone levels are expressed differently in Ames dwarf and wild type liver tissue at 3, 12, and 24 months of age	94
25. Age-related total histone H3 expression within Ames dwarf and wild type genotypes	96

26.	When normalized to H3 pan, Histone H3 methylation markers were distributed differently in dwarf mice at different ages	96
27.	Histone H4 lysine 20 tri-methylation and are expressed differently in Ames dwarf and wild type liver tissue at 3, 12, and 24 months of age	97
28.	GHRKOmice show no genotypic difference in global DNA methylation compared to wild type mice	99
29.	GHRKO mice show differences in hypomethylation and transcriptional expression of repetitive elements that may contribute to genetic stability	101
30.	DNMT1 and DNMT3a mRNA expression are higher GHRKO mice at 12 months of age	102
31.	Liver DNMT mRNA expression For DNMT1 and DNMT3a is increased upon IGF-1 administration in GHRKO mice	103
32.	GH Tg mice show a genotypic difference in global DNA methylation compared to wild type mice at 10 months of age	104
33.	GH Tg mice show differences in hypomethylation and transcriptional expression of repetitive elements that may contribute to genetic stability	106
34.	DNMT3b mRNA expression was higher in GH Tg mice at 3 months of age	108
35.	DNMT protein levels are expressed differently in GH Tg and wild type liver tissue at 3, 6, and 12 months of age	109

LIST OF TABLES

Та	ble	Page
1.	Table 1: A list of histone methylation modifications	9
2.	Table 2: Primer pairs utilized for gene specific one-step RT-PCR	49
3.	Table 3: Primer pairs utilized for McrBC-PCR and miRNA two-step RT-PCR	55
4.	Table 4: Primer pairs utilized for MS-PCR	61
5.	Table 5: Histone modification enzymes	98

ABSTRACT

Methylation reactions are important for the establishment and maintenance of epigenetic methylation tags on DNA and histone molecules that are critical for the development and life-long function of an organism. While epigenetics has been studied extensively during embryological development and age-related disease such as cancer, little is known about whether epigenetic methylation enzyme expression change in normally aging or long-living mammals. Because growth hormone (GH) plays an important role in determining the lifespan of many organisms, we have focused our studies on the long-living growth hormone deficient model the Ames dwarf mouse. We focused our studies on epigenetic methylation in the liver, because of its role in GH signaling, IGF-1 signaling, and it's responsiveness to changes in the methionine pathway which govern DNA and histone methylation.

Our studies showed that DNA methyltransferase 1 (DNMT1) protein is basally expressed less in the Ames dwarf compared to their wild-type counterparts, despite higher or equivalent transcription, suggesting that some form of post-transcriptional regulation is taking place. Global DNA methylation levels in dwarf mice resisted age-related changes compared to wild type mice. Histone methylation of key regulatory transcriptional markers, and total histone H3 expression were also altered in dwarf mice.

xi

We demonstrated that the protein abundance of a potential regulatory protein of DNMT1 (DEAD-box helicase 20) significantly higher in Ames dwarf mice at 3, 12, and 24 months of age. Metallothionein1 (MT1) mRNA expression was much higher in dwarf mice especially at 3 months of age. Also there were differences in the methylation of putative CpG islands of the MT1. Growth hormone administration influenced DNA methyltransferase and DDX20 protein expression in dwarf mice and areas of methylation in the predicted MT1 CpG island. MicroRNA 140-3p which pairs with DDX20 for post-transcriptional regulation of DNMT1 was also studied.

Studies using growth hormone receptor knockout mice and over-expressing growth hormone transgenic mice DNMT transcription and interspersed repeat methylation were also studied to discover continuities with previous experiments in Ames dwarf mice. Taken together, this study offers valuable insight about the changes in the epigenetic methylation mechanisms and markers due to aging.

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Epigenetics

Even though every cell type in the mammalian organism contains the same genome, each cell type expresses its own sets of genes and proteins which are necessary for function in complex multicellular organisms such as humans. Epigenetic refers to heritable forms of gene expression that cannot be attributed to a change in the DNA sequence (Robin Holliday, 2006). Epigenetic modifications on DNA and proteins contribute to cell differentiation, function, and gene expression and influence the observable phenotype of mammalian organisms. Epigenetic studies started with observations of heritable phenotypic traits that were passed on from mother to daughter cells during cell division. During embryological development, these traits determined cell type, organ formation, and eventually a multi-organ organism (Tost, 2010). It was understood as early as the 1950s that there were mechanisms responsible for the timing and regulation of gene expression and DNA packaging which were key to development (Robin Holliday, 2006). Epigenetics in this context led to the study of the epigenome, a heritable regulatory mechanism consisting of markers on DNA or proteins associated with DNA, that affects DNA packaging and expression of genes, non-coding RNA, and retroviral elements.

Epigenetics came into the social and scientific forefront following the publication of a few landmark studies. Nutritional insufficiencies were found to affect the phenotype of human offspring even to the second generation through the "Dutch famine studies" and Dr. Bygren's Swedish studies (Bygren et al., 2001; Heijmans et al., 2008). These reports changed the debate from nature (genetic control) versus nurture (environmental control) in phenotype expression to nature and nurture having equal importance on the phenotypic plasticity and fitness of an organism even during development (Jang & Serra, 2014). Maternal administration of demethylating agents such as bisphenol A or methyl-rich diets demonstrated that environmental maternal factors had an obvious and persistent impact on offspring phenotype (Jang & Serra, 2014; Morgan et al., 1999). Agouti mice are also prone to diabetes and cancer (Calvanese et al., 2009; Schellenberg et al., 2011). This challenged the rejection of Lamarck's principles of inheritable adaption and environmental influence that are continually being rethought, revised and reintroduced to the scientific community through the study of epigenetics (Gravina & Vijg, 2010; Robin Holliday, 2006; Jablonka & Lamb, 1989).

As early as the 1960's, it was thought that epigenetics may influence aging, but epigenetic regulation of human aging really came to the forefront with studying the phenotypic discordance among aging human monozygotic twins (Berdyshev et al., 1967; Fraga et al., 2005; Poulsen et al. 2007). Many of the most well-known epigenetic changes controlling gene expression have been studied in age-related diseases such as cancer, rheumatoid arthritis, and

Alzheimer's disease. Yet much remains to be done to understand how these changes are beneficial or detrimental to an aging organism and how this could be translated into medical treatments to enhance longevity and a higher quality of function during aging. Before these changes and their effects on gene expression and genome integrity can be discussed in detail, the mechanisms and markers related to these epigenetic changes must first be introduced and defined.

Epigenetic markers and mechanisms

There several epigenetic markers including methylation, are hydroxymethylation, which are covalent DNA modifications, and histone modifications that include but are not limited to methylation, phosphorylation, acetylation, ubiquitination, and sumoylation in mammals (Chia & Rotwein, 2010; Guibert & Weber, 2013; Strahl & Allis, 2000). Epigenetic markers are responsible for regulating the expression of the genome in each cell or cell-type. Without epigenetic regulation, the differentiation of cells and development of multicellular organisms wouldn't be possible. One well-studied epigenetic modification in somatic cells is DNA methylation. This marker consists of a covalent insertion of a methyl group onto the five prime carbon of the nucleotide cytosine typically preceding an adjacent quanine on the same strand known as a CpG dinucleotide. These dinucleotides make up around 1% of the total genome and are most densely packed in gene regions known as CpG islands (Bestor, 2000; Ehrlich et al., 1982; Tost, 2010). Gene regions make up approximately 2-3% of the entire genome and CpG islands, which are regions of CpG dinucleotides of between 100 and 5000 bps, are mostly located (50-60%) in gene promoter

regions. CpG islands are thought to regulate transcription positively or negatively depending on the gene but are generally hypomethylated in differentiated cells (Singal & Ginder, 1999). High levels of DNA methylation at the CpG island or promoter regions are mostly associated with the repression of gene expression, X chromosome inactivation, genomic imprinting, and the repression of repetitive elements that contain ancestral retroviral sequences able to transpose themselves into other areas of the genome if expressed (Shin et al., 2011; Tost, 2010). High levels of methylation are also typically associated with proteins that bind DNA into heterochromatin, a tightly packed form of DNA that is sequestered from transcriptional proteins such as transcription factors and RNA polymerases. DNA methylation is catalyzed by DNA methyltransferases, or DNMTs, which consist of three catalytically active families, DNMT1, DNMT3a, and DNMT3b. DNMT3L which is included in this family, contains homogeneity in sequence but lacks catalytic sequences and activity. However, DNMT3L affects the affinity of other DNMTs for their substrates and thus remains an important cofactor for DNMT activity (Bestor, 2000; Cheng & Blumenthal, 2008). DNA methyltransferases catalyze the removal of a methyl group from the substrate Sadenosylmethionine (SAM), which is the major methyl donor for every methyltransferase reaction in a cell, and transfers it to specific cytosines on the DNA molecule. This reaction relies on the availability of SAM in the nuclear compartment (Wallace & Fan, 2010). DNA methyltransferases have specific activity for methylating either hemi-methylated DNA, or can form de novo methylation reactions, such as DNMT3a and 3b. Since DNMT1 has the highest

affinity for hemi-methylated DNA that is used as a template and is more abundant during cell division and DNA synthesis, it has been termed a maintenance methyltransferase (Bestor & Verdine, 1994; Robertson et al., 1999). DNMT1 is considered the most active and abundant DNA methyltransferase in mammalian cells. DNMT3a and 3b are de novo methyltransferases not requiring a template strand for methyl marker replication. They preferentially methylate heterochromatin and are required for the methylation of repetitive DNA (Bachman et al., 2001; Liang et al., 2002a). However, DNMTs associate with different genomic areas upon differentiation and may play different roles (Challen et al., 2012; Jones & Liang, 2009). For instance, DNMT3a is enriched in intergenic heterochromatin, whereas DNMT1 and DNMT3b are more associated with intragenic regions and areas of transcription after induced differentiation of pluripotent cells with retinoic acid (Jin et al., 2012). In addition, different isoforms of each family of DNMT exist and are specific to certain periods of embryonic development or certain cell types that result in possible functional differences adding to the complexity of DNMT regulation (Bestor, 2000; Chen et al., 2002; Keith D Robertson, 2002). All three DNMTs have different isoforms and have gene expression regulatory effects independent of DNA methylation, adding yet another possible layer of function that has yet to be fully investigated (Bachman et al., 2001; Jin et al., 2012; Lan et al., 2010; Milutinovic et al., 2004). There are fewer CpG dinucleotides in the mammalian genome than statistically expected. This may be caused by nucleotide mutation through two deamination mechanisms, one is a spontaneous deamination and

the other is an enzymatically catalyzed deamination of methylated cytosines. Both processes render a new base, uracil, which is converted to thymine if no DNA repair enzymes intercede (Lindahl, 1974; Singal & Ginder, 1999). As a result, methyl binding proteins, which protect methylated cytosines from deamination, are thought to play a major role in the maintenance of methylation patterns and may be one mechanism of transcriptional repression (Hendrich & Bird, 1998; Lan et al., 2010).

If DNA in the human body were laid out in a string from each of the 46 chromosomes, it would measure about two meters long. This large amount of DNA must be packaged to fit into a nucleus which is only about six microns in diameter (Alberts et al., 2008). Most of our DNA is wrapped around and bound to proteins that produce a complex layered hierarchy of packaging that is known in its most condensed form as chromatin. DNA, and its associated proteins, plus the proteins that anchor chromatin to the inside of the nuclear membrane, make up the nuclear architecture, which provides compartmentalization for transcription and the sequestration of repetitive DNA in the nucleus. DNA methylation also impacts how DNA is packaged. DNA can be gathered into tightly wound prohibitive structures and around proteins that inhibit transcription factor and polymerase binding to suppress gene expression (heterochromatin) or less prohibitive structures that allow or even facilitate gene expression (euchromatin). Both utilize histones, and non-histone proteins. There are two types of heterochromatin, facultative and constitutive. Both types of heterochromatin markers are heritable from cell-to-cell, however they perform different functions.

Constitutive heterochromatin occurs at repetitive DNA that localize principally near telomeres and centromeres of chromosomes. This structure keeps chromosomes separated, and stabilizes the genome by preventing transposition events or mutations in the DNA sequence by keeping it silenced. Compartmentally it localizes to the nuclear periphery and historically, has been considered fixed and irreversible, but recently has been discovered to change with aging (Kreiling et al., 2011; Oberdoerffer & Sinclair, 2007; Sedivy et al., 2008).

Facultative heterochromatin (or inducible chromatin) is largely responsible for, the phenotype of a cell during differentiation, X- chromosome inactivation, and the phenotypic response of a cell to a changing environment. This type of heterochromatin is localized to promoter regions and is dependent on transcriptional repressors and silencing protein complexes, which may include non-coding RNA. Interestingly, senescent cells associated with aging phenotypes in culture, show alterations in facultative heterochromatin that disallow cell cycle re-entry. (Sedivy et al., 2008; Sinclair & Oberdoerffer, 2009)

Histones are proteins that, in binding DNA, form the most basic repeating unit of structure in chromatin known as a nucleosome. Nucleosomes are octameric structures made up of dimers of four families of core histone proteins labeled H2A, H2B, H3, and H4. Histones are highly basic and able to bind DNA due to its negatively charged backbone making it a very stable complex (Li et al., 2007). At its smallest repeating unit, approximately 147 base pairs of DNA are wrapped around each nucleosome. Another histone known as histone H1 is

associated with linker DNA, the DNA between each nucleosome and the nucleosome itself facilitating the next level of more compact nuclear condensation known as the 30-nm fiber. This structure is then looped and coiled into a higher order of condensation which is typical of transcriptionally repressive heterochromatin by non-histone proteins such as condensins, DNA topoisomerase, and heterochromatin protein 1 (HP1). Other non-histone proteins are chromatin remodeling proteins associated with the disruption of histone binding to DNA in order to promote the transcription of gene encoding sections of DNA (Alberts et al., 2008).

Histones contain large *N*-terminal tails of amino acids which are subject to covalent modifications that further regulate how tightly DNA is wrapped and sequestered from transcriptional proteins or other elements in the nuclear milieu. Histone modifications are reversible and include acetylation, methylation, ubiquitination, sumoylation, along with an abundance of other post-translational modifications to which large databases such as HIstome have been dedicated in cataloguing (Khare et al., 2012; Shin et al., 2011). These modifications appear to carry out specific patterns of transcriptional regulation that are synergistic or antagonistic depending upon the combination of markers in each histone at any given time. The acetylation marks and some facultative histone methylation marks are thought to be more dynamic and responsive to intrinsic or extrinsic regulation than DNA methylation and more "stable" constitutive heterochromatin marks which are heritable across cell generations (Barth & Imhof, 2010; Dunn, 2003; Jin et al., 2011). Histone methylation is one of the most well-studied

modifications and forms a large part of the regulatory "histone code" that has been consistently observed as either activating or repressive to transcription (Strahl & Allis, 2000).

Table 1: A list of histone methylation modifications. Adapted from (Li et al., 2007).

Modifications	Histone and Position	Transcriptional Function
Lysine Methylation	H3 K4	Activation
	H3 K9	Repression, activation
	H3 K27	Repression
	H3 K79	Activation
	H4 K20	Silencing
Arginine Methylation	H3 R2	Activation
	H3 R17	Activation
	H3 R26	Activation
	H4 R3	Activation

Histone methylation also uses the universal methyl group donor, SAM, similar to DNA methylation. A list of well-known methylation markers and functions is shown in Table 1. Repressive and silencing markers such as the trimethylation of Histone H3 lysine 9, Histone H4 lysine 20, and histone H3 lysine 27 contribute to constitutive and facultative heterochromatin. These markers are concentrated in areas of DNA that normally are heavily methylated throughout adulthood and are resistant to changes in methylation. These include areas of repetitive DNA, e.g. retroviral ancestral elements, that are thought to contribute transcriptional "noise", genomic mutation through retrotransposon insertions, and cellular dysfunction when expressed (Christensen et al., 2009). Other tri-

methylation marks such as on Histone H3, lysines 4, 36 and 79, are associated with transcriptional activation, relaxing the tightly bound DNA allowing access of regulatory elements by transcriptional proteins. Just as there are variants of each protein in the DNMT family, there are histone variants of H3, H2, and H1 that are conducive to transcription or repression. These variants can also participate in other processes such as DNA repair and cell cycle regulation (Jin et al., 2011). There are many known histone H1 linker variants in somatic mammalian cells that stabilize the genome into heterochromatin states and higher compaction. Six variants of H1 (H1.0- H1.5) are found in somatic mammalian cells while two variants are specific to testes and oocytes. Histone H1.0 is the most abundant subtype in terminally differentiated cells while the other subtypes are associated with cell division and vary depending on cell type (Sancho, Diani, Beato, & Jordan, 2008). Histone H2 variants reside in heterochromatic areas and promoter regions poised for transcription (Histone H2A.Z) or areas of active transcription (H2ABbd) (Li et al., 2007). Histone H3 variants vary in abundance according to tissue type and may play a role in determining and maintaining cellular differentiation (Garcia et al., 2008). However, histone variant H3.3 differs in four amino acids from canonical histone H3, and deposition is associated with increased transcription. During transcription histones must be temporarily evicted for transcriptional machinery access to the DNA elements. Subsequent to histone methylation marks on histone H3K36 and H3K4, DNA is opened up and histones are displaced by RNA Polymerase II and chromatin remodeling proteins. Special histone chaperones act to redeposit histones onto DNA into their appropriate

placements (Li et al., 2007). There are many enzymes for adding and subtracting histone post-translational methylation and the enzymes are methylation marker specific (Rice & Allis, 2001). Histone post-translational modification is intrinsically linked to DNA methylation by DNMT association with histone deacetylases (HDACs), histone methyltransferases (HMTs), chromatin remodeling complexes, and other transcriptional corepressors altering chromosome structure in tandem with DNA methylation (Cheung & Lau, 2005; Cockerill, 2011; Shin et al., 2011). Similar to the complex function of DNMTs, many histone enzyme, histone variant, and associating protein functions are complex adding more facets to an already intricate mechanism of regulation.

Recently, a third form of epigenetic regulation has been discovered and involves the small non-coding RNAs (snRNA). Two types of snRNAs have been studied, small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) and microRNAs (also known as miRs or miRNAs). Both siRNAs and miRNAs are involved in mRNA or transcriptional control. Small interfering RNA is produced by RNA polymerase III, is transcribed from repetitive DNA, and is involved in heterochromatin formation. MicroRNAs are primarily transcribed in gene regions by RNA polymerase II and are involved in mainly posttranscriptional regulation (Nakahara & Carthew, 2004; Yu et al., 2014). MicroRNAs are approximately 22 nucleotides long and regulate post-transcriptional expression via targeted degradation or translational suppression. MicroRNA transcripts are highly conserved among different species of mammals demonstrating the evolutionary importance of this form of regulation (Chuang, 2007). MicroRNA transcription areas can be found in exonic and intronic regions

and are processed with a guanine cap and polyadenylated tail before editing. The discovery of new miRNAs transcripts has increased in surprising numbers, from 450 transcripts in 2007 to over 1100 transcripts in 2010, with more being continually discovered and predicted in databases such as *rna22* and miRBase (Chuang, 2007; Kozomara & Griffiths-Jones, 2014; Miranda et al., 2006; Sato et al., 2011).

MicroRNAs are processed after transcription by RNA polymerase II and are composed of long stem loop RNA structures known as pri-miRNA. These molecules then associate with RNase III endonuclease, Drosha, and DGCR8 that make up the microprocessor complex where it is cleaved into an approximately 70 base pair fragment which is now known as pre-miRNA. From here a complex of other proteins stabilize and export the pre-miRNA from the nucleus to the cytosol for further processing by associating with Dicer and Transactivation Responsive RNA-binding Protein 2 (TARBP2). Dicer has RNase III activity which facilitates double strand RNA cleavage. The final miRNA double stranded RNA strand, of approximately 22 base pairs is attached to Argonaut (Ago) which in participates in miRNA processing to a single stranded RNA. This complex is then loaded onto RISC (RNA induced silencing complex) for posttranscriptional regulation of mRNAs. This regulation can occur either through the complementary base pairing of mRNA transcripts to the miRNA where RISC degrades the mRNA transcript or through an incomplete complementation between the miRNA and the 3' UTR region of an mRNA molecule where other proteins decap and deadenylate the mRNA reducing its stability and promoting

degradation (Bian et al., 2013; Chuang Jody C., 2007; F. Sato et al., 2011). However, miRNA biogenesis, localization, turnover, and activity are all regulated by RNA binding proteins (RBPs) which can intercede at different processing stages. DEAD-box helicases, (DDXs) also known as Gem-associated proteins (Gemins), are a family of putative RNA helicases with a specific amino acid consensus sequence, which complexes with Ago to guide the miRNA onto RISC. These are potentially important regulators of miRNA to mRNA targeting and posttranscriptional control. The expression of DEAD-box helicases can be altered in certain disease states (Van Kouwenhove, Kedde, & Agami, 2011; Wilker et al., 2010). MicroRNA has the capability of controlling the expression of other epigenetic factors, such as the DNMTs, histone modifying enzymes, and methyl binding proteins (Bian et al., 2013; Denis, Ndlovu, & Fuks, 2011; F. Sato et al., 2011). MicroRNA can be controlled by epigenetic mechanisms through DNA methylation of miRNA coding regions and in the cytosol by RNA binding proteins.

Genetic and epigenetic stability, aging, and aging pathology

Aging is considered a temporally based physiological decline that occurs through the accumulation of cellular damage causing cellular dysfunction accompanied by inappropriate responses of cells to external or internal stimuli (Gravina & Vijg, 2010; López-otín et al., 2013). However, in genetic and epigenetic terms, the focus is the damage to molecules in the nucleus and the disruption of the genome and the epigenome whose regulation is interconnected. This dysregulation can affect RNA expression, repetitive element expression,

and miRNA expression, with effects that ripple outward to create excesses or deficiencies in cellular protein expression and function.

Proper gene expression of a somatic cell relies on the fidelity of gene sequences during replication, along with all of their regulatory elements, so that they may be properly transcribed and translated in concert, providing functional proteins affecting the overall function of a cell at any given time and condition. DNA sequence damage and mutations, which involve insertions or deletions, can cause genetic instability, changing the ability of the cell to function and respond to internal or external stimuli (Gravina & Vijg, 2010; López-Otín et al., 2013; Wolters & Schumacher, 2013). Extrinsic DNA sequence damage can be caused by mechanical, biological, and chemical stressors. Examples of extrinsic forces include ultraviolet radiation and mutagenic substances. Intrinsically caused DNA damage can occur through oxidative stress via the production of reactive oxygen species, spontaneous hydrolytic, deamination, or alkylating reactions, and DNA replication or repair errors of the cell (Hoeijmakers, 2009; Lindahl, 1974; Shin et al., 2011; Singal & Ginder, 1999; Wolters & Schumacher, 2013). Genetic instability accumulates with aging in humans and mice (Vijg & Suh, 2013). It also occurs in human accelerated aging diseases such as Werner syndrome, Bloom syndrome, and Hutchinson-Gilford Progeria syndrome (HGPS) and many of these mutations cause cancer susceptibility associated with aging (Moskalev et al., 2013; Wolters & Schumacher, 2013). Werner syndrome and HGPS stem from a mutation in the nuclear lamin A/C gene, from which translated nuclear membrane proteins define the arrangement and have a regulatory role in gene

expression. These mutations display phenotypes that correlate with both genetic and epigenetic instability and many markers of aging. Disruption of DNA repair mechanisms through mutation causes many aging phenotypes including retinal degeneration, progressive kyphosis, ataxia, photosensitivity, and neurodegeneration (Barzilai et al., 2008; Burtner & Kennedy, 2010; Laugel et al., 2010) Cellular mitotic or DNA replication errors producing chromosomal aneuploidies and variable copy-numbers also increase with aging (Faggioli et al.,2012;Forsberg et al., 2012). Repetitive DNA, unlike genes which make up a small percentage of DNA, makes up 40 to 50% of the genome in mice and humans respectively (Shapiro & Von Sternberg, 2005; Waterston et al., 2002). Repetitive elements are also known as interspersed repeats, retroviral elements, and DNA transposons. Transposable elements (TEs) are a class of repetitive elements found in mammals including mice and humans which are able to copy and subsequently insert themselves in different areas of the genome when expressed (Tomilin, 2008). Transposition of these elements increases with aging in mouse tissue (De Cecco et al., 2013).

There are four classes of transposable elements in mammals, three of which appear to be important in cellular differentiation and can be altered in DNA methylation and expression due to nutritional stressors and age (De Cecco et al., 2013; Martens et al., 2005; Pogribny et al., 2009). The first class, known as long interspersed nucleotide elements (LINEs), is independently capable of transposition. They are considered non-retroviral elements and contain coding regions for reverse transcriptase (RT) and an endonuclease. They move through

an RNA intermediate, create DNA copies via RT, and insinuate themselves into the host genome via an endonuclease. Short interspersed nuclear elements (SINEs) do not contain RT or endonuclease coding regions, therefore these elements require LINE transcription to provide these enzymes. Interestingly, LINEs are located in A-T rich regions in gene poor regions and SINEs are located in C-G and gene rich areas (Alberts et al., 2008; Waterston et al., 2002). A third class of transposable element is the retroviral-like retrotransposon. These repeats are more like the retroviral ancestors from which they probably came. These include the intracisternal-A particles long terminal repeats (IAP-LTRs) whose transcription causes small particles to accumulate in the endoplasmic reticulum during embryogenesis and in tumors (Hojman-Montes de Oca et al., 1983). LTRs contain RT and integrase coding regions. Their transcription produces a DNA copy, similar to LINEs, and an integrase implants the DNA into a new area of the genome (Alberts et al., 2008).

Telomeres are repetitive sequences at the ends of chromosomes that are rich in guanine and protect DNA from degradation and recombination. Telomere loss is strongly associated with aging, progeria, and increases vulnerability to genomic instability (Londoño-Vallejo, 2010; López-Otín et al., 2013; Shin et al., 2011; Sinclair & Oberdoerffer, 2009; Wolters & Schumacher, 2013). Telomere sequences attract special proteins that loop the DNA and protect it from damage. Due to these proteins, DNA replication and repair enzymes have difficulty accessing these regions which consequently decrease in size over time until they become truncated enough that the cell enters a state called senescence

(Londoño-Vallejo, 2010). Cellular senescence is the cellular state where a cell has permanently left the cell cycle and cannot proliferate even upon exposure to stimulatory growth factors. Senescent cells also display an aberrant hyperactive expression and secretory state and aging tissue is thought to accumulate these types of cells (Blagosklonny, 2011; Campisi & d'Adda di Fagagna, 2007).

During adulthood, epigenetics plays an important role in maintaining cell differentiation, gene expression, genetic stability, and contributes to the ability of a somatic cell to change its functions or its state in response to a variable environment. This is termed phenotypic plasticity. Epigenetic changes are likely to occur in a group of cells responding to the same stimulus unlike genetic changes defined by the maintenance of a single cell's genetic integrity during DNA synthesis and cellular division, or exposure to chemical, environmental, or biological stressors (Gravina & Vijg, 2010; López-Otín et al., 2013; Shin et al., 2011). Epigenetic (unlike genetic changes) are dynamic, which allow phenotypic plasticity for cellular responses to a stimulus, or reversal of cellular responses upon the stimulus cessation. Epigenetic stability involves maintaining the fidelity of DNA and histone markers and replications over time but also the plasticity of epigenome marker addition, subtraction, or replacement, to changes in intrinsic and extrinsic cellular signaling. If parts of the epigenome are no longer able to appropriately change according to the condition in which these cells exist, cell genome and protein expression can become unresponsive or hyper-responsive, meaning that necessary genes either are not expressed or are over-expressed in a manner that is ultimately deleterious to cell function (Burzynski, 2005; Gravina

& Vijg, 2010). This concept is what is currently proposed to happen during aging through several mechanisms contributing to epigenetic and genetic instability. Because genome and epigenome instability are both present in aging cells, it is currently debated which event precedes the other as a potential early biomarker of cell dysfunction (Pegoraro & Misteli, 2009). When do epigenetic changes start to coincide with aging pathology? As yet, there are no firm answers to this question however, there is surprising evidence that DNA methylation changes occurring early in the life of mammals (i.e. zero to one month in mice) are amplified during adulthood and the aging process (Takasugi, 2011). This begs the question as to which of these DNA methylation changes could be predictive for later detrimental age-related changes or are part of normal aging development. Epigenetic stability can be threatened in several ways. The environment has a well-established effect on epigenetic markers, especially DNA methylation. Chronically present intrinsic or extrinsic stressors, such as altered nutritional intake can make lasting differences in epigenetic markers which can permanently influence signaling in cells (Pogribny et al., 2006). In addition to environmental inputs or insults, epigenetic markers can be affected by random or stochastic changes over time which may be defined as epimutations, epigenetic drift, or even epigenetic recombination. These can result in observable phenotypic traits that cannot be explained by genetics or the environment that cause divergent transcriptomes over time (Fraga & Esteller, 2007; Gravina & Vijg, 2010; R Holliday, 1987; Poulsen et al., 2007). In addition, just as in genetic replication, epigenetic replication is subject to error as well. In regularly

proliferating cells, errors can make a significant contribution to epigenetic aging (Laird et al., 2004). This can promote epigenetic heterogeneity between monozygotic twins and in in-bred animal strains that are exposed to similar environments and nutritional access (Wong, Gottesman, & Petronis, 2005).

There are several mechanisms by which the epigenome protects or enhances genome function in a cell that can go awry during aging causing genetic instability and ultimately cell dysfunction. Many parts of the DNA sequence are protectively sequestered from mutations and undesired transcription by DNA methylation and epigenetic proteins, such as methylbinding, histone, and non-histone proteins. Areas of normally heavily methylated DNA regions in adult somatic cells are interspersed repeats and oncogenes. Two major events appear to be important factors in aging and aging pathologies via DNA methylation. The first is global hypomethylation in CpG dinucleotides and concurrent hypomethylation in repetitive elements (Asada et al., 2006; Berdasco & Esteller, 2012; V Bollati et al., 2011; De Cecco et al., 2013; Jintaridth & Mutirangura, 2010; Mustafina, 2013; Singhal, Mays-Hoopes, & Eichhorn, 1987; Thompson, Atzmon, & Gheorghe, 2010). The second event is the hypermethylation of tumor suppressor genes and other normally expressed genes such as housekeeping genes (Burzynski, 2005; Christensen et al., 2009; Chuang Jody, 2007; Fraga & Esteller, 2007; Gentilini et al., 2012; Gravina & Vijg, 2010; López-otín et al., 2013; Sedivy et al., 2008; Teschendorff et al., 2010). While interspersed repeat expression is postulated to threaten genomic stability and create transcriptional noise, the expression of oncogenes spurs the cell into

unwarranted cellular proliferation, and appears to be concurrent with silencing of tumor suppressor genes by increased methylation, laying the foundation for cellular transformation and tumorigenesis during aging. Global loss of DNA methylation is thought to contribute to chronic inflammation and autoimmune diseases by making DNA more immunogenic to surrounding cells. Therefore more "self" reactivity can occur resulting in less apoptosis of aberrant cells and increasing necrosis during aging (Agrawal et al., 2010). DNA methylation changes during aging have been demonstrated to polarize T cell differentiation patterns and alter receptor expression contributing to autoimmune diseases such as systemic lupus erythematosus and rheumatoid arthritis (Goronzy et al., 2010). Age-related DNA hypomethylation, transcription, translocation, or even partial translation of endogenous retroviral elements may contribute to the development of autoimmune diseases (Balada et al., 2010; Perl, 2003). Brains of Alzheimer's patients show global changes in DNA methylation, changes in DNA methylation at repetitive elements, gene specific methylation changes, and changes in metabolic pathways that affect DNA methylation (Bollati et al., 2011; Coppieters et al., 2014; Groen, 2010). Gene specific changes in DNA methylation are also associated with osteoarthritis (Barter et al., 2012). Global DNA hypomethylation has been associated with aging and is a widespread phenomenon; however there are exceptions to the accepted paradigm. In vivo tissue does not always show global hypomethylation with age or in progeroid tissues (Osorio et al., 2010). As a result, the aging epigenome paradigm might be different for different tissues and different species of mammals.

Chromatin structure, histones, and histone modifications can also play large roles in protecting the cell from genetic and epigenetic instability. As stated earlier, chromatin structure, histone alterations, and DNA methylation work cumulatively or synergistically to regulate gene function and DNA accessibility. There is a strong reorganization of chromatin structure during aging that impacts global RNA expression. In aging drosophila there is a loss of heterochromatin and a gain of ribosomal RNA expression associated with aging. In murine tissue, there is a gain of heterochromatin and loss of total RNA correlated with aging (De Cecco et al., 2013). Senescent cell types also exhibit changes in heterochromatin formation at normally euchromatin associated areas (Sedivy et al., 2008).

Histone proteins play a role in genomic stability. For instance, DNA damage repair triggers H2AX phosphorylation, which is a histone H2 variant that senses DNA damage and helps negatively regulate the cell cycle for DNA repair. This mechanism helps maintain genomic stability and proper cell function and is associated with cellular senescence in aging tissues and progerias (Campisi & d'Adda di Fagagna, 2007; Gravina & Vijg, 2010; Hanasoge & Ljungman, 2007; Wang et al., 2009). It is also a convenient marker for global DNA damage because of this role (Pogribny et al., 2010). Histone methyltransferases and DNMTs form complexes and both attain methyl groups from SAM, the universal methyl donor. Therefore, it's not especially surprising to discover that there are many histone methylation modifications that change with age, just as there are DNA methylation changes with age across mammalian species and tissue types.

The constitutive heterochromatic markers, histone H3K9 methylation, H3K27 methylation, and protein HP1 decrease in elderly human cells, senescent cells, and progeroid cells (Pegoraro & Misteli, 2009; Sedivy et al., 2008; Shin et al., 2011). Histone H3K27 tri-methylation levels decrease while messenger RNA increases with age in nematodes but not flies (Han & Brunet, 2012). Histone H4K20 tri-methylation is also a heterochromatic transcriptionally repressive histone marker that increases in senescent cells, rat liver, and progeroid cells but is decreased in cancer (Fraga & Esteller, 2007; Shin et al., 2011). Loss of histone H3K4 methyltransferase, which produces the transcriptionally active trimethylation marker, extends lifespan in nematodes. In addition, loss of the demethylase for the same marker decreases lifespan for both nematodes and drosophila. However, in murine and human brain tissue, histone H3K4 trimethylation is decreased with aging (Cheung et al., 2010; Kuzumaki et al., 2010a). Thus some of the histone markers involved in aging appear to be specific to mammalian aging and disease. Histone acetylation, which is a more transient marker, shows some differences in age such as increases in H4K16 acetylation in yeast. In theory, stochastic changes in histone modifications can occur just as in DNA methylation, which would correlate with increased stochastic gene expression with age (Gravina & Vijg, 2010). Global acetylation of histones H4 and H2A also occur in progeroid mice (Osorio et al., 2010). Cognitive decline in mice is associated with the loss of chromatin plasticity via deregulated histone acetylation (Peleg et al., 2010).

Non-coding RNAs have recently been discovered to alter their expression with age in nematodes, with a decline in total microRNA expression and an increase in specific miRNA transcripts (Boehm & Slack, 2005; Ibáñez-Ventoso et al., 2006). However, no specific miRNA over- or under-expression effects have been discovered to modulate aging directly in mammals, though many have been identified for the regulation of aging pathways and in cross-sectional studies of aging mammals that may be potential targets (Bates et al., 2010; Grillari & Grillari-Voglauer, 2010; Maes, An, Sarojini, & Wang, 2008). Some of these targets are shown to have effects on DNA methylation regulation, cancer and autoimmune regulation as well (Bian et al., 2013). Other miRNA transcripts are regulated by other epigenetic mechanisms and are involved in many different types of cancer, apoptosis, neurogenesis, neurodegenerative disease, senescence, and genomic imprinting all of which are affected by, or are correlated with, aging. (Grillari & Grillari-Voglauer, 2010; Sato et al., 2011). Histone H2AX expression is involved in the DNA damage response and cellular senescence. This histone variant is also regulated by miRNA expression and is implicated in DNMT expression as well (Denis et al., 2011; Grillari & Grillari-Voglauer, 2010; Ugalde et al., 2011). However, though some bioinformatical and predictive queries have been started, miRNA expression and functional crossovers between aging, aging diseases, and epigenetics are still lacking (Inukai & Slack, 2013). Finally, the transcription of repetitive elements, possibly into small interfering RNA, has been suggested to potentially serve some function in the mammalian cell and aging in particular, since transcription of some of these families increases with aging in mice (De Cecco et al., 2013; Grillari & Grillari-Voglauer, 2010).
The methionine pathway, methylation, and epigenetics

The methionine pathway is central to many important biochemical reactions and regulation of cellular function. All of the myriad methylation reactions of a cell and the nucleus are connected to the methionine pathway, also known as one carbon metabolism or thiol metabolism, through the production of the methyl donor molecules S-adenosylmethionine (SAM or AdoMet). As discussed previously, DNA methylation is very important to transcriptional regulation. Histone methylation and it's "code" for transcriptional activation or repression is well studied. Histone methylation marks are more stable posttranslational modifications than either acetylation or phosphorylation and have specific measurable markers that contribute to all forms of chromatin (euchromatin, facultative heterochromatin, and constitutive heterochromatin) (Barth & Imhof, 2010). The first step of the methionine pathway involves the conversion of methionine to SAM by methionine adenosyltransferase (MAT). This step requires ATP and is the rate limiting step of this pathway due to a triphosphate intermediate (Wallace & Fan, 2010). SAM is then converted to SAH by many different methyltransferase enzymes unless it is shunted to a salvage pathway and polyamine synthesis where it is decarboxylated (Cavuoto & Fenech, 2012). S-adenosylmethionine on its own can act as a riboswitch involved in translation inhibition and transcriptional termination by binding RNA affecting cellular function. However for methylation reactions, in which it is mostly involved, SAM is converted to S-adenosylhomocysteine (SAH) by methyltransferase enzymes which perform different vital functions in the cell. In fact, the use of

methyl groups is second only to the use of ATP in the cell and is used for the methylation of DNA, RNA, histones and other proteins, polyamines, and lipid methylation as well as the methylation of some small molecules, demonstrating the diverse number of uses for methionine that contribute heavily to cellular metabolism and homeostasis (Loenen, 2006). The availability and competition for SAM as a substrate affects methyltransferase activity and expression and consequently DNA methylation. For instance, induced or inhibitory alteration in glycine-N-methyltransferase activity, which competes for methyl groups with DNMT, causes alterations in DNA methylation and DNMT activity (Huang et al., 2007; Martínez-Chantar et al., 2008; Rowling et al., 2002; Ulrey, et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2011). The methionine pathway is also subject to nutritional supplementation or deficiency of methionine, or other nutrients, cofactors, and hormones as well. These molecules include choline, vitamins B6 and B12, folate, insulin, glucagon, growth hormone and glucocorticoids (Aida et al., 1997; Brown-Borg, Rakoczy, & Uthus, 2005; Ulrey et al., 2005). Diets that are methyl-deficient alter the availability of SAM and usually lack one or a combination of choline, methionine, or folate. These diets are thought to alter the ratio of SAM: SAH abundance which is widely accepted as a reference for methylation capacity (Brown-Borg et al., 2005; Cantoni & Chiang, 1980). Nutritional deficiencies or supplementation of folate, choline and vitamin B12 have been shown to alter the expression of several methionine metabolic enzymes, which in turn induced changes in SAM:SAH, global DNA methylation, and histone modifications in humans, rabbits, and mice in different tissue types (Choi & Friso, 2010; Ulrey et

al., 2005). Altered SAM and SAH levels are known to contribute to human disease (Loenen, 2006). *S*-adenosylhomocysteine is also capable of inhibiting methyltransferase activity and possibly DNA methylation (Davis & Uthus, 2004; De Cabo, Santos, & Fernández-Piqueras, 1995).

How is the methionine pathway affected by aging? One of the most studied hormones involved in aging is growth hormone (GH). Growth hormone is known to regulate components of the methionine pathway. Several murine studies, in diverse background strains, show mutant animals deficient in GH signaling live significantly longer than their non-mutant siblings (Brown-Borg, 2009). Furthermore, there are reports that GH administration to GH deficient mutants shortens lifespan to wild type levels and greatly affects the enzyme activities in the methionine pathway, including many methyltransferases (Brown-Borg et al., 2005; Panici et al., 2010).

Growth hormone, methionine pathway, and aging

Growth hormone is a protein hormone that is released by somatotrophs in the anterior pituitary in a pulsatile fashion (Hartman et al., 1993; Vijayakumar et al.,2011). Several factors diminish or stimulate its release in humans and mice including exercise, sleep, starvation, steroid hormones, and stress (Cornford et al., 2011; Hartman et al., 1993; Weltman et al., 2006). GH secretion is affected by estrogens and androgens and therefore exhibits sexual dimorphism (Ohlsson et al., 2009). Growth hormone also affects DNA methylation of many genes based on gender (Takasugi et al., 2013). One molecule of growth hormone from the serum stimulates the dimerization of two tyrosine kinase receptors which facilitates the phosphorylation of the Janus family of tyrosine kinases (JAK2) and the serine threonine phosphorylation of the GH receptors. A phosphorylation cascade is initiated which can stimulate the Signal Transducers and Activators of Transcription (STATs) and many other pathways such as ERK1/2 and MAPK (Bartke et al., 2013; Vijayakumar et al., 2011). STAT localizes to the nucleus where it can act as a transcription factor through STAT responsive elements on many different genes involved in proliferation. GH signaling affects other pathways including the phosphotidylinositide 3-kinase/Akt pathway (PI3K/Akt) which is primarily responsible for regulating cellular proliferation, cell survival, and differentiation (Herrington et al., 2000; Rawlings et al., 2004; Schumacher et al., 2008) and GH administration to GH deficient dwarf mice affects many components of this pathway in liver tissue (Masternak et al., 2010; Miguet et al., 2010). During aging, GH levels decline starting after the age of twenty years in humans, and since GH stimulates IGF-1 production and secretion from the liver, this hormone declines as well. IGF-1 is important to somatic and central nervous system development and brain function (Aberg et al., 1998; Muniyappa et al., 2007; Ye & D'Ercole, 2006). Though most IGF-1 is produced in the liver, some is produced by local tissues with autocrine/paracrine effects (Ohlsson et al., 2009). IGF-1 can also affect GH secretion (Bartke et al., 2013; Vijayakumar et al., 2011). Insulin shares similar pathway mechanisms with IGF-1 signaling and has also been implicated in aging across species, including worms, flies, and mice (López-Otín et al., 2013). Overexpression of growth hormone in mice leads to reduced lifespans and early onset of aging markers (Bartke et al., 1999; Steger

et al., 1993). In humans there are a number of indicators that the GH, IGF-1 and insulin signaling pathways are involved in aging from Laron dwarfs, deficient in GH signaling, to centenarians. The lack of many age-related diseases such as cancer and diabetes in Laron dwarfs, and delayed cancer among centenarians, indicates potential promising cross-over between mice and humans (Bartke et al., 2013; Guevara-Aguirre et al., 2011; Heemst, 2010; Longo & Finch, 2003; Salvioli et al., 2009; Suh et al., 2008). However, Laron dwarfism (GH receptor defect) does not offer any decided prolongation of lifespan in humans as it does in mice (Aguiar-Oliveira et al., 2010). Although there is a difference between humans and mice in aging phenotypes, some bioinformatics inquiries are tackling the species specific similarities and differences in the murine and human genomes to help guide the scientific community to more translatable paradigms and hopefully a better understanding of somatotropic signaling and human aging (Yuan et al., 2011).

The liver as an organ of study for aging and methylation

In some mammalian tissues, cells continue to readily divide in a fully formed adult organism, such as intestinal wall or skin cells, whereas others are terminally differentiated and have lost the capacity to divide, such as neurons. One exception is liver cells, which upon insult or partial removal can reenter the cell cycle from a quiescent differentiated state to proliferate and replace lost tissue (Pennisi et al., 2004; Schmucker & Sanchez, 2011). The liver loses volume, blood flow, and the ability to regenerate with age. Also more Kupffer cells are activated in aged liver, which may be indicative of some basal inflammation

associated with aging (Hilmer et al., 2007; Sheedfar et al., 2013). The liver is responsible for the first pass metabolism of many pharmaceuticals that can increase drug half-life and drug toxicity in aged humans (Klotz, 2009; Pond & Tozer, 1984). Therefore, the liver is a very important organ in aging and there is an excellent reservoir of scientific evidence demonstrating that epigenetic changes occuring in this organ are related to the methionine pathway and methyl availability.

Many diseases such as hepatitis steatosis (fatty liver), cirrhosis from alcoholism, and vascular diseases and inflammation can be correlated with an altered production of S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) and its corresponding byproduct after methyl group subtraction, S-adenosylhomocysteine (SAH). Liver disease and risk of hepatocellular carcinoma increases in humans and animals with age as well (Sheedfar et al., 2013). The most abundant methyltransferase in the liver, glycine-*N*-methyltransferase (GNMT), displays diminished expression in human hepatocellular carcinoma and GNMT knockout mice show a propensity for hepatocellular carcinoma accompanied by differences in DNA and histone methylation (Martínez-Chantar et al., 2008). Experimentally increased or decreased expression of GNMT in hepatocytes alters DNMT methylation and activity, which can further be affected by adding another variable, methionine supplementation (Wang et al., 2011). The activation of GNMT using retinoic acid also causes global hypomethylation in rats (Rowling et al., 2002). GNMT is one of the methyltransferases in the methionine pathway mentioned earlier, and because it is so abundant, it regulates SAM availability in the liver for other

methyltransferases (Yeo & Wagner, 1994). By altering separate nutritional components of the methionine pathway, such as choline, and methionine itself, many differences can observed in the expression of epigenetic markers and mechanisms in murine hepatocytes (in vitro) and murine liver (in vivo). Methyldeficient diets induce miRNA expression changes in mice that are associated with diseases and aging (Choi & Friso, 2010). However, common groups of miRNAs which simultaneously regulate aging pathways, the methionine pathway, and the regulation of the epigenome, still remain to be discovered. Methyldeficient diets also alter repetitive element expression which is associated with genetic instability, hepatic steatosis, and hepatocellular carcinoma (Asada et al., 2006; Hsieh et al., 1989; Pogribny et al., 2009). Methyl-deficient diets significantly alter DNA and histone methylation in long-lived inbred strains of mice compared to short-lived strains and show some interesting differences (Pogribny et al., 2009). However, none of these epigenetic modifications have been studied in mutant long-lived mouse models compared to their wild type siblings, exposing a large gap in the scientific knowledge between aging, the methionine pathway, and epigenetic mechanisms.

As stated earlier, the liver is very responsive to growth hormone and primarily responsible for IGF-1 secretion in the body (Bartke et al., 2013; Brown-Borg, 2009). Liver fibrosis, a condition that increases with aging, displays differences in DNA methylation and miRNA expression. DNA methyltransferase 1 negatively regulates the phosphatase and tensin homologue (PTEN), that negatively regulates PI3K/AKT and ERK pathways, and coincidently are

stimulated by GH through JAK/STAT pathways (Bian et al., 2013). The protein PTEN is also associated with increased lifespan in many organisms (López-otín et al., 2013; Salminen & Kaarniranta, 2010; Scrable et al., 2010). However the connection between GH pathways and DNMT expression has not yet been demonstrated. Aging mouse liver show higher amounts of γ-H2AX, a marker of DNA damage demonstrating decreased genomic stability (Wang et al., 2009). Liver tissue from old mice exhibits multinucleated hepatocytes that increase in size but without cytokinesis (known as polyploidy). This phenomenon is not well understood but is similar to senescence in other cell lines and occurs with aging (Lebel, De Souza-Pinto, & Bohr, 2011).

Ames dwarf mice as a model for epigenetic study and aging

Ames dwarf mice result from a single nucleotide polymorphism in the *Prophet of Pit-1* gene (*prop-1*) rendering a loss of function mutation that is unable to stimulate *Pit-1* gene expression (Andersen et al., 1995; Schaible & Gowen, 1961; Sornson et al., 1996). This results in an underdeveloped anterior pituitary gland devoid of secreting somatotropes, lactotropes, and thyrotropes causing the absences of plasma growth hormone, prolactin, and thyroxine stimulating hormone, respectively (Bartke, 1964; Sornson et al., 1996). Ames mice exceed wild type sibling lifespans by 49-68%, with females showing the largest gain (Brown-Borg et al., 1996). Ames dwarf mice have many physiological and developmental phenotypic differences from wild type mice including, smaller size, lower body temperature, female infertility, delayed incidence of neoplastic disease and less age-related tissue and cell injury in toto at death, and they

maintain a juvenile appearance in adulthood (Bartke et al., 2001; Bartke et al., 2013; Brown-Borg et al., 1996; Hunter et al., 1999; Ikeno, Bronson et al., 2003; Schaible & Gowen, 1961). Other important biochemical characteristics related to aging in Ames dwarf mice include heightened insulin sensitivity even in old age, lower glucose levels, very low IGF-1 plasma levels, enhanced resistance to oxidative stress, and an atypical methionine pathway with altered basal expression and activity of many enzymes (Brown-Borg & Rakoczy, 2003; Brown-Borg, 2009; Chandrashekar & Bartke, 1993; Louis et al., 2010; L. Y. Sun et al., 2011; Uthus & Brown-Borg, 2003, 2006). GH is known to oppose the actions of insulin and contributes to insulin resistance. Another interesting feature of dwarf mice is that sexual liver dimorphism gene expression seen in wild type mice disappears between male and female dwarf mice (Amador-Noguez et al., 2005; Takasugi et al., 2013). When Ames dwarf mice are treated with GH beginning at 2 weeks of age for 6 weeks, their lifespan becomes shorter and more similar to wild type mice. Thyroxine injections however have no effect on lifespan, only body weight, illustrating the effects of longevity in dwarf mice is mostly due to a lack of GH (Panici et al., 2010).

While many of the phenotype differences are interesting, the enzymatic differences within the methionine pathway have a large potential to alter epigenome methylation in Ames dwarf mice, and thereby change phenotypic gene expression. GNMT is an important regulator of methyl donor availability and dwarf mice show increased activity and expression of this enzyme. There are also increases in methionine adenosyltransferase, which affects the

production of methionine into SAM, the universal methyl donor (Uthus & Brown-Borg, 2003). Ames dwarf mice have a reduced SAM:SAH ratio, that is usually associated with reduced methylation capacity, but lack the increased disease pathology seen in other mice or in humans (Chen et al., 2010; Elmore & Matthews, 2007). However, Ames mice show greater activity in methylation enzymes responsible for SAM to SAH conversion, and higher rates of transmethylation and transulfuration, demonstrating that they most likely do not have a reduced methylation capacity (Uthus & Brown-Borg, 2006). Also, due to the fact that the administration of GH in dwarf mice can reverse methionine enzyme activity and expression to wild type levels suggests growth hormone may be a powerful factor in epigenomic stability and aging.

The presence of GH diminishes the ability to resist oxidative stress (Brown-Borg, 2009). Ames dwarf mice also exhibit a high resistance to oxidative stress from reactive oxygen species and an increased expression and activity of many antioxidant enzymes including superoxide dismutases (SODs), catalase, glutathione, peroxidase, and on enzymatic antioxidants such as glutathione, and metallothionein (Amador-Noguez et al., 2004; Brown-Borg & Rakoczy, 2000; Brown-Borg & Rakoczy, 2002; Brown-Borg et al., 2005; Meyer et al., 2003; Sharma et al., 2010; Sun et al., 2011; Swindell et al., 2010). While glutathione expression is regulated through enzymes connected to the methionine and transulfuration pathways, the heavy metal and free radical scavenger, metallothionein can be regulated by the DNMTs through DNA promoter methylation (Kumari et al., 1998; Majumder et al., 2006;

Majumder, Ghoshal et al., 1993). This is yet another reason why the Ames dwarf mouse may have the potential for important epigenetic alterations contributing to aging and longevity.

There are other models deficient in GH signaling, such as Laron dwarf mice, which lack a functional growth hormone receptor and binding protein resulting in a mouse resistant to GH (GHRKO mice) (Zhou et al., 1997). These mice show increased life spans (38-55% longer) along with many other phenotypic similarities with Ames dwarf mice including small body size, delays in sexual maturation, oxidative stress resistance, enhanced insulin sensitivity and an altered expression of methionine enzymes including GNMT and MAT (Brown-Borg et al., 2009; Brown-Borg, 2009). However, while these mice display low levels of plasma IGF-1, they also express high levels of plasma GH and normal levels of thyroid stimulating hormone and typically prolactin (Al-Regaiev et al., 2005; Coschigano et al., 2000; Coschigano et al., 2003; Hauck & Hunter, 2001; Zhou et al., 1997). As the Ames dwarf mice exhibit multiple endocrine deficiencies, growth hormone receptor knockout mice are thought to be a good model to validate GH effects of aging. However, GHRKO mice are created on inbred laboratory strains, whereas Ames dwarf mice come from a genetically heterogeneous background. Epigenetically speaking there is great variation between laboratory strains alone and in response to nutritional stressors such as methyl-deficient diets, so this caveat must always be considered (Hsieh et al., 1989; Pogribny et al., 2009; Stanley et al., 2001).

Another model used to study the effects of GH and aging are the GH overexpressing transgenic mice (GH Tg). These mice live approximately half as long as their wild type littermates (Steger et al., 1993). Phenotypically these mice are much larger than wild type counterparts, hyperglycemic, insulin resistant, sexually mature earlier, and have increased cellular oxidative stress and oxidative damage due to increased metabolic activity (Brown-Borg, 2009). Also GH transgenic mice show differences in methionine enzyme expression and metabolite differences of the methionine pathway (Brown-Borg, unpublished data).

There are human epigenetic differences attributable to longevity. It's been reported that centenarians and their offspring tend to maintain higher DNA methylation levels than people without a family history of longevity demonstrating additional scientific reasons studying the epigenetic differences of normal and long living organisms (Gentilini et al., 2012). One of the most highly conserved (top ten) gene sequences among centenarians is DNMT3a, demonstrating a potential conservation of important methylation mechanisms. However there are more heterozygous IGF-1R mutations in centenarians that may alter the IGF-1 pathway in these individuals (Suh et al., 2008). Centenarians also have genetic telomerase variants that allow retained telomere length contributing to genetic stability (Atzmon et al., 2010). Human centenarians are known to have delayed cancer and in liver, the very elderly (>75 years of age) exhibit a reduction in hepatosteatosis and incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma (Salvioli et al., 2009; Sheedfar et al., 2013). The GH deficient and transgenic models mentioned have

not been studied in the context of epigenetic changes due to methyl-donor capacity and aging. Most aging research in epigenetics is in a developmental or diseased context, such as in embryonic stem cells and immortal cell lines derived from cancers. However, given that there are differences in "normal aging" and "longevity" such as between average life spanned and long-lived humans and mice, the context of epigenetic information and discovery with aging is enormously incomplete. The methionine pathway is strongly correlated with epigenetic differences in mice due to mutational or nutritional stressors, thus we were interested in potential differences in well-known methylation mechanisms and markers between GH deficient signaling mice (Ames dwarf and GHRKO mice) and GH transgenic mice and begin to catalogue important differences due to GH and aging. We expect to see differences in epigenetic markers that show increased epigenetic stability indicative of the already greater genetic stability noted in long-lived models such as Ames dwarf mice (Brown-Borg et al., 2001; Salmon et al. 2008; Sanz et al., 2002). We also expect to see increased maintenance of the heterochromatin and DNA methylation and a reduction or reversal of changes in markers that are considered to promote or correlate with aging. This research is extremely novel and should have profound implications and impacts on the study of epigenetics of aging and potential therapeutic targets that enhance epigenetic stability.

CHAPTER II

MATERIALS AND METHODS

We designed our cross-sectional age studies to examine DNA methylation enzyme activity, expression, and DNA methylation in growth hormone signaling deficient mice and GH overexpressing mice. We investigated interspersed repeat mRNA expression and methylation in these mice as a tool to investigate genetic stability and DNA methylation in gene-poor versus gene-rich regions. We also treated Ames dwarf mice with GH and looked for differences in DNMT and repeat expression. Primary hepatocytes from Ames mice were isolated and treated with growth hormone to validate our *in vivo* DNMT and DNA methylation studies as a possible future model of pathway investigations. We treated GHRKO (Laron dwarf) mice with IGF-1 to examine the effects down-stream of GH signaling through mRNA expression of DNMTs. We also studied a putative posttranscriptional pathway involved in DNMT1 regulation via miRNA expression, protein expression, and used methylation specific PCR analysis to probe the methylation difference of gene regions reported to be regulated by DNMT1 in Ames dwarf and age-matched wild type mice, and mice treated with growth hormone or saline. We began the characterization of histone methylation modifications cross-sectionally between Ames dwarf mice and their wild type

Siblings by immunoblotting of histone extract and included an mRNA expression pilot study to locate histone modification enzyme targets.

Experimental animals

All mutant and age-matched wild type mice were taken from colonies at the University of North Dakota animal facility. Ames dwarf mice (df/df) result from crossing heterozygous (df/+) or homozygous (df/df) male mice with carrier females (df/+) that are on a heterogenous background. The growth hormone receptor knockout mice (Laron dwarf or GHRKO) that were originally generated on an OLA/Balb/cJ background and used in our studies were kindly provided by Andrzej Bartke (SIU) (Zhou et al., 1997). They were developed by crossing 129 OLA/Balb/cJ wild type (GHR+/-) animals with mice derived from C57BL/6J and C3HJS strains. These mice were maintained in a closed colony (Panici et al., 2009). Wild type siblings of both the Ames dwarf and GHRKO mice have median lifespans of approximately 2 years (24 months) of age and this age was chosen to represent the oldest group for both strains in cross-sectional studies. Three months of age was chosen to represent young adult development and twelve months was chosen for middle-aged adult mice. The GH transgenic (GH Tg) mice used in these studies were derived from a single male founder (strain B6SJL) produced by microinjection of the phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK) promoter region (300 bp)/bGH hybrid gene into the male pronucleus of single-cell embryos. The production and characterization of transgenic animals (transgenic males crossed to C57BI/6J x 3C3H/J F1 females) has been previously described (McGrane et al., 1988; Steger et al., 1994). The GH Tg line

has a median lifespan of approximately 12 months and at this age we and others have observed large numbers of liver tumors (Steger et al., 1993; Brown-Borg, unpublished data). Therefore, to avoid using pathological tissue in our studies, the oldest group of GH Tg mice used was 10 months of age. Young adult mice at three months of age and 6-month-old mice (GH Tg middle aged) with agematched wild type controls were used for cross-sectional studies. All of the mice were kept under standard laboratory conditions with a twelve hour light/dark cycle, room temperature of 22°C, and fed ad libitum (8640 Teklad 22/5I: 22.6% crude protein, 5.2% fat, Harland Laboratories) with free access to water. Only males of GHRKO, GH Tg and their respective wild type siblings and only wild type males of the Ames dwarf line were used to avoid any variability caused by sex steroid effects. Groups of Ames dwarf mice groups contained both female and male mice. Female dwarf mice are infertile and exhibit biochemical characteristics similar to males in many studies. In addition, it has been reported that there is a loss of sexual liver dimorphism gene expression in these mice (Amador-Noguez et al., 2005). All procedures involving animals were reviewed and approved by the UND Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee in accordance with the NIH guidelines for the care and use of laboratory animals.

For cross-sectional basal expression studies, liver tissue was collected from mice at 3, 6, 12 and 24 months of age. Liver tissue was then divided into portions, rapidly frozen, and stored at -80°C. Liver tissues were utilized to evaluate mRNA and miRNA expression, DNA methylation and methylation enzymes, histone methylation, and protein abundance.

In vivo GH treatment of Ames dwarf mice and IGF-1 treatment of GHRKO mice

Porcine growth hormone (GH) (NIDDK, National Hormone and Peptide Program, Torrance, CA, USA) was administered to 4-6 month old Ames dwarf mice and IGF-1 was administered to 6 month GHRKO mice using methods published previously to determine whether GH and IGF-1 affects protein expression, miRNA and mRNA transcripts, and methylation of our enzymes of interest in the liver listed in later sections (Brown-Borg & Rakoczy, 2003; Rojanathammanee, Rakoczy, & Brown-Borg, 2013). Porcine GH in alkaline saline mixed with 50% polyvinylpyrrolidone (pH 9, 1:1, saline-PVP) was injected subcutaneously twice daily (25 µg in 50 µl /injection) into one group of dwarf mice (n= 8-12). The vehicle, saline-PVP was injected subcutaneously (50 μl/injection) into another group of dwarf mice (n=8-11) and age-matched wild type mice (n=8-1)11) in two separate experiments. Insulin-like growth factor 1 was dissolved in saline solution and one group of GHRKO mice (n=8-12) were administered 13µg of IGF-1 in 50 µl/injection (Catalogue # CYT-216, ProSpec, Ness-Ziona, Israel). The vehicle, saline, was injected subcutaneously (50 µl/injection) into another group of GHRKO mice (n=8-12) and age-matched wild type mice (n=8-12) similar to the GH administration for Ames dwarf mice. All mice were injected two times daily (8:00 a.m. and just before lights out at 8:00 p.m.) for 7 days (total of 13 injections). This is done to more closely mimic the pulsatile manner in which GH is secreted, which consequently is responsible for the secretion of IGF-1 from the liver (Panici et al., 2010; Waxman et al., 1995). On the morning of the seventh day, one hour following the last injection of saline-PVP or GH, liver tissue was

collected from each group of mice, weighed, frozen, and stored at -80°C until analysis. This experimental protocol has been shown to raise IGF-1 plasma levels in the dwarf mouse and the somatic changes due to GH are apparent by a gain in body weight of 1-4 grams (Chandrashekar & Bartke, 1993). To confirm GH action in the dwarf, the body weight of each mouse was recorded prior to starting the experiment, during, and following the last GH injection to validate weight gain in GH-treated animals compared to untreated animals. Liver weights were also recorded and compared. Liver was collected similarly for GHRKO treated and untreated GHRKO and wild type mice.

Hepatocyte isolation and GH treatment in vitro

Primary hepatocyte cultures were prepared with liver tissue isolated from 5 – 6 month old Ames dwarf and wild type mice using previously published preperfusion, collection, and culturing methods (Brown-Borg & Rakoczy, 2003; Kreamer et al., 1986). Briefly, each animal was anesthetized with 2.5% tribromoethanol (i.p. 100 µl/10 g body wt), the inferior vena cava was cannulated, and the liver was perfused with 37°C calcium-free H EPES pre-perfusion buffer (160.8 mM NaCl, 3.15mM KCl, 0.7 mM Na2HPO4-7H2O, 33 mM HEPES, and 0.5mM; pH 7.6) containing 1% penicillin-streptomycin for 15 min followed by perfusion with a 37°C collagenase solution (pre-per fusion buffer and 1.0 mM CaCl) until livers displayed a swollen appearance and were altered in color indicating blood loss and liver digestion (0.033% collagenase [Worthington, Lake Park, NJ]). Collagenase separates the lobular parenchyma of the liver to release hepatocytes. Following perfusion, livers were removed, placed into warm transfer buffer and 1%

pen/strep (37°C), and the outer membrane of the liver was carefully excised into a petri dish with warm media under a sterile hood. The remaining connective tissue was agitated by hand until the media became cloudy indicating the presence of freed hepatocytes and the connective tissue (extracellular matrix and epithelial tissue) was discarded. The cells were transferred to a conical centrifuge tube and pelleted for 3 min at 600 rpm at 4°C and washed three times with ice-cold hepatocyte wash buffer containing 1% penicillin-streptomycin until the supernatant was clear (Gibco® Life tecnologies, Grand Island, NY). The final cell pellet was resuspended in ice-cold serum-free HepatoStim Media containing 1% penicillinstreptomycin (Becton Dickinson, Mountain View, CA, USA). Trypan blue dye exclusion was used to assess cell viability and integrity. Cell collections with $\geq 95\%$ viability were used. Cells for each genotype were pooled (n=2-5 mice/genotype), resuspended in attachment medium containing 1% pen/strep and 15% fetal bovine serum (to aid in cellular adhesion) and seeded (2×10^6) into MatriGel coated dishes (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY, USA). Following cell attachment (2 hours at 37°C and 5% CO₂), the medium was exchanged for serum-free HepatoStim media (Life Technologies) containing 1% pen/strep and 2 mM glutamine. Serum-free media favors differentiation and suppresses growth and proliferation. Following overnight recovery, fresh serum-free media was added and the cells were allowed to equilibrate (2 hrs.) before GH treatment (0.1, 1.0, 10 and 20 µg porcine GH per ml media). Twenty-four hours following treatment (37°C and 5% CO₂), cells were collected by washing with cold (4°C) HEPES and applying MatriSperse (BD Biosciences, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA) for 1 hour on ice.

Dishes were aspirated to remove dead cells and media, scraped, and cells were pelleted and washed with ice-cold phosphate buffered saline (PBS) via centrifugation. Cell pellets were stored at -80°C or homogenized immediately for downstream assays (see immunoblotting).

Immunoblotting

Liver tissue and hepatocyte samples were analyzed using standard immunoblotting procedures previously published (Brown-Borg & Rakoczy, 2003). Liver tissue was homogenized in lysis buffer (10 mM Tris, 0.15 M NaCl, 5 mM EDTA, 1% Triton X) containing serine, cysteine, threonine and trypsin protease inhibitors (1mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF), 25 mg/ml leupeptin, and 25 mg/ml aprotinin, or HaltTM Protease and Phosphatase Inhibitor Single-Use Cocktail, Catalogue # 78442, Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL, at 10µl per milliliter of lysate) at 4° C using the 24 sample Bullet Blender (Protocol for Hepatic (Liver) Tissue Homogenization, Next Advance Inc. Averill Park, NY). Protein abundance was determined using the Bradford assay (Bradford, 1976). Briefly, a protein standard, bovine serum albumin, with a starting concentration 80 µg/ml was serially diluted in sterile water produce a standard curve of six concentrations (80, 60, 40, 20, 10, 5 µg/ml). Sample liver lysates were diluted in sterile water at a 1:700 dilution to gain absorbance measurements close to our central concentration, 40 µg/ml, for best detection. Standards (in triplicate) and samples (in duplicate) were loaded at 50 µl per well of a 96-well plate. Bradford Reagent (Catalogue # 500-0006, BioRad, Hercules, CA) was diluted with sterile water according to manufacturer directions and 150 µl per well was loaded to the standards and samples. The plate was read

on a spectrophotometer 96-well plate reader (BioTek Instruments, Winooski, VT) at a wavelength of 595 nm. Standard curves of $R^2 \ge 0.95$ were used. Protein dilution was calculated by comparison to the standard curve. Equivalent protein samples (50 μg per 10 μl volume) were assembled using Laemmli Buffer solution and β mercaptoethanol was added according to manufacturer's directions (Catalogue # 161-0747, BioRad, Hercules, CA). Before loading samples were briefly centrifuged and heated in a dry-bath at 95-100°C for 5 minutes and 10 minutes for target proteins >100kDa. Loading samples were centrifuged again and loaded at 50-75 µg per lane, unless otherwise specified. Loading samples were resolved by SDS-PAGE (Criterion[™] TGX[™] Precast Gels Any kD[™], BioRad, Hercules, CA) running at 100 volts for 3.5-4 hours for proteins >100 kDa (40 minutes to 1 hour for smaller proteins). PVDF (polyvinylidine diflouride) membranes for transfer were activated in 100% methanol for at least 1 hour before transfer. Proteins were transferred to PDVF membrane in cold transfer buffer at 100 volts for 30 minutes in cartridges backed by filter paper and sponges soaked in cold transfer buffer in a transfer case (Criterion[™], Hercules, CA). Transfer buffer contained 10% methanol for larger proteins (>100 kDa) and 20% methanol for smaller proteins. After transfer, the blots were rinsed briefly in tris-buffered saline containing Tween 20 (25mM Tris-Cl, pH8.0; 125mM NaCl; 0.1% Tween 20) and blocked in 5% nonfat dry milk in 0.1% T-TBS for 1 hour at room temperature. Blots were incubated for DNA methyltransferases DNMT3b and DNMT1, staining in primary antibody in 1% milk/0.1% T-TBS and in primary with antibody in 5% milk/0.1% T-TBS for all other antibodies. All blots were rotated overnight at 4° C. Primary antibody (Abcam ®, Cambridge, MA, USA)

concentrations were as follows: DNMT3a 1:1,000 (ab14291), DNMT1 1:400 (ab13537), DNMT3b 1:250 (ab13604), and DEAD-box helicase 20 1:1000 (ab166913) and glycine-*N*-methyltransferase (Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc. Santa Cruz, CA, USA, sc-166834). After incubation with the primary antibody blots were washed 4-6 times for 10 minutes to reduce background signaling. Blots were then incubated and probed for 1.5 hours rotating at room temperature in the appropriate horse radish peroxidase or alkaline phosphatase conjugate secondary between 1:2000 to 1:5000 dilutions as necessary for each optimized antibody (BioRad, Hercules, CA). Solutions for secondary antibody probes were 1% milk/0.1%T-TBS for Dnmt1 and Dnmt3b blots and 5% milk/0.1% T-TBS for all other blots. Blots were washed 5-6 times in 0.1% T-TBS for 10 minutes to reduce background. Blots were developed with chemiluminescent substrate for 5 minutes rotating at room temperature and mean optical density was measured and used for comparative analysis (UVP Bioimaging system (Upland) with Labworks 4.5 analysis software and also Omega Lum[™] G imaging system (Aplegen[™]) with UltraQuant Analysis Software version 13.04.05). Ponceau S staining was used to assess equivalent loading.

Nuclear extraction and DNMT activity assay

Liver nuclear extracts were prepared from frozen liver tissue according to manufacturer's directions using an Epiquick Nuclear Extraction Kit containing premixed proprietary buffers, dithiothreitol (DTT), a positive DNMT enzyme control, and a protease inhibitor cocktail mix (OP-0002, Epigentek, Farmingdale, NY, USA). Briefly, liver was homogenized at 4° C (Bullet Blender, Next Advance Inc. Averill Park, NY) in a nuclear pre-extraction buffer

containing DTT to lyse the cellular membrane and release intact nuclei from the cells. Lysate was then incubated on ice for 15 minutes and centrifuged for 10 minutes at 12,000 rpm at 4 $^{\circ}$ C. The supernatant (cytosolic fraction) was either kept for negative control in fresh tubes or discarded. To the remaining nuclear pellet, nuclear extraction buffer, DTT, and a protease inhibitor cocktail was added. The nuclear extraction was incubated on ice and vortexed for 5 seconds every 3 minutes during incubation for a total 15 minutes. The suspension was then centrifuged for 12 minutes at 13,200 rpm at 4°C and the supernatant containing nuclear proteins was transferred to a fresh microcentrifuge tube. Protein abundance was measured using the Bradford assay as previously mentioned (Bradford, 1976). Protein was immediately aliquoted for DNMT activity assessment and the remaining nuclear lysate was stored at -80°C until further use. Activity of DNMT was measured using Epigentek DNA methyltransferase Activity/Inhibition Assay Ultra Kit following manufacturer's directions. This assay contains proprietary buffers, colorimetric solutions, SAM substrates, antibodies, and 8-well microplate strips containing cytosine-rich DNA substrate that can be used in a 96 well format frame for spectrophotometry. (P-3009, Epigentek, Farmingdale, NY, USA). These assays are colorimetric similar to ELISA assays that use color changing reactions, such as 3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine, that react to horse radish peroxidase to yield a blue color when detecting HRP. Then an acidic solution is applied turning the reaction yellow with a maximum absorbance of 450 nm. Optimization was determined to be 20 µg of lysate per well by serial dilution of sample to detect an appropriate magnitude of absorbance for maximum detection. Previously aliquoted protein was diluted to a final concentration of 6.67 μ g/ μ l. Assay buffer was aliquoted into each well (24 μ l per well) and 3 μ l of protein solution was added. Blank wells were assayed in buffer alone and positive wells contained 50 ng of DNMT control and assay buffer. Sadenosylmethionine substrate was diluted to a 1:5 solution and 3 µl added to each well (final volume of 30 μl per well). Wells were incubated at 37°C for 1.5 hours and the plate was mixed during incubation so the cell sample DNMT could methylate the coated plate substrate cytosine residues. Wells were aspirated and washed 3 times with wash buffer and 50 µl of the 5'methylcytosine capture primary antibody (1:1000 wash buffer dilution) was added. The plate was incubated at room temperature (22°) for 60 minutes on an orbital shaker. Wells were aspirated and washed 4 times with wash buffer and 50 μ I of the detection secondary antibody (1:1000 wash buffer dilution) was added and incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes. Wells were then aspirated and washed 5 times with wash buffer. Developer solution was added to each well (100 µl) and incubated at room temperature for 2-10 minutes (with the plate protected from light) until a medium blue hue was seen indicating a reaction between the solution and the secondary antibody. An acidic stop solution was added turning the reactions yellow. Samples were run in triplicate, included one blank well, and one positive control well and analyzed using dual-wave spectrophotometric analysis (630nm and 450nm). The amount of methylated DNA is proportional to the enzyme activity and is

calorimetrically quantified by an ELISA-like reaction. Dnmt activity which is measured in optical density/hour/milligram was calculated by subtracting the negative control optical density from the optical density of the reaction. This value was then divided by the amount of sample protein added in micrograms that was multiplied by the initial incubation time in hours. This dividend was then multiplied by 1000 to convert micrograms to milligrams for the final value.

Messenger RNA expression via one-step RT-PCR

Total RNA was isolated using Ultraspec® RNA (Catalogue # BL-10050, Biotecx, Houston, Texas), based on a previously described method and measured with a spectrophotometer for quality and purity using the optical density ratio of 260nm/280nm from 1.8-2.0 (Brown-Borg et al., 2009; Chomczynski & Sacchi, 1987). The RNA was then diluted and used to measure expression of genes of interest in 3, 12, and 24 month old Ames dwarf and GHRKO mice and also 3, 6, and 10 month old GH Tg mice and compared to age-matched wild type controls. Ames dwarf and wild type 4-6 month old mice used in the GH administration experiments were also studied for mRNA expression. Genes of interest are listed along with the primers used for these experiments (Table 2). Primers were obtained from previous literature (Chen et al., 2005; Ray et al., 2006; Sharma et al., 2010; Uthus & Brown-Borg, 2006), screened against the whole mouse genome for unintended targets using NCBI primer blast, and optimized. Reaction substrates were contained in the QuantiTect SYBR[®] Green RT-PCR Kit (Catalogue # 204243, Qiagen, Valencia, CA).

Gene	GeneBank accession no.	Primer 5'- 3'	Annealing Temperature
β2M	NM_00975	For - AAGTATACTCACGCCACCCA	60°C
		Rev - AAGACCAGTCCTTG	
Histone H4		For- ACAACATCCAGGGCATCACG	60℃
		Rev- GAAGACCTTCAGCACACCGC	
GNMT	NM_010321	For - GCTGGACGTAGCCTGTGG	60°C
		Rev - CACGCTCATCACGCTGAA	
DNMT1	NM_010066	For - AAAGTGTGATCCCGAAGATCAAC	60°C
		Rev - TGGTACTTCAGGTTAGGGTCGTCTA	
DNMT3a	NM_007872	For – TGCTACATGTGCGGGCATAA	58°C
		Rev- GGAGTCGAGAAGGCCAGTCTT	
DNMT3b	NM_0010039 61	For – CCCAAGTTGTACCCAGCAATTC	59°C
		Rev – TGCAATTCCATCAAACAGAGACA	
DDX20	NM_017397	For - ACATGCATCGGATTGGCAGA	60℃
		Rev - CCCAGGCGTTCTTTGAGACT	
MT1	NM_013602	For - CCTTCTCCTCACTTACTCC	60℃
		Rev -TCCATTCCGAGATCTGGTGAA	
MT2	NM_008630	For - TCCTAGAACTCTTCAAACCGATCT	65°C
		Rev- AAAAGGCTAGGCTTCTACATGGTC	

TABLE 2: Primer pairs utilized for gene specific one-step RT-PCR

The reaction mixtures contained SYBR green, forward and reverse primers, and QuantiTect RT mix, a Tag DNA polymerase, and assayed using a SmartCycler instrument (Cepheid, Sunnyvale, CA) or a CFX 96[™] Real-Time PCR Detection System (BioRad, Hercules, CA). Polymerase chain reactions included an initial reverse transcription step of 50° for 30 minutes, a tag polymerase activation and denaturation step at 95°C for 15 minutes, PCR cycling of 95℃ for 15 seconds and an annealing temperature of 50-60℃ (Table 2) for 30 seconds. These reactions were run for 40-45 cycles. Melt curve analysis and standard curve optimization was used for quality control of the PCR reaction and detection. No template controls and no reverse transcriptase treated template controls were used to check for crosscontamination and genomic DNA contamination respectively. Data was analyzed using the $\Delta\Delta C_t$, also known as the comparative C_t method, which calculates in reference to the control (the genomic DNA control specific to mouse, the reverse transcription control from the cDNA reaction in triplicate, and the positive PCR control in triplicate). The amount of tested gene cDNA relative to a control gene (β 2-microglobulin) was determined using the $\Delta\Delta C_t$ (comparative Ct method) as previously published (HM Brown-Borg et al., 2009; Lupberger et al., 2002). The C_t value is the number of cycles it takes for a sample to reach the level where the rate of amplification is the greatest during the exponential phase and the value is inversely proportionate to the amount of RNA or cDNA in the sample. ΔC_t for each mouse type is calculated as $\Delta Ct = Ct$ (gene of interest)-Ct (average of $\beta 2m$ RNA). $\Delta \Delta C_t$ is calculated as

 $\Delta\Delta Ct = \Delta Ct_{(Ames experimental)} - \Delta Ct_{(wildtype control)}$ of the same age group and the fold change in expression will be calculated as 2 ^(- $\Delta\Delta Ct$). A one-fold change indicates no change in transcription, a greater than one-fold change suggests increased transcription, and a less than one-fold change indicates decreased transcription (Heid et al., 1996).

miRNA expression via two-step RT-PCR

The miRNA 1st-Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (600036, Agilent Technologies, Wilmington, DE) was used on isolated total liver RNA (1 µg per reaction) to polyadenylate and elongate miRNA at the 3' end of the transcript in the sample with a bacterial polyadenylate polymerase (PAP). A no PAP control was included to screen for contamination. All steps were done with samples on ice except during incubation periods. Then the miRNA is reverse transcribed using a genetically engineered Moloney murine leukemia virus reverse transcriptase into cDNA according to the manufacturer's directions. RNase inhibitors are also included to prevent miRNA degradation during the process. The RT portion of the kit also provides a proprietary "RT adaptor primer" which anneals to the 3' end of the poly A tail and creates a universal sequence tag during the amplification that is incorporated into the 5' region of the transcripts. This tag allows the use of a proprietary universal reverse primer to be used during real-time gPCR amplification (Agilent Technologies, 600037, Wilmington, DE). Forward primer sequences for miR-140-3p and the 5S rRNA control were verified for use in mouse using miRBase and NCBI GenBank (Table 3; Takata et al. 2012; Bates et al. 2010). For miRNA expression validation a commercially prepared validated

control for U6 splicoeosomal RNA (RNU6) (MiScript Primer Assay,Catalogue # MS00033740, Qiagen, Valencia, CA). RNU6 is an approximately 100 basepair non-coding RNA that complexes with RNA splicing proteins for mRNA processing. RT-PCR was performed using the PerfeCta® SYBER® Green SuperMix (Catalogue # 95054, Quanta Biosciences, Gaithersburg, MD), forward and reverse primers, nuclease free water and polyadenylated cDNA. Reactions were run using CFX 96TM Real-Time PCR Detection System (BioRad, Hercules, CA), reactions beginning with denaturation step of 95 °C for 3 m inutes, followed by cycling conditions of 95 °C for 15 seconds, 60° C for 30 seconds, for 45 cycles. Controls for cross-contamination and genomic DNA contamination were utilized. Melt curve analysis was used for quality control of the PCR reaction and detection. The amount of tested gene cDNA relative to a control gene, 5S rRNA, was determined using the $\Delta\Delta C_t$ (comparative C_t method).

Interspersed repeat transcription two-step RT-PCR

Total RNA was treated with DNase I according to the manufacturer's protocol to eliminate genomic DNA contamination through a non-specific endonuclease action, which degrades DNA in the RNA samples (Catalogue #M0303S/L, New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA). All steps were performed with samples on ice except during incubation. Briefly, 10 μ g of RNA was suspended in DNase I reaction buffer which includes enzyme activating cations such as Ca²⁺ to a final volume of 100 μ I. Two units of DNase I were added to each sample mixture and were mixed thoroughly by inverting samples roughly 20-30 times. Reactions were

briefly centrifuged and put into a dry bath at 37° for 10 minutes. To terminate the reaction, 1 µl of 0.5M EDTA was added and the samples were then heat inactivated for 10 minutes. RNA was converted to cDNA by use of Protoscript M-Mulv Tag RT-PCR reagents from New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA) along with control reactions to verify cDNA synthesis and the absence of gDNA contamination (Filkowski et al., 2010; Martens et al., 2005; Pogribny et al., 2009). DNase I treated RNA (1 μ g) was put into a mix with a random primer mix (2 μ l, 60 μ M), a deoxynucleotide (dNTP) solution mix (1 μ l, 10mM), and nuclease free water to a final concentration of 16 µl (Catalogue #S1330S, #N0447S/L, New England Biolabs). The random primers mix is designed to allow the reproduction of the complete complement of messenger RNA to complimentary DNA in a sample. This mix was briefly centrifuged and put in a dry bath at 70°C for 5 minutes after which the samples were promptly chilled on ice. Then, to each reaction 2 µl of 10x RT buffer, 20 units of Murine RNase inhibitor, 200 units of Moloney Murine Leukemia Virus reverse transcriptase (M-MuLV), and 0.5 µl of nuclease free water were added. Samples were again briefly centrifuged and incubated at 25°C for 5 minutes then incubated at 42°C for one hour. To terminate the reaction and inactivate the enzyme, the samples were then transferred to a dry bath at 80°C for 5 minutes. Nu clease free water was added to bring the final volume to 50 µl and the reactions were placed on ice. Successful reaction were validated by PCR using a control primer set (B2microglobulin) and running a negative control (reactions without the reverse transcriptase added) alongside reverse transcriptase treated samples on a 2%

agarose gel. Complementary DNA (cDNA) products were used immediately or stored at -20°C for downstream PCR applications. Table 3 lists the primers used which were taken from previous publications or designed via NCBI primerblast (Lane et al., 2003; Martens et al., 2005). All primers were verified via NCBI primerblast and/or Repbase, which is a database established purely for repetitive sequences. Reactions were performed using the QuantiTect SYBR® Green PCR Kit. The reaction mixtures contained, forward and reverse primers, and QuantiTect SYBR Green PCR Buffer, a *taq* DNA polymerase, and assayed using a SmartCycler instrument (Cepheid, Sunnyvale, CA). Polymerase chain reactions included an initial taq polymerase activation and denaturation step at 95°C for 15 minutes, PCR cycling of 95°C for 15 seconds, an ann ealing temperature of 60- 63° (Table 3) for 30 seconds, and an extension step of 72° for 30 seconds. These reactions were run for 40 cycles. Standard curves were performed between the transcripts of interest and ß2m, RNA and primer concentration and reaction conditions were optimized, and standard RT-PCR controls, similar to the aforementioned experiments, were used. The amount of tested gene cDNA relative to a control gene (β 2m) was determined using the $\Delta\Delta C_t$ (comparative C_t method) as previously mentioned for one step RT-PCR experiments (Bates et al., 2010; Brown-Borg et al., 2009; Heid et al., 1996).

McrBC-qPCR DNA methylation assay

McrBC is an endonuclease which cleaves DNA containing 5methylcytosine or 5-hydroxymethylcytosine or N4-methylcytosine on one or both strands of genomic DNA. McrBC will not act upon unmethylated DNA and

depends on the presence of guanosine tri-phosphate (GTP) for cleavage (Sutherland, Coe, & Raleigh, 1992). This allows for the enrichment of nonmethylated genomic DNA which can then be compared to non-digested genomic DNA following qPCR using the absolute standard method (Filkowski et al., 2010; Martens et al., 2005; Pogribny et al., 2009).

Interspersed Repeat	GeneBank accession no.	Primer 5'- 3'	Annealing Temperature
LINE1 3'UTR	D84391	For - TTGATCACAGGGCTCCCAATGGAG	2°06
		Rev - GTACCGGGGCACACAAAGTCTGCG	
IAP-LTR	M17551	For - TGCGCATATGCCGAGGGTGGTT	63°C
		Rev - TCTCACGCCCGGCCAGGAAGAAC	
SINE B1	J00630 1-203 bp	For - GTGGCGCACGCCTTTAATC	63°C
		Rev -GACAGGGTTTCTCTGTGTAG	
SINE B2	J00630 506-700 bp	For -GAGATGGCTCAGTGGTTAAG	60°C
		Rev- CTGTCTTCAGACACTCCAG	
miRNA 140- 3p	NR_029553	For – TACCACAGGGTAGAACCACGG	59°C
5S rRNA	NR_046144	For-CAGGGTCGGGCCTGGTTAGTACTTG	C00

TABLE 3: Primer pairs utilized for McrBC-PCR and miRNA two-step RT-PCR.

DNA was extracted from the liver using a Gentra® Puregene® Tissue Kit (Catalogue # 154667, Qiagen, Germantown, MD, USA) and was homogenized using the Bullet BlenderTM. Briefly, 10-15 mg of liver tissue was homogenized in 100 uL of Cell Lysis solution from the Gentra Puregene kit on ice. After the initial homogenization another 200 μ l of Cell Lysis solution from the Gentra Puregene kit was added to each sample (on ice) and run in the Bullet Blender at a lower speed for 1 minute to mix thoroughly. Genomic DNA was measured

spectrophotometrically using OD of 260nm/280nm for purity and samples measuring 1.8-2.0 were used for the assay (Epoch Micro-Volume Spectrophotometer System, BioTek Instruments, Inc., Winooski, VT). DNA was aliquoted into 25-50 µl and kept in -80° C until needed. Genomic DNA was diluted in TE buffer (10 mM Tris, 1 mM EDTA, at pH8) and sonicated using the UCD500-Bioruptor XL® (Life Research ©, Scoresby, Victoria, Australia) user manual version 2.1 to increase the efficiency of downstream restriction enzyme digestion. After genomic sonication was complete samples were run on a 1% agarose gel to validate DNA fragment sizes of 3-5 kilobase pairs. Restriction and mock restriction reactions were set up with nuclease free H₂0, buffer provided by New England Biolabs, a GTP substrate, bovine serum albumin, and 1µg of genomic DNA. Lastly, 3 µl (30 U) of McrBC was in a 50% glycerol solution for restricted gDNA and for mock restrictions 3 µl 50% glycerol in nuclease free water. Plasmid DNA was also provided as a positive control for enzyme activity. (Catalogue # M0272S or M0272L, Ipswich, MA). Final reaction volumes were 100 µl. Sample reactions were gently mixed by tapping the tube lightly, or inverting the tube gently several times, and incubating overnight at 37 $^{\circ}$ C (Holemon et al., 2007; Martens et al., 2005). Reactions were inactivated by heating the samples to 65° for 20 minutes. The positive control plasmid DNA, mock restricted, and restricted samples were verified through electrophoresis on a 1% agarose gel. Table 3 shows all primers that were used which are the same primer sets used for two-step RT-PCR transcriptional analysis of the interspersed repeats as previously mentioned. Reactions for mock-restricted and restricted

samples were assembled and run together in duplicate. Reagent contents, primers, and thermocycling conditions were equivalent to the previously stated qPCR measurement of interspersed repeat transcription parameters. As in previous publications, the absolute quantification analysis of qPCR was used where the threshold cycle (C_t) is defined as the fractional cycle number that passes the fixed threshold. C_t values for each repetitive element were converted into the absolute amount of input DNA using the absolute standard curve method. An increased amount of input DNA after digestion with McrBC compared to mock-restricted DNA is indicative of hypomethylation, whereas a decreased amount of input DNA is indicative of hypormethylation (Filkowski et al., 2010; Pogribny et al., 2009)

Global methylation assay

Global methylation of isolated genomic DNA (see above in the McrBC-qPCR methylation assay) was determined using the Methylamp[™] Global DNA Methylation Quantification Ultra Kit (Catalogue # P-1014B, Epigentek, Farmingdale, NY, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. This kit is a colorimetric assay similar to ELISA reactions that probes for 5'-methylcytosine using antibodies. The kit includes proprietary buffers including wash buffer, binding buffer, blocking solution and antibodies, developer and stop solutions and also unmethylated DNA (negative control, 100 ng per well) and fully methylated DNA (positive control, 10 ng per well). The DNA sample (200 ng per well), positive control and negative control bNA are aliquoted into wells coated with a DNA affinity substance and the DNA binding solution is added to a final volume of 30 µl per well. The plate was gently

shaken and incubated uncovered at 37°C for 40 minut es in room air. Afterwards the samples were incubated at 60°C for 35-40 minutes evaporating all the solution and drying the wells. If the wells were not completely dry, wells were aspirated of the remaining solution with 10 or 20 μ l pipette tips or incubated at 60°C for 5-10 minutes more according to manufacturer directions. Blocking solution was then added at 150 µl per well and incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes. Wells were aspirated and washed three times with 150 µl of wash buffer at room temperature. The capture antibody was added in a 1:1000 dilution (1 µg/ml, 50 µl/well) in wash buffer. The wells were covered and incubated at room temperature (22 $^{\circ}$) for 1 hour. Wells were aspirated and washed four times with 150 µl of wash buffer at room temperature. The detection antibody was added in a 1:5000 dilution (0.08 µg/ml, 50 µl/well) in wash buffer. The wells were covered and incubated at room temperature (22°C) for 30 minutes. Wells were then aspirated and washed five times with 150 µl of wash buffer at room temperature. A signal enhancer was added in a 1:5000 dilution (50 µl/well) in wash buffer. Wells were again, aspirated and washed five times with 150 µl of wash buffer at room temperature. A developer solution was added (100 µl/well) and incubated at room temperature (22°C) for 1 to 5 minutes (protected from light). As in the DNMT activity assay previously mentioned, color development was monitored and stop solution (50 µl/well) was applied after the reactions had reached a medium blue color. Samples and controls were run in triplicate and analyzed using dual wave spectrophotometric analysis (630 nm and 450 nm). To calculate the percent methylation of the samples, the negative control absorbance was subtracted from the sample absorbance. This

number was then divided by 0.42 because there is a 42% DNA GC content in mouse DNA. This number was then divided by the difference between the positive control minus the negative control multiplied by 20 since there is a 20 fold difference in concentration between the sample genomic DNA and the fully methylated positive control. This number is then multiplied by 100 to obtain a percentage calculation of methylated DNA. Methylation was normalized to the 3 month wild type mice for GH signaling deficient mice, where in 2 assays, the positive and negative controls were similar in absorbance and had the same lot numbers, were averaged (within 2 standard deviations) between assays and thus were used for subsequent cumulative analysis. For GH Tg assays, differences between the control absorbance measurements between the two plates were too large (58% difference), therefore the first assay was normalized to 3 month old wild type mice, and the second assay was normalized to 6 month wild type mice.

Methylation-specific PCR analysis

Genomic DNA was isolated from dwarf and wild type liver tissue (Gentra Puregene Tissue Kit; Qiagen, Germantown, MD), and bisulfite treated using the BisulfFlash[™] DNA Modification Kit (Catalogue # P-1026, Epigentek, Farmingdale, NY). Bisulfite treatment of genomic DNA results in the deamination of cytosines not protected by methylation, to uracil. Upon PCR amplification of this product, uracil is converted to thymine thus 2 sets of primers are used to probe for methylated and unmethylated cytosines of CpG dinucleotides to assess the methylation status of the target region. This kit contains a proprietary conversion buffer, a conversion enhancer solution, and a denaturation enhancer which
protects DNA from degradation and keeps it denatured during the bisulfite conversion. These three agents are first mixed together and 200 ng of genomic sample DNA was added to each reaction and subsequently used for methylationspecific PCR (Herman, Graff, Myöhänen, Nelkin, & Baylin, 1996). Primers (Table 4) were designed for predicted methylated and unmethylated sequences of CpG dinucleotide islands using the MethPrimer program (Li & Dahiya, 2002). Thermocycling conditions and primer concentrations were optimized using RT-PCR and PerfeCta[®] SYBR[®] Green SuperMix[™] (Catalogue # 95054, Quanta Biosciences, Gaithersburg, MD) to ensure end products for agarose gel analysis were produced during the exponential phase of the reaction for methylation comparison. This mix contains the same AccuStart[™] tag DNA polymerase as the AccuStart[™] II PCR SuperMix used for the MS-PCR experiment reactions (Catalogue #95127, Quanta Biosciences, Gaithersburg, MD). Reactions contained AccuStart[™] II PCR SuperMix, the forward and reverse primers for each methylation state (methylated versus unmethylated; 1 µM), and 1µL of bisulfite treated DNA (10 ng) for a total volume of 15µl. Thermocycler (Eppendorf Mastercycler) conditions consisted of an initial denaturation step at 95°C for 15 minutes, PCR cycling of 95°C for 15 seconds, an ann ealing temperature of 55°C for 30 seconds, and an extension step of 72°C for 30 seconds. Reactions were held at 4°C. Samples were run on a 2% agarose gels, stained with ethidium bromide and band intensities of methylated PCR products were compared to unmethylated PCR products using Omega Lum[™]G imaging system (Aplegen^{™,} Pleasanton, CA) and UltraQuant version 13.04.05.

TABLE 4: Primer pairs utilized for MS-PCR.

Gene	Predicted CpG Island	Primer 5'- 3'	Annealing Temperature
MT1 methylated	177-328	For - TTTTAGGGAGTTTTGTATTTCGTTC	55℃
		Rev - AACAACCTACCCTCTTTATAATCGTT	
MT1 unmethylated	177-328	For -TTAGGGAGTTTTGTATTTGTTTGA ACATGCATCGGATTGGCAGAACATG	55℃
		Rev - AACAACCTACCCTCTTTATAATCATT	
MT1 methylated	465-570	For - GAATATTAAGTTGGGATCGTAGAGC	55°C
		Rev - AAAACGAATTCTAAAAAAAACCGA	
MT1 unmethylated	465-570	For -ATATTAAGTTGGGATTGTAGAGTGG ACATGCATCGGATTGGCAGAACATG	55℃
		Rev - AAAACAAATTCTAAAAAAAACCAAA	
MT2 methylated	105-280	For - TTGTTTTACGAGTAAAAAGAGGTC	55°C
		Rev -TAACGAAAAATATTAAATCGAACGC	
MT2 unmethylated	105-280	For - TTGTTTTACGAGTAAAAAGAGGGTC	55°C
		Rev- ATAACGAAAAATATTAAATCGAACG	
LINE1 3' UTR methylated	150-324	For- GGATTAGAGGATAGGTGTTCGTTC	C00
		Rev- TACCTCAATACCTCTATACTTCCGC	
LINE1 3'UTR Unmethylated	150-324	For- GGATTAGAGGATAGGTGTTTGTTTG	C 00
		Rev- ACCTCAATACCTCTATACTTCCACC	
LINE1 3'UTR Methylated	528-676	For- GTTGAGGTAGTATTTTGAGTGGGTC	3 00
		Rev- AAACTAATTTCCTAAATTCGACGAA	
LINE1 3'UTR Unmethylated	528-676	For- GTTGAGGTAGTATTTTGAGTGGGTT	C 00
		Rev- AAACTAATTTCCTAAATTCAACAAA	
IAP-LTR UTR Methylated	105-298	For- TTATGTGTTTTGTTTTTTCGTGAC	C 00
		Rev- CACAAACCAAAATCTTCTACGAC	
IAP-LTR UTR Unmethylated	105-298	For- ATGTGTTTTGTTTTTTTGTGATGT	C00
		Rev- ACCACAAACCAAAATCTTCTACAAC	

Histone extraction and immunoblotting

Histones were extracted from 3, 12, and 24 month old Ames dwarf and wild type age matched livers using the EpiQuik[™] Total Histone Extraction Kits (OP-0006, Epigentek, Brooklyn, NY, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, weighed pieces of tissue sample were homogenized in a pre-lysis buffer then centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 5 minutes at 4°C. After discarding the supernatant, the cellular pellet was re-suspended in lysis buffer and incubated on ice for 30 minutes. Samples were then centrifuged at 12,000 rpm for 5 minutes at 4°C and the supernat ant fraction containing the acid-soluble proteins was transferred into a new microtube. A balance buffer containing DTT solution was added to the supernatant immediately and chromatin was quantified using a spectrophotometer using the Bradford method. Histone extracts (50 µg/ lane) were be separated via electrophoresis, transferred to PVDF membrane, and specific proteins detected using standard immunoblotting techniques and chemiluminescence. Antibodies to pan-Histone H3 (07-690) 1:2000 dilution, trimethyl-Histone H3Lys4 (07-473), trimethyl-Histone H3Lys27 (07-449), trimethyl-Histone H3Lys9 (07-442), trimethyl-Histone H4Lys20 (04-079, Millipore, Temecula, CA) were used. Densitometric analysis was conducted using an Omega Lum[™] G imaging system (Aplegen[™]) and UltraQuant Analysis Software version 13.04.05. GelCode® Blue Stain reagent (ThermoScientific, Rockford, IL, USA) was used to assess equivalent protein loading (Kingston, 2010)

Histone chromatin modification enzyme RT-PCR pilot study

Histone modification enzyme mRNA expression was probed in 3-month-old Ames dwarf and age-matched wild type mice to look for differences in expression of these enzymes. For this study the murine Epigenetic Chromatin Modification Enzymes RT² Profiler PCR Array was used (Catalogue # PAMM-085A, Qiagen, Valencia, CA) which contains a 384 well plate coated with mRNA amplification primers for 4 sets of 84 genes, allowing 4 samples to be assayed at one time (n=2 mice/genotype). The 384 (4 replicate x 96 well) option contains 4 replicate primer assays for: each of 84 genes in the pathway (DNA methyltransferases, histone methyltransferases, acetylases, deacetylases, methylases, phosphorylases, kinases, and ubiquitination enzymes), primer assays for 5 housekeeping genes, for genomic DNA controls, 12 wells for reverse-transcription controls, and 12 wells contain positive PCR controls. Purified RNA was used to perform a reverse transcription reaction with the RT² First Strand Kit. Complimentary DNA is used with the RT² SYBR Green mix. The reaction mixtures contained SYBR green, forward and reverse primers, a Taq DNA polymerase, and assayed using a Bio-Rad CFX384[™] (BioRad, Hercules, CA). Briefly, reagents of the RT² First Strand Kit were thawed on ice and tubes from the kit were centrifuged (10–15 seconds) to bring the contents to the bottom of the tubes. A genomic DNA elimination mix for each RNA sample was prepared containing, a proprietary buffer and RNase-free to a final volume of 10 µl. The reaction was mixed gently and briefly centrifuged. The genomic DNA elimination mix was incubated for 5 min at 42°C then placed immediately on ice. The reverse-transcription mix was prepared with proprietary

buffers, a reverse transcriptase, RNase-free water to a total volume of 40 µl for 4 reactions. For the RT reaction 10 µl of the reverse-transcription mix was added to each tube containing the 10 µl genomic DNA elimination mix (containing sample or a positive control RNA). This was mixed gently and incubated at 42°C for exactly 15 min. All reactions were stopped simultaneously by incubating at 95°C for 5 min. RNase-free water (91 µl) was added to each reaction which were gently mixed and placed on ice. The PCR components mix were prepared in a 5 ml tube, containing a SYBR Green master mix, the cDNA synthesis reaction, RNase-free water to total volume of 1300 µl for each sample. The remaining 9 µl cDNA synthesis reaction was stored at -20°C, for quality control analysis of the RT reaction. The mixed components were dispensed into the RT2 Profiler PCR Array 10 µl/ well for 96 wells per sample. Special covers were provided by the manufacturer for ease of pipetting and prevention of sample cross-contamination. Thermocycling conditions were provided by the manufacturer as a program which consisted of 10 min at 95°C for Tag polymerase activation, followed by 40 cycles of 15 s 95°C, and 30 seconds at 55°C, 30 seconds at 72°C. Data was analyzed using P CR Array Data Analysis Software (Excel based) provided by Qiagen which automatically performs all $\Delta\Delta C_t$ based fold-change calculations from the uploaded raw threshold cycle data.

Statistical analysis

Real-time quantitative PCR, interspersed repeat hypomethylation, immunoblotting or MS-PCR data among three or more groups, and global methylation data were analyzed with one-way ANOVA or two-way ANOVA (factors: genotype and age; GraphPad Prism 5.0) with Bonferroni's or Dunnett's post hoc tests as appropriate

with a p< 0.05 adjusted significance level. Global methylation of *in vivo GH* administration did not pass Levene's test for equal variances and was analyzed using a Kruskal-Wallis test and Dunn's multiple comparison post-test. Immunoblotting, end-point MS-PCR, and DNMT activity data between genotypes were analyzed using Students *t-test (*GraphPad Prism 5.0). All data are shown as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). Sample values (*n*) are listed in the figure legends.

CHAPTER III

RESULTS

Ames dwarf liver exhibits alterations in components of the methionine pathway in the liver. In hepatocellular carcinoma cells and in animal models these alterations are known to change DNA methylation. Most epigenetic studies are either in abnormally proliferating cells, such as cancers, or in pre-disease or diseased states, such as methyl-deficient diets causing hepatosteatosis. To offer a fresh perspective on epigenetic mechanisms in aging, we examined the epigenetic methylation mechanisms and markers in Ames dwarf mice that are known to outlive their wild type counterparts, which is attributable to GH deficiency. We studied DNA methyltransferase expression basally in cross-sectional studies (3, 12, and 24 months), and with the addition of growth hormone, to study this hormone, and its effects on epigenetic mechanisms. We also examined global methylation, histone methylation, and studied as whether one pathway that regulates DNMT1 in hepatocellular carcinomas, also regulates DNMT1 in dwarf mice. We ended our studies by performing similar experiments in another GH signaling deficient long-living mouse, the growth hormone receptor knockout, and a growth hormone over-expressing short-lived model. We were evaluating these mice for differences and similarities between the strains that might show patterns of epigenetic methylation related to aging and growth hormone.

GNMT transcription and translation is higher in dwarf mice

Glycine-N-methyltransferase regulates SAM in the liver and the over- or under-expression of this enzyme has been linked to changes in DNA methylation. Our lab has previously shown that GNMT mRNA expression and activity is increased in Ames dwarf mice compared to wild type mice. However, changes in GNMT expression due to aging had not been determined, which could affect DNA methylation over the lifespan of an animal. Given that GNMT is linked to DNA methylation and possible DNA methyltransferase activity via the methionine pathway, we investigated GNMT expression in dwarf and wild type mice in our cross-sectional studies. Similar to previous findings, GNMT liver mRNA is more abundantly expressed across all three age groups in the Ames dwarf compared to wild type mice with significance at 3 and 12 months of age (Figure 1). The GNMT mRNA expression is influenced by genotype (p=0.0001) and age (p=0.0176). Protein levels of GNMT are also higher in dwarf mice at 12 months of age when compared to age-matched wild type controls (p=0.0408).

DNA methylation enzyme basal expression and activity is significantly altered in Ames dwarf mice compared to wild type mice

Next we examined mRNA expression of DNMT1, DNMT3a, and DNMT3b using RT-PCR analysis of isolated liver RNA. Surprisingly, we found that dwarf mice show a much higher mRNA expression of both DNMT1 (105%) and DNMT3a (238%) at 3 months of age (p<0.0001; Figure 2).



FIGURE 1. GNMT mRNA and protein expression are higher in Ames dwarf mice compared to their wild type siblings. a) Liver GNMT mRNA expression is shown for dwarf (gray bars) and wild type mice (open bars) at 3, 12, and 24 months of age (n=7-8). b) GNMT protein levels at 3 (n=10-11, p=0.7248) and c) 12 months (n=8-10, p=0.0408) and d) 24 months of age (n=6-8, p=0.6618). Mean optical densities are shown \pm SEM. *p<0.05 and **p<0.01. Ponceau S was used for equal loading.

Gene expression of DNMT3b mRNA was similar between genotypes at all age groups studied. Age appeared to be an important factor in the expression of all three DNMTs. A significant effect of genotype was detected for DNMT1 and DNMT3a however, the genotype by age interaction was significant confounding the independent effects. The DNMT expression overall shows an interesting U-shaped pattern with the lowest levels at 12 months of age in both genotypes compared to the linear decrease in GNMT mRNA expression (Figure 1). Previous literature noted DNA methyltransferase RNA expression declined with age and when the expression was normalized to histone H4, which was used to rule out a more or less proliferative background (Ray et al., 2006). We compared histone H4 to β 2m mRNA expression to detect any effects of background cellular proliferation that might influence DNMT transcription results and determined no discernable differences. Therefore β2m was considered an appropriate transcript for all mRNA normalization in the liver (Figure 3).



Figure 2. DNMT1 and DNMT3a mRNA expression are higher in Ames dwarf mice at 3 months of age. Liver DNMT mRNA expression is shown for wild type (open bars) and dwarf mice (gray bars) at 3, 12, and 24 months of age (n=7-8) for DNMT1, DNMT3a, and DNMT3b. Mean relative changes in expression are shown \pm SEM. ****p<0.0001.



Figure 3. Average Ct counts for H4 or β 2m transcripts showed similar biological expression between all age groups and genotypes. Age groups compared are 3, 12, and 24 months (wild type mice, open bars; dwarf mice, grey bars). β 2m normalization was therefore used for all transcriptional studies. Bars represent mean± S.D.

Protein levels of DNMT1, DNMT3a, and DNMT3b were also compared between dwarf and wild type mice at 3, 12 and 24 months of age (Figure 4). To maximize the genotypic comparisons, independent immunoblots for each age were assayed. Very low levels of DNMT1 protein were observed in the liver tissue of dwarf mice compared to wild type mice at each age group examined.



Figure 4. DNMT protein levels are expressed differently in Ames dwarf and wild type liver tissue at 3, 12, and 24 months of age. Wild type mice represented by open bars and dwarf mice by gray bars. DNMT1 protein expression was much lower that wild type mice at 3 months (n=10-11, p<0.0001), 12 months (n=9, p=0.0427) and 24 months (n=7-9, p=0.0015). DNMT3a protein was significantly higher in dwarf mice at 3 months (n=10-11, p<0.0001), statistically equivalent at 12 months (n=12, p=0.2464) and much lower in dwarf mice at 24 months (n=8, p=0.0172). DNMT3b protein was not different between the genotypes at 3 months (n=10, p<0.4000), 12 months (n=11-12, p=0.6244) or 24 months (n=9-10, p=0.5621). Mean optical densities are shown \pm SEM. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, and ***p<0.001.

The variability of protein levels between animals was more pronounced in wild type DNMT1 and DNMT3a as compared to dwarf mice. DNMT3b expression was variable in both genotypes at every age. Due to a high variability of DNMT protein expression among *in vivo* groups, each immunoblotting assay was done independently for each group to increase murine sample sizes. DNA methyltransferase 3a protein levels were higher (193%) in the dwarf mice at 3 months of age (p<0.001), similar at 12 months of age (p=0.2464), and significantly lower (54%) at 24 months of age (p=0.0172). Compared to wild type controls, DNMT3b levels were not different between genotypes at any age, similar to mRNA findings at each age group. We also asked whether there were differences due to aging in DNMT1 and DNMT3a within genotypes. We evaluated expression at all three ages within each genotype where we were limited to a sample of 8 per age group (24 well gel capacity, Figure 7). We doubled the amount of our dwarf liver lysate and re-optimized for the detection of DNMT1 since the basal signal was so low. We observed an increase of DNMT1 expression in the dwarf mouse (p=0.0012) and in the wild type mouse (p=0.0512) with age. DNMT3a however, had opposite expression patterns over all three ages when comparing genotypes. Remarkably, dwarf mice displayed higher DNMT activity in young and similar DNMT activity in middle aged (3 months, p=0.0214; 12 months, p=0.1704) liver compared to wild type mice but lower activities in old Ames dwarf liver (24 months, p=0.0491) (Figure 6). The DNMT activity in the liver more closely resembles DNMT3a protein expression than DNMT1 or DNMT3b.



Figure 5. DNMT expression genotype differences due to age run in separate gels. The figures on the left wild type mice show an increase in DNMT1 and in DNMT3a (One way ANOVA p=0.0512 and p=0.1056 respectively, n=6-8). Dwarf mice also show a significant increase from 3 to 24 months of age in DNMT1 but a no significant decrease in DNMT3a (One way ANOVA p=0.0012 and p=0.0926 respectively, n=6-8). However, for DNMT1 in the dwarf the amount of liver protein used for dwarf tissue was doubled (and immunoblotting conditions re-optimized) in comparison to the wild type tissue to generate enough signal to detect by immunoblotting. Bars represent mean \pm SEM, ****p<0.0001.

Overall DNMT activity was measured with an ELISA-based colorimetric assay using nuclear lysates extracted from liver tissue, as DNMT isoform specific activity assays are not available. Independent assays comparing dwarf versus wild type for each age group were performed. All samples were performed in triplicate for accuracy. In conclusion, it appears that DNMT1, DNMT3a, and GNMT mRNA and protein expression are not directly correlated with each other though both show significant effects of age and genotype in transcription. DNMT1 protein expression is greatly diminished in dwarf mice at every age and DNMT3a protein appears to follow DNMT activities, which are all novel findings. DNMT3b shows no genotype differences in transcription or protein; however an age difference was noted in transcription.



Figure 6. DNMT activity is higher in Ames dwarf mice at 3 months and lower at 24 months than age-matched wild type siblings matching the pattern of DNMT3a protein expression. ELISA-based colorimetric activity assay of nuclear liver lysate showing differences in total DNMT activity in 3 month (n=11, p=0.0214),12 month (n=8-11, p=0.1704) and 24 month old (n=9-12, p=0.0491) wild type (open bars) and Ames dwarf mice (gray bars). Mean activities expressed as optical density per mg per hour are shown \pm SEM. *p<0.05.

Global DNA methylation is higher in dwarf mice at every age and resists changes due to age

Global DNA methylation in liver tissue is subject to DNMT activity alterations and abundance, SAM availability, and alterations of enzyme expression or activity in the methionine pathway. Because we observed such interesting differences in DNMT activity and expression, we measured global methylation using an ELISA-based method with antibodies for methylated cytosines across all three age groups (Figure 7). Comparison of dwarf versus wild type mice showed independent factors of genotype (p=0.0635) and age (p=0.0534) approaching significance. At 3 and 12 months of age, dwarf mice retained higher methylation than age-matched wild type mice, becoming equivalent at 24 months of age. Because much of the global loss of DNA methylation with aging is thought to take place in interspersed repeats, also known as repetitive elements and transposable elements, transcription of these elements is thought to increase and contribute to genetic instability. We measured the hypomethylation status and transcription of these repeats between Ames dwarf and wild type mice in another cross-sectional study to see if this was indeed the case.



Figure 7. Global DNA methylation of Ames dwarf mice is higher at 3 and 12 months of age. ELISA-based colorimetric activity assay of nuclear liver genomic DNA showing global DNA methylation in wild type (open bars) and Ames dwarf mice (gray bars). Percentage methylation was derived using control and sample optical densities, which were then normalized to 3 month wild type mice± SEM.

We used a well-published technique called the McrBC-qPCR method. *McrBC* is an endonuclease that restricts methylated DNA and degrades it. The treated DNA sample is compared to "mock restricted" sample of the same genomic DNA which does not contain the restriction enzyme but has been processed in the same way at the same time. Genomic DNA that is restricted is enriched for unmethylated DNA, therefore DNA that is less methylated shows greater abundance levels during quantitative PCR (Figure 8, left panels). Both intracisternal A-particle long transposable repeat (IAP-

LTR) and short interspersed nuclear element B2 (SINE B2) are increasingly hypomethylated with age in the wild type mouse. Hypomethylation in SINE B2 also increases in the dwarf mice with age. Long interspersed nuclear element 1 (LINE1) hypomethylation approached significance for genotype differences (p=0.0753) displaying higher levels of hypomethylation in dwarf mice that decreases over time, whereas wild type mice appear to maintain or only slightly gain methylation levels. This lack of difference in methylation of wild type mice is consistent with the most recent literature. Differences in IAP-LTR hypomethylation between dwarf and normal mice also show genotypic differences moving toward significance (p=0.0656) where dwarf mice have more methylation at 3 months and 24 months compared to wild type mice. The repetitive element SINE B2, which is rodent specific, exhibited statistically different levels of hypomethylation affected by age and genotype independently (p=0.0140, p=0.0415, respectively). Short interspersed nuclear element B2 was clearly more methylated in dwarf mice at every age compared to wild type, yet both genotypes demonstrated a linear increase of hypomethylation with age. Short interspersed nuclear element B1, which is homologous to the human Alu repeat, did not display differences in methylation due to age or genotype, but remained relatively similar at all three ages studied.

While methylation does regulate transcription in many cases, for the four interspersed repeats studied, transcription and methylation appear unrelated or uncoupled. However, there are transcriptional differences

attributable to age or genotype (Figure 8, right panels). All four repetitive element transcripts were significantly affected by age, whereas only SINE B1 displayed a significant genotype difference, most likely due to the increase of transcription in dwarf mice at 24 months of age compared to wild type mice. Remarkably, transcriptional expression of repetitive elements resembles the u-shaped curve of expression similar to DNMT transcription. For IAP-LTR this pattern of mRNA expression due to aging has been noted in mouse liver before (Gaubatz, Arcement, & Cutler, 1991). It also appears the transcriptional expression of repetitive elements is greatest at 3 months of age in wild type mice but not dwarf mice, which can regain an equivalent or increased amount of transcription in LINE1, SINE B1, and SINE B2.

Since LINE1 makes up approximately 20% of the 40% of genomic DNA comprised of interspersed repeats in the murine genome, we decided to use LINE1 and MS-PCR to validate our hypomethylation results (Figure 9). Two primer sets were used, however, only the set with CpG island prediction between base pairs 150-324 showed any unmethylated CpGs. The other LINE1 primer set that probed between base pairs 525-676 only showed highly methylated products with no difference between dwarf and wild type mice at any age (data not shown). However, the loss of methylation at 3 months of age corresponds with our hypomethylation data using the McrBC-qPCR technique. At 24 months of age, dwarf mice appear to have increased methylation compared to wild type mice (p=0.0586).



Figure 8. Ames dwarf mice show differences in hypomethylation and transcriptional expression of repetitive elements that may contribute to genetic stability. Using the McrBC-qPCR technique differences in liver genomic DNA hypomethylation of four interspersed repeats are shown for dwarf (gray bars) and wild type mice (open bars) (left panels, n=6-8). Liver IR mRNA expression is shown using two step RT-PCR at 3, 12, and 24 months of age (right panels, n=7-8). Mean relative changes in expression or hypomethylation are shown \pm SEM. **p<0.01.



Figure 9. Methylation patterns of LINE1 are different in Ames dwarf mice. Ames dwarf mice display lower methylation at 3 months of age (gray bars, p=0.0351), equivalent methylation at 12 months of age, but higher at 24 months of age (p=0.0586). Wild type mice are represented by open bars. Mean relative changes in expression and optical densities are shown \pm SEM. *p<0.05.

DNA methylation enzyme expression is significantly affected in growth hormone treated dwarf mice

Our next question was whether growth hormone, which also alters methionine pathway enzymes such as GNMT, could significantly affect DNMT expression and DNA methylation in the dwarf liver. To begin, porcine GH was administered to one group of 5-6 month old Ames dwarf mice while saline vehicle was administered to wild type mice and an additional group of dwarf mice as controls. Animals received GH or saline twice daily for seven days and was replicated with a second experiment. Growth hormone treated dwarf mice gained 3-4 grams of body weight over the course of one week compared to saline-treated dwarf mice which is typical of this protocol (Students *t-test*; Experiment1:+4.19 \pm 0.06 g; p<0.0001, Experiment 2: +3.153 \pm 0.2184g, p<0.0001, Figure 10). Wild type mouse body weights were not different pre- and postsaline injection. Liver weights were recorded as an additional indicator of GH action and the mean liver weights of GH injected dwarf mice were approximately 60-76% higher than saline injected dwarf mice [Experiment 1: 0.70 \pm 0.13 g and 0.44 \pm 0.05 g respectively (p<0.0001); Experiment 2: 0.60 \pm 0.08 g and 0.34 \pm 0.09 g respectively

(p<0.0001)]. The expression of DNMTs was compared between GH and salinetreated Ames dwarf and wild type controls. Liver DNMT1 and DNMT3b mRNA levels were higher in saline-treated dwarf mice than saline-treated wild type mice and increased further after GH administration (Figure 11). Transcription of DNMT3a mRNA abundance was higher in saline-treated dwarf mice compared to saline-treated wild type mice, and no change was observed after GH treatment.



Figure 10. Body weight is increased by one week of growth hormone injections in Ames dwarf liver. Liver weight in grams is shown for wild type mice injected with saline (n=9-11, open bars), dwarf mice injected with saline (n=8-11, gray bars), and dwarf mice injected with growth hormone (n=8-12, black bars) at 5-6 months of age. One-way ANOVA for body weight p<0.0001 for both left (Experiment 1) and right graphs Experiment 2). *p<0.05, and ****p<0.0001 using Bonferroni's Multiple Comparison test. Bars represent means \pm SEM.



Figure 11. Liver DNMT mRNA expression For DNMT1 and DNMT3b is increased upon GH administration. Shown for wild type mice injected with saline (n=10-11, open bars), dwarf mice injected with saline (n=10-11, gray bars), and dwarf mice injected with growth hormone (n=10, black bars) at 5-6 months of age. mRNA expression is normalized to β 2- macroglobulin. One-way ANOVA for DNMT1 p=0.0054, for DNMT3a p=0.1202, and for DNMT3b p=0.0129. Bars represent means ± SEM. *p<0.05 and **p<0.01.

We next examined DNMT protein. Protein levels of DNMT1 were significantly lower in saline-treated dwarf than in the saline-treated wild type mice similar to our aforementioned findings (Figure 12). However with GH treatment, protein expression of DNMT1 increased in dwarf mice (p<0.05) though not to wild type levels. DNMT3a protein levels were significantly decreased following GH treatment in Ames dwarf mice (p<0.05). Yet again, transcriptional differences did not correlate with protein expression, indicating a post-transcriptional pathway that may be influenced by growth hormone. DNMT3b protein in growth hormone treated mice was not assessed due to the absence of genotype differences from previous experiments between dwarf and wild type mice.



Figure 12. DNMT protein expression is susceptible to growth hormone treatment in Ames dwarf mouse liver. One-way ANOVA for DNMT1 protein p=0.0021 and for DNMT3a protein p=0.0367(n=5-8). *p<0.05 and **p<0.01 using Bonferroni's Multiple Comparison test. Bars represent means ± SEM.

DNA methylation enzyme expression is significantly altered in hepatocytes following growth hormone treatment

For *in vitro* study of GH administration effects on DNMT protein expression, we isolated hepatocytes from 4-6 month old mice and treated them for 24 hours with different concentrations of porcine GH growth hormone (Figure 13). For this study

our goal was to demonstrate and verify that the *in vitro* hepatocytes reflected the *in* vivo results for future pathway studies of DNMT regulation that remain to be elucidated. Significant differences were detected for DNMT1 due to increasing GH concentrations in dwarf (p=0.0026) and wild type (p=0.0014) mouse hepatocytes. Ames dwarf mice showed a significant increase in DNMT1 protein expression following 1.0 and 10µg of GH per plate compared to a media only control. Though the higher concentration of GH (20 µg) also showed visibly greater protein expression, only 2 samples were present for quantification and thus statistically difficult to compare. Protein expression of DNMT1 in hepatocytes from wild type mice did not show a significant increase compared to a media only control until a dose 10 times higher than that used in dwarf mice (10 µg GH per plate). The levels of DNMT3a protein were decreased in primary dwarf hepatocytes following GH treatment (One-way ANOVA, p=0.0464) independent of GH concentration. Wild type hepatocytes showed little to no protein expression of DNMT3a and no difference following GH treatment that could be guantified by our methods.



Figure 13. Ames dwarf hepatocytes are more sensitive to growth hormone treatment which alters DNMT expression. DNMT1 expression in wild type (One-way ANOVA,p=0.0014) and dwarf (One-way ANOVA,p=0.0026) hepatocytes with increasing concentrations of growth hormone (0, 0.1,1.0, 10, and 20 μ g/ml). DNMT3a expression in dwarf (One-way ANOVA, p=0.0464) hepatocytes with increasing concentrations of growth hormone (0, 0.1, 1.0, 10, and 20 μ g/ml). DNMT3a expression in dwarf (One-way ANOVA, p=0.0464) hepatocytes with increasing concentrations of growth hormone (0, 0.1, 1.0, 10, and 20 μ g/ml). DNMT3a not present in wild type hepatocytes.*p<0.05 and **p<0.01 using Dunnett's Multiple Comparison Test to a media only control. Error bars represent means ± SEM.

Since growth hormone appears to affect DNMT expression, we were interested to see if the altered expression of methylation mechanisms could affect global methylation. Thus, we next examine global DNA methylation by the same ELISA colorimetric methods as described for the cross-sectional studies (Figure 14). Dwarf mice treated with growth hormone for one week lost approximately 15% of global DNA methylation. Because of the dramatic loss of methylation we next asked whether growth hormone administration could disrupt the methylation of interspersed repeats observed in many methyl-deficient diets which affect the methionine pathway.



Figure 14. Growth hormone administration alters global DNA methylation in dwarf mice. Methylated cytosine by ELISA-based colorimetric assay shown for wild type mice injected with saline (n=10-11, open bars), dwarf mice injected with saline (n=10-11, gray bars), and dwarf mice injected with growth hormone (n=10, black bars) at 5-6 months of age (Kruskal-Wallis test, p=0.0392). *p<0.05 using Dunn's Multiple Comparison Test. Error bars represent means \pm SEM.

We used MS-PCR to examine LINE1 in dwarf mice that had been treated with growth hormone as well as our saline injected wild type and dwarf controls (Figure 15). We found the GH administration did not seem to alter LINE1 methylation, although there was a large amount of deviation between the means for wild type and GH injected mice. Dwarf mice were consistent in mean methylation to each other.



Figure 15. Growth hormone treatment did not change methylation patterns of LINE1 in Ames dwarf mice. LINE1 was probed with MS-PCR for wild type mice injected with saline (WT, open bars), dwarf mice injected with saline (DW, gray bars), and dwarf mice injected with growth hormone (DW+GH, black bars) at 4-6 months of age (One-way ANOVA p=0.6584,_n=6). Mean relative changes in expression and optical densities are shown ± SEM.

DNMT1 post-transcriptional regulation in Ames dwarf mice

A recent line of investigation observed that DDX20 (a DEAD-box helicase) contributes to transcriptional up regulation of metallothionein 1 (MT1) and metallothionein 2 (MT2) via the repression of DNA methylation by DNMT1. Purportedly, DDX20 assists in pairing miRNA 140-3p with the DNMT1 mRNA transcript and in conjunction with RISC complex, allows for either degradation of the mRNA transcript or de-capping the mRNA transcript repressing translation (Takata et al., 2013; van Kouwenhove et al., 2011).

Interestingly, our lab and others showed that Ames dwarf mice express more metallothionein protein and mRNA in liver as well as other tissues (Amador-Noguez et al., 2004, 2005; Meyer, M.M., Swinscoe, J.C., Brown-Borg, H.M., Carlson, 2003; L. Y. Sun et al., 2011; Swindell et al., 2010). Coupling the high MT levels with altered DNMT1 expression in Ames mice, we investigated the expression DDX20 and miRNA 140-3p involvement in a potential novel regulatory pathway and whether it may be utilized by dwarf mice to repress DNMT1 translation in the liver.



Figure 16. Liver DDX20 mRNA expression is affected by age but not genotype and DDX20 protein is more abundant in dwarf mice. Grey bars represent dwarf mice and open bars represent age-matched wild type mice at 3, 12, and 24 months of age. For mRNA n=7-8 per group and for protein studies n=6-10 per group. Mean optical densities are shown \pm SEM. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, and ****p<0.0001.

We first looked at DDX20 transcriptional and protein expression in dwarf mouse liver to see if there were basal differences (Figure 16). While we found no differences to DDX20 transcriptional expression due to genotype, our study showed age was a significant factor for both genotypes of mice. Dwarf and wild type mice appear to lose transcription abundance of DDX20 with age somewhat reminiscent of GNMT mRNA levels, with a more linear loss observed in wild type mice. The basal expression of DEAD-box helicase 20 protein levels is more abundant at all three age groups in dwarf mice. This correlates with the decrease in DNMT1 abundance suggesting that this may be a potential pathway for DNMT1 post-translational regulation. We next asked if basal expression of miR-140-3p was also changed in dwarf mice and could be contributing to DNMT1 regulation (Figure 17).



Figure 17. Dwarf mice display decreased expression of miRNA 140-3p at 3 and 24 months of age but also loss of 5S rRNA transcription at 24 months of age, compared to age-matched wild type mice. The top left panel displays age and genotype related differences in miRNA 140-3p expression between dwarf and wild type mice at 3 and 12 months of age, n=6-8. Using Student's t-test miRNA 140-3p expression is greater at 24 months in dwarf mice when normalized to 5S rRNA (Top middle panel, n=7-8, p=0.0207) but upon validation by normalization with RNU6, transcription of miRNA 140-3p is significantly decreased (Top right panel, n=6-8, p=0.0104). Differences in transcription can be seen in 5S rRNA Ct values for two separate experiments (Bottom panels, n=8, p=0.0002 and p<0.0001 respectively). . Error bars represent means \pm SEM. *p<0.05, ***p<0.001and****p<0.0001.

We utilized 5S rRNA for normalization of miRNA 140-3p as suggested in previous literature (Bates et al., 2010). This ribosomal RNA is part of the translational machinery of ribosomes. We found that miRNA 140-3p was significantly decreased at 3 months and increased at 24 months of age.

However, upon validation with another miRNA normalization transcript, U6 splicoeosomal RNA (RNU6), we showed opposing results, where miRNA 140-3p was actually decreased, for the 24 month group dwarf only. RNU6 is a small non-coding RNA that is part of the RNA splicing machinery (spliceosome) that processes pre-messenger RNA in the nucleus. As a result of this finding, we investigated the normalization Ct values of 5S rRNA and found they were similar except at one age group in one group of mice.

Our dwarf mice show decreased abundance in 5S rRNA compared to wild type mice at 24 months of age, which is indicated by higher Ct values. We replicated this Ct difference with a different set of 24 month old liver samples from wild type and dwarf mice (Figure 17 Bottom panels, Experiments 1 and 2). This is a novel finding as increased rRNA expression has been linked to a loss of heterochromatin in drosophila (Larson et al., 2012).

DDX20 and miRNA-140 suppress DNMT1 translational repression and affect metallothionein (MT) expression via loss of methylation in CpG regions of the MT gene and promoter regions in hepatocytes. Ames dwarf mice exhibit increased basal expression of MT1 and MT2. However, no age-related differences in MT expression had been studied in the liver. Therefore, we examined metallothionein transcriptional expression and methylation in dwarf and wild type mice to determine age-related changes in metallothionein expression and identify whether methylation of the metallothionein gene and promoter region in dwarf mice correlated with increased DDX20 protein. We observed that liver MT1 expression exhibited age-related decreases in dwarf

mice after 3 months of age (Figure 18). However, there is an approximate 8-fold increase in wild type transcription at 24 months of age. At 3 months of age MT1 mRNA expression is nearly 150-fold higher in dwarf mice. MT2 transcription was not detected in the wild type liver, thus expression levels were normalized to dwarf 3-month-old mice (Figure 18).



Figure 18. Liver MT1 mRNA basal expression was higher in dwarf mice and affected by age and genotype. MT2 was only present in dwarf mice and the linear loss is not significant. MT1 mRNA expression for wild type (open bars) and dwarf mice (gray bars) at 3, 12, and 24 months of age (Left panel, n=6-8). Liver MT2 mRNA expression is shown for dwarf mice (gray bars) at 3, 12, and 24 months of age (Right panel, One-way ANOVA p= 0.1199, n=5-8).

Next we examined whether basal levels of DNA methylation in MT1 and MT2 gene and promoter regions were different in the Ames dwarf mice compared to wild type mice as might be expected from the higher transcriptional rates. Since the largest difference in transcription occurred at 3 months of age, we used tissues from this age group for determining methylation differences within predicted CpG islands of the MT1 and MT2 genes.

Using MethPrimer to predict CpG islands and primers sequences, MT1 showed a putative CpG island, including its promoter sequence, of approximately 600 base pairs in length and thus, two sets of primers were designed and used to maximize coverage (Table 5, Materials and Methods).

Bisulfite treated DNA is only protected from the cytosine to uracil conversion if the cytosine is methylated. Therefore two primer sets were designed, one set probed for converted cytosines (unmethylated cytosines) and the other set probed for unconverted cytosines (methylated cytosines). Coverage of the 600 base pair posited an MT1 CpG island between base pairs 177 to 328 that showed an equivalent methylation status between dwarf and wild type mice (p=0.4422, Figure 19, left panel). This sequence contains several transcription factor binding sites including metal response elements a,b,c, and d (MRE) and the metal response transcription factor 1 (MTF-1) that is responsible for an increase in MT1 due to heavy metal stress, such as the administration of zinc. The antioxidant response element (ARE) that is responsible for the oxidative stress response of MT1 is also located in this area (S. R. Davis & Cousins, 2000; Majumder et al., 2002; Park et al., 2013). From base pairs 464 to 570 of the MT1 predicted CpG island, dwarf mice exhibited decreased methylation compared to wild type mice (Figure 19, middle panel). This sequence covers an intergenic region between exons one and two of the MT1 gene. Metallothionein 2 has a putative CpG island between base pairs 86-395 in the MT2 gene. The MT2 gene is highly unmethylated in dwarf and wild type mice alike (Figure 19, right panel). Primers designed for this area showed no amplification of methylated primer sets in both normal and dwarf mice, therefore a ratio comparison could not be made. The area of regulation for MT2 may lie outside the gene and promoter regions or may not be subject to methylation regulation.



Figure 19. Three month old dwarf liver shows less methylation in MT1 at 464-570 bp of the putative CpG island. U is the product from primers designed to probe CpGs in the same regions that are unmethylated, M is the product from primers design to probe CpGs that are methylated. MT1 CpG Island methylation sites from base pairs 177-328 are shown for wild type (open bars) and dwarf mice (gray bars) at 3 months of age (Left panel, p=0.4422, n=7) and MT1 CpG Island methylation sites from basepairs 464-570 at 3 months of age (middle panel, n=6, *p<0.05). The right panel shows MT2 equally unmethylated (U) with no methylation (M) detected. Gels shown are representative to the mean optical densities of methylated primer products verses unmethylated primer products. Graphs represent mean ratios \pm SEM.



Figure 20. Protein expression of DDX20 is more abundant in dwarf mice treated with growth hormone. Liver DDX20 mRNA expression is shown for wild type mice injected with saline (WT, open bars), dwarf mice injected with saline (DW, gray bars), and dwarf mice injected with growth hormone (DW+GH, black bars) at 5-6 months of age (Left panel, One-way ANOVA p= 0.3490, n=9-10). DDX20 protein expression for wild type mice injected with saline (WT, open bars), dwarf mice injected with saline (DW, gray bars), and dwarf mice injected with saline (WT, open bars), dwarf mice injected with saline (DW, gray bars), and dwarf mice injected with growth hormone (DW+GH, black bars) at 5-6 months of age. Mean optical densities are shown \pm SEM. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, and ****p<0.0001.

Growth hormone administration affects DDX20, metallothionein expression and methylation

Previously we identified differences in DNA methylation enzyme expression following one week of growth hormone administration; therefore we queried whether DDX20, MT1, and MT2 expression and possibly metallothionein methylation would be affected by GH as well. Growth hormone did not appear to have an effect on DDX20 transcription in 5-6 month old Ames dwarf mouse liver (Figure 20). Because DNMT1 protein levels are increased due to GH administration, we expected DDX20 to decrease with growth hormone expression. However, protein levels of DDX20 unexpectedly increased significantly with GH treatment.



Figure 21. Liver miR-140-3p expression does not significantly change with GH administration. miRNA expression shown for wild type mice injected with saline (WT, open bars), dwarf mice injected with saline (DW, gray bars), and dwarf mice injected with growth hormone (DW+GH, black bars) at 5-6 months of age normalized to RNU6 (Left panel, One-way ANOVA p= 0.4139, n=8) or was normalized to 5S rRNA (Right panel, One-way ANOVA p=0.4631, n=7).

We examined transcription levels of the putative DNMT1 regulator miRNA 140-3p to ascertain whether GH administration would induce effects similar to that observed with DDX20 protein abundance (Figure 21). We did not see any significant effects when normalizing to U6 spliceosomal RNA (RNU6) or 5S ribosomal RNA (5S rRNA). Similar to our 3 and 12 month old miRNA studies, Ct

values or 5S rRNA were similar at 6 months of age in dwarf and wild type mice. The two studies produced very similar results indicating that miR-140-3p is not significantly changed following the administration of GH for one week.

Since DDX20 protein expression was enhanced in dwarf mice treated with growth hormone but DNMT1 levels were also increased, we measured the response of metallothionein expression and methylation following growth hormone treatment (Figure 23). Transcription of MT1 and 2 was increased in dwarf mice following one week of growth hormone injections, corresponding to the increase in DDX20 protein.

The methylation of several heavy metal response transcription factor binding sites including MRE-a,b,c,d, MTF-1, and ARE that are contained in the 177-328 base pair region of the MT1 CpG island, became more methylated with growth hormone treatment. There was no significant change found in the putative CpG island fragment between 464-570 base pairs of the MT1 gene region. There are two binding elements for the signal transducers and activators of transcription (STAT), one of which is shared with interleukin-6 (IL-6) a cytokine that can induce transcription. These binding sites are located within the first 150 base pairs of the MT1 gene, and were missed by the primer sets that probed from 166 to 570 base pairs of CpG dinucleotides we utilized in previous experiments. Therefore we designed an MT1 STAT primer pair set to probe this region as it may be sensitive to GH administration and thus activate the JAK/STAT pathway (Figure 23).



Figure 22. Growth hormone treatment increases MT1 and MT2 expression and changes methylation patterns in Ames dwarf mice. Upper-left panel shows MT1 mRNA expression for wild type mice injected with saline (WT, open bars), dwarf mice injected with saline (DW, gray bars), and dwarf mice injected with growth hormone (DW+GH, black bars) at 4-6 months of age (One-way ANOVA p<0.0001,_n=9-10). Upper-right panel shows MT2 dwarf mice injected with saline, and dwarf mice injected with growth hormone at 5-6 months of age (n=8-10). Left-lower panel shows MT1 CpG Island: 177-328 bps methylation for wild type mice injected with saline, dwarf mice injected with saline and dwarf mice injected with growth hormone at 5-6 months of age (One-way ANOVA p= 0.0260,n=6-7). Lower-right panel shows MT1 CpG Island methylation for wild type mice injected with saline, dwarf mice injected with saline, dwarf mice injected with saline, and dwarf mice injected with saline and saline, dwarf mice injected with saline, and dwarf mice injected with saline, dwarf mice injected with saline and dwarf mice injected with saline, and dwarf mice injected with saline and saline, dwarf mice injected with saline, and dwarf mice injected with saline, and dwarf mice injected with saline injected with saline, and dwarf mice injected with saline injected with saline, and dwarf mice injected with saline injected with saline, and dwarf mice injected with saline injected with saline injected with saline, and dwarf mice injected with growth hormone at 5-6 months of age (One-way ANOVA p= 0.6338,n=7). Mean relative changes in expression and optical densities are shown \pm SEM. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, and ****p<0.0001.



Figure 23. Panel shows two representative samples MT1 STAT binding CpG Island methylation. Samples are ordered as follows: wild type mice injected with saline (WT), dwarf mice injected with saline (DW), and dwarf mice injected with growth hormone at 5-6 months of age (n=6-7).

Based on the literature, a reasonable expectation would be that methylation should be diminished in this area at these two binding sites due to the actions of GH (Figure 23). However, using MS-PCR techniques and primer design, methylated and unmethylated regions were not quantifiable in relation to each other and thus no determinations could be made about methylation status of the STAT binding region of MT2.Even though a pattern is visually apparent when observing the unmethylated primers of the samples in relation to each other; this result must be validated by another technique such as pyrosequencing of the STAT binding site regions before this difference can be substantiated as non-artifact.

Histone markers associated with aging are differentially expressed and distributed differently in dwarf mice compared to age-matched wild type mice

Like DNMTs, histone modification enzymes also use methyl groups from SAM just as DNMT and therefore histone methylation marks are also subject to methionine pathway disruptions or alterations in enzyme activities or expression. Based on the literature we chose to examine histone methylation markers between Ames dwarf mice and age-matched wild type mice. Methylation markers from dwarf and wild type liver histone extracts were probed to determine the levels of histone H3 methylation.

Two repressive markers, histone H3 lysine 9 tri-methylation (H3K9me3) and histone H3 lysine 27 tri-methylation (H3K27me3), and one marker known for transcriptional activation histone H3 lysine 4 tri-methylation (H3K4me3), were measured using immunoblotting and coomassie staining (to confirm equal loading). Interestingly, histone H3 Pan, an antibody used to determine the total amount of histone 3 was much higher in liver tissue dwarf mice at three months of age (~70%), lower at 12 months of age and was equal at 24 months of age when compared to age-matched wild type controls (Figure 24, top three panels).



Figure 24. Histone H3 methylation and pan histone levels are expressed differently in Ames dwarf and wild type liver tissue at 3, 12, and 24 months of age. Wild type mice represented by open bars and dwarf mice by gray bars (n=7-10). Mean optical densities are shown \pm SEM. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, and ***p<0.001.

Though used in many manuscripts as a loading control, total histone H3, has been shown to change with age, and is therefore dynamic. (Larson et al., 2012; Levine, Worrell, Zimnisky, & Schmauss, 2012). However, with each genotype, it appears that histone H3 fluctuates more with age in wild type mice than in dwarf mice (Figure 25).

For the transcriptionally active marker histone H3K4me3, total abundance in dwarf mice was equivalent at 3 months of age, significantly lower at 12 months, and higher at 24 months of age compared to agematched wild type controls. Increases or decreases of this marker through mutations of methyltransferases or demethylases have marked effects on lower life forms such as C. elegans and Drosophila and have been noted to increase with aging (Han & Brunet, 2012). The repressive marker histone H3K27me3, is connected with levels of facultative heterochromatin, and this histone marker is purported to decrease with age (López-Otín et al., 2013). When dwarf mice were compared to wild type mice, this marker was observed to be decreased at 12 months of age, and significantly increased at 24 months of age. The constitutive H3K9me3 marker is significantly increased in dwarf mice at three months of age (~ 2 fold) only and only slightly higher at 12 and 24 months of age. This marker decreases with aging in worms (Berdasco & Esteller, 2012). When histone markers are normalized to H3 pan, this exposes the distribution of histone H3 for each genotype (Figure 26).


Figure 25. Age-related total histone H3 expression within Ames dwarf and wild type genotypes. In a separate experiment which compared total liver histone H3 abundance, levels appeared to have stayed equivalent in dwarf mice over all three age groups (left panel, grey bars One-way ANOVA p=0.7648, n=7-8) while levels increased linearly in wild type mice (right panel, open bars, One-way ANOVA p= 0.0065, n=8). Mean optical densities are shown \pm SEM, **p<0.01.



Figure 26. When normalized to H3 pan, Histone H3 methylation markers were distributed differently in dwarf mice at different ages. Histone tri-methylation expressed as normalized to total histone 3 for each age group, dwarf (gray bars) and wild type mice (open bars). Mean optical densities are shown \pm SEM. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, and ****p<0.0001.

The abundance of H3 tri-methylation markers compared to total histone H3 shows that at three months of age, dwarf mice used less total histone H3 for the active transcription marker H3K4me3 and the facultative marker H3K27me3. However, amounts of H3K9me3 remained similar in dwarf and wild type mice. At twelve months of age the distribution of histone H3 to H3K9me3 was much higher in dwarf mice whereas the other markers distributions remained similar between genotypes. At 24 months of age, histone H3 is significantly increased in distribution to the marker H3K4me3 in dwarf liver compared to wild type mice.



Figure 27. Histone H4 lysine 20 tri-methylation and are expressed differently in Ames dwarf and wild type liver tissue at 3, 12, and 24 months of age. Wild type mice represented by open bars and dwarf mice by gray bars. H4K20me3 protein expression was much higher that wild type mice at 3 months and lower at 24 months (n=7-10,). Mean optical densities are shown \pm SEM. *p<0.05 and ***p<0.001.

We also probed liver histone extracts for histone H4K20me3 markers via immunoblotting (Figure 27). This transcriptionally repressive marker is known to increase with age in rat liver (Sarg, Koutzamani, Helliger, Rundquist, & Lindner, 2002). In our study dwarf mice at 3 months age had significantly more of the H4K20me3 marker compared to wild type mice (p=0.0005). However, at 24 months, the oldest age studied, dwarf mice had less H4K20me3 (p=0.0389).

Finally, in a pilot study, we examined 84 genes that included histone methyltransferases (HMTs) and lysine demethylases (KDMs) to ascertain possible targets for future mRNA and protein studies between dwarf and wild type mice (n=2/genotype; Table 5). Since we saw many significant differences at 3 months of age in epigenetic expression overall, we chose to examine 3 month old mice in this study. We observed a fold-increase of >2.5 in mRNA expression in many histone modifying enzymes in dwarf compared to wild type mice. Lysine demethylase 5b (Kdm5b) and histone methyltransferase Setdb2, highlighted in Table 5, are involved in demethylation of H3K4 tri-methylation and tri-methylation of H3K9, respectively. Both proteins have the potential to be repressors of transcription if more abundantly expressed at the translational level and are thus potential targets that help to explain our results in Figure 24. Whether GH modulates these enzymes, as suggested by the genotype differences, remains to be determined.

Gene Symbol	Function	Fold-change (Dwarf/Wild type)
Ciita	Acetylation	2.65
Kat2a	Acetylation	2.59
Ncoa6	Acetylation	3.74
Hdac4	Deacetylation	2.98
Kdm5b	Demethylation	2.91
Prmt7	Methylation	2.70
Setd6	Methylation	2.83
Setdb2	Methylation	3.20
Nek6	Phosphorylation	2.74
Dzip3	Ubiquitination	2.89
Mysm1	Ubiquitination	2.86
Ube2a	Ubiquitination	2.86

Table 5: Histone modification enzymes

DNA methylation enzymes are differentially expressed in other mutant mouse models with deficient or excessive GH signaling

To further explore the role of GH signaling, we examined another GH signaling mutant, the GHRKO mouse and the GH Tg mouse that exhibits an excess of GH signaling. These mice show respective increases and decreases in lifespan related to the absence or excessive GH signaling. This makes them very useful to our studies to elucidate any differences or similarities in epigenetic methylation or mechanism expression.



Figure 28. GHRKOmice show no genotypic difference in global DNA methylation compared to wild type mice. GHRKO represented by open bars and wild type mice by open bars (n=7-12). Percentage methylation was derived using control and sample optical densities, which were then normalized to 3 month wild type mice± SEM.

To see if overall DNA methylation was different between the two strains we performed the same colorimetric assay that was used for the dwarf line in a cross-sectional study. GHRKO mice at ages 3, 12, and 24 months were used along with their age-matched wild type counterparts. These mice exhibit high plasma levels of GH but are unable to respond to it due to a mutation in the GH receptor gene. We first studied global DNA methylation and interspersed repeat methylation to detect any similarities or differences with Ames dwarf mice (Figure

28). GHRKO mice showed no genotypic differences in global methylation, whereas dwarf mice tended to have high levels of methylation consistent across all three age groups (Figure 7). Our data also suggested age might be a factor (p=0.0870), but we were limited by sample size in the 24 month old group (n=7)at the time of this study. To probe for possible differences in interspersed repeat expression and methylation across age groups and genotype, we applied the McrBC-gPCR technique and measured hypomethylation of the repetitive elements IAP-LTR, LINE1, SINE B1, and SINE B2 (left panels, Figure 29). Similar to our observations in dwarf mice versus wild type mice, GHRKO mice also show some resistance to the hypomethylation of IAP-LTR. Age-related differences were also apparent (Figure 29, p=0.0691). In LINE1 there were genotype effects, especially at 24 months of age, and age effects of hypomethylation were observed however a significant interaction was detected that confounds the main effects. The wild type in this strain of mouse shows a large pattern of hypomethylation over age that was not observed in the Ames dwarf wild type mice and therefore could be influenced by genetic background. There was a significant interaction between genotypes and age in hypomethylation of SINE B1 in GHRKO and wild type mice. SINE B2 was only affected by age and not genotype, as these elements became hypomethylated in both genotypes. Similar to dwarf mice, there is higher transcription of IAP-LTR at three months of age that is significant between GHRKO mice compared to their wild type counterparts (Figure 29, right panels). The transcription of LINE1 is affected independently by both age and genotype.



Figure 29. GHRKO mice show differences in hypomethylation and transcriptional expression of repetitive elements that may contribute to genetic stability. Using the McrBC-qPCR technique differences in liver genomic DNA hypomethylation of four IRs are shown for GHRKO(gray bars) and wild type mice (open bars, left panels, n=6-8). Liver IR mRNA expression is shown using two step RT-PCR at 3, 12, and 24 months of age (right panels, n=6-8). Mean relative changes in expression or hypomethylation are shown \pm SEM. *p<0.05 and **p<0.01.

Overall, transcription in the GHRKO mouse is higher compared to wild type mice. For the dwarf mouse strain, primarily age effects were seen for the crosssectional study. SINE B1 transcription is significantly higher for GHRKO mice at both 12 and 24 months of age, for Ames dwarf mice, this increased transcription was only significant at 24 months of age. No age-related differences in SINE B1 were observed in the GHRKO but genotype significantly affected transcription. SINE B2 also showed age-related changes in the GHRKO strain, similar to the Ames dwarf strain, although the transcriptional profile is different. Ames dwarf mice along with their wild type siblings present a consistent u-shaped transcriptional profile between the ages of 3, 12, and 24 months whereas GHRKO mice do not.



Figure 30. DNMT1 and DNMT3a mRNA expression are higher GHRKO mice at 12 months of age. Liver DNMT mRNA expression is shown for wild type (open bars) and GHRKO (gray bars) at 3, 12, and 24 months of age (n=5-8) for DNMT1, DNMT3a, and DNMT3b. Mean relative changes in expression are shown \pm SEM. **p<0.01.

Twelve month old GHRKO mice exhibited alterations in transcriptional levels of GNMT and other methionine related enzymes, thus we measured the cross-sectional DNMT expression to determine if there were genotype differences in transcription between GHRKO and wild type mice (Brown-Borg et al., 2009). The results in Figure 30 show that DNMT1 and DNMT3a gene transcription is higher at 12 months of age in the GHRKO mutant mice compared to wild type mice of the same age. Similar to Ames dwarf mice, DNMT3b expression was not different between genotypes, but was impacted by age in this strain of mouse. However, it is interesting to note that while DNMT3b transcription seems to increase with age in the Ames dwarf line, the expression in the GHRKO strain decreases with age, demonstrating the importance of the genetic background of our mice on epigenetic mechanisms.



Figure 31. Liver DNMT mRNA expression For DNMT1 and DNMT3a is increased upon IGF-1 administration in GHRKO mice. Shown for wild type mice injected with saline (n=7-9, open bars), GHRKOmice injected with saline (n=7-9, gray bars), and GHRKOmice injected with IGF-1 (n=8-9, black bars) at 4-6 months of age. One-way ANOVA for DNMT1 p=0.0056, for DNMT3a p=0.0026, and for DNMT3b p=0.0009). Bars represent means \pm SEM. p<0.05 and **p<0.01.

GHRKO mice express growth hormone but lack a functional receptor, therefore secretion of IGF-1 from the liver is absent. This strain of mouse allows the unique opportunity of identifying and observing potential independent effects of IGF-1 apart from GH. We therefore decided to measure DNMT transcriptional expression in GHRKO mice that have been administered IGF-1 in the same manner we studied GH in Ames dwarf mice. These mice were also treated at 4-6 months of age. Interestingly, DNMT1 displayed a small increase in transcription in IGF-1 treated GHRKO mice which without treatment, already showed a greater mRNA levels compared to age-matched wild type mice at 6 months of age. This finding is similar to that observed in GH injected dwarf mice. DNMT3a transcription, was increased in GHRKO mice, was further elevated by IGF-1 administration, whereas in dwarf mice it was not affected by GH. Surprisingly, at 6 months of age, GHRKO mice expressed less DNMT3b mRNA compared to wild type mice and these levels remained unaltered with IGF-1 treatment. In comparison to dwarf mice DNMT3b was more highly expressed basally, and increased even more with GH administration.



Figure 32. GH Tg mice show a genotypic difference in global DNA methylation compared to wild type mice at 10 months of age. GH Tg mice are represented by black bars and wild type mice by open bars (n=7-12). Percentage methylation was derived using control and sample optical densities, which were then normalized to 3 (left) or 6 (right) month wild type mice \pm SEM.

Growth hormone transgenic mice (GH Tg) are an excellent model to study the overexpression of GH *in vivo* on epigenetic mechanisms. Growth hormone transgenic mice express approximately 20-50 fold more growth hormone measured by radioimmunoassay compared to wild type control mice (Sotelo et al., 1998). GH Tg mice also express more premature aging phenotypes which are readily apparent as early as 6 months of age and live approximately half as long (12 months) as their wild type counterparts (Steger et al., 1993; Steger et

al., 1994). We were interested in evaluating epigenetic differences in GH Tg mice compared to their wild type counterparts. Because GH Tg mice exhibit excessive liver tumors at 12 months of age, which is near median lifespan, we chose to study these animals at earlier ages (3, 6, and 10 months). Unlike the Ames dwarf and GHRKO mouse assays, assays were not pooled due to excessive variability between 3 and 6 month and 6 and 10 month assays. The mean raw absorbance values for the 6 month wild type mice used in the first assay were 0.1882±0.01240, and the same wild type samples measured 0.1386±0.0092 for the second assay (p= 0.0123, Student's t test). We saw no real differences between genotype, although there was a potential age-related difference (Figure 32). However, at 10 months of age, GH Tg mice exhibited significantly increased amounts of global DNA methylation in liver tissue when compared to wild type mice, suggesting a large shift in methylation enzyme activity. The assay between 6 and 10 months also showed a potential age difference between the two groups, but effects of age and genotype were interacting confounding any independent effects.

We next studied the hypomethylation of GH Tg mice in interspersed repeats probing for possible genetic instability as we had in dwarf and GHRKO mice (left panels, Figure 33). Whereas there were lower levels of hypomethylation in dwarf mice and similar levels in GHRKO mice at 3 months of age, compared to their respective age-matched controls, GH Tg mice start out with more hypomethylation, which is essentially less methylation, of these elements in young adulthood.



Figure 33. GH Tg mice show differences in hypomethylation and transcriptional expression of repetitive elements that may contribute to genetic stability. Using the McrBC-qPCR technique differences in liver genomic DNA hypomethylation of four IRs are shown for GH Tg (black bars) and wild type mice (open bars) (left panels, n=6-8). Liver IR mRNA expression is shown using two step RT-PCR at 3, 12, and 24 months of age (right panels, n=7-8). Mean relative changes in expression or hypomethylation are shown ± SEM. **p<0.01.

This genotype difference appears linear with age and approaches significance (p=0.0575) whereas age is not seen as a factor possibly due to the loss of differences seen in the wild type mice which age normally. In LINE1 elements GH Tg mice are surprisingly stable in methylation, while in wild type mice a significant increase in hypomethylation of this element is detected at 6 months of age. However, genotype differences are confounded by interactions with age effects even though age itself as a factor was not significant. SINE B1 did not show significant changes in methylation due to genotype or age. SINE B2 showed a marked difference of hypomethylation in this strain of mouse shared between the GH Tg mutants and wild type counterparts which was dependent on age, nevertheless, there were interactions between the factor approaching significance (p=0.0671).

We also examined transcriptional differences in the four repetitive elements (right panels, Figure 33). Interestingly, whereas the longer lived mutant mice tended to show more transcription of IAP-LTR at 3 months of age, GH Tg mice had similar transcription until 10 months of age. At this older age transcription dropped noticeably in the GH Tg mice. There were no differences in transcription attributable to age in these mice, but an interaction between age and genotype was apparent. For the interspersed repeat, LINE1, transcription was lower at 6 and 10 months in the GH Tg mice compared to their wild type controls. This contrasted with our other mouse lines where dwarf mice were similar in expression and GHRKO mice had increased transcription in LINE1. Also the GH deficient mutant strains showed age-related differences in

expression, whereas this line does not. Still, it must be noted that these studies are at relatively young ages for the normal mice of this strain, which may have to be studied more thoroughly at a later date for comparison in age to other strains. Transcription of SINE B1 did not show any differences attributable to genotype, as had been seen previously in both GH deficient signaling strains where transcription was increased and age-related differences in expression approached significance (p=0.0678). In the repetitive element, SINE B2, we did not observe age or genotype related differences in mRNA expression.



Figure 34. DNMT3b mRNA expression was higher in GH Tg mice at 3 months of age. Liver DNMT mRNA expression is shown for wild type (open bars) and GH Tg mice (black bars) at 3, 12, and 24 months of age for DNMT1, DNMT3a, and DNMT3b (n=6-8). Mean relative changes in expression are shown \pm SEM. ****p<0.0001.

We evaluated DNMT transcription in GH Tg mice at 3, 6, and 10 months in a cross-sectional study, similar to our GH signaling deficient mouse strains with their age-matched wild types. For DNMT1 there were no genotype differences in transcription, in contrast to our previous experiments in GH signaling deficient mice. DNMT3a however showed significant genotype differences in transcription with higher levels overall in the GH Tg mice at any particular age. Age-related effects were not seen for this transcript. However, in stark contrast to both GH signaling deficient genotypes, DNMT3b transcription was approximately 2-fold higher in GH Tg mice at 3 months of age. Age and genotype effects were significant along with a significant confounding interaction between the two factors. We completed our studies with some preliminary data on DNMT protein expression in GH Tg mice versus their wild type counterparts. Interestingly, DNMT1 expression is decreased in GH Tg mice at 10 months of age, DNMT3a expression lower in GH Tg mice at every age compared to age-matched wild type mice, and DNMT3b remains to be probed.



Figure 35. DNMT protein levels are expressed differently in GH Tg and wild type liver tissue at 3, 6, and 12 months of age. Wild type mice are represented by open bars and GH Tg by black bars. DNMT1 protein expression was much lower than wild type mice at 10 months (n=5-6, p=0.004). DNMT3a protein was significantly Lower in GH Tg mice at 3 months (n=5-6, p=0.0007), at 6 months (n=5-6, p=0.0397) and lower in GH Tg mice at 24 months (n=8, p=0.0172). DNMT3b protein was not different between the genotypes at 3 months (n=10, p<0.4000), 12 months (n=11-12, p=0.6244) or 24 months (n=9-10, p=0.5621). Mean optical densities are shown \pm SEM. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, and ***p<0.001.

Thus for each parameter evaluated in the GH Tg mice epigenetic markers, mechanisms, and elements contrast with expression and methylation observed in the GH signaling deficient mice. These findings suggest that GH signaling pathways influence DNA methylation patterns and the expression of epigenetic methylation mechanisms.

CHAPTER IV

DISCUSSION

The main hypothesis of this study was that long-living Ames dwarf mice exhibit differences in epigenetic mechanisms and markers, specifically DNA and histone methylation. The rationale supporting this hypothesis was that Ames mice have an altered methionine pathway that is known to contribute to epigenetic processes. Ames mice are GH-deficient and GH has been shown to affect expression of components of methionine metabolism. The second part of this hypothesis was that these alterations in epigenetic markers lead to increased genetic and epigenetic stability in dwarf mice. Evidence in the literature consistent with our findings will be discussed. The epigenetic patterns established in the dwarf appear to remain highly stable through the dwarf life span, protect the DNA from damage, reduce transcriptional noise, and participate in an altered pattern of gene expression that resists damage and diseases associated with aging, favoring the longevity of Ames dwarf mice. This is a novel hypothesis since as to date, the preponderance of epigenetic studies and seminal literature has been studied in diseased or pre-disease states. This dissertation lays essential foundational groundwork to elucidate the epigenetic markers and mechanisms that promote longevity and disease resistance, and

how the master hormone, growth hormone, a chiefly metabolic regulator, can drastically affect methylation modifications in the epigenetic landscape.

The first aim of our study was to examine age-related and genotype differences in DNA methylation enzymes and global DNA methylation and differences of transposable element methylation and expression that could contribute to genetic stability in Ames dwarf mice compared to wild type mice. GNMT expression affects DNA methylation so we examined whether GNMT expression was positively correlated with DNMT epigenetic enzyme expression in a cross-sectional aging study (Martínez-Chantar et al., 2008; Rowling et al., 2002; Y. Wang et al., 2011). Activation or suppression of the GNMT enzyme has been implicated in many studies involved in global DNA methylation changes. We also studied whether this potential competitor for methyl groups changed expression with age. We found while GNMT mRNA expression was age-related in dwarf and wild-type mice, our data did not suggest any correlative relationship to DNMT mRNA expression. Then we examined the abundance and activity of DNMT protein between three age groups, and global abundance of DNA methylation. We found less DNMT1 protein expression in Ames dwarf mice compared to wild type controls and also that DNMT3a protein expressional differences in dwarf mice were reflected in overall DNMT activity levels. Next we evaluated transposable elements (IAP-LTR, LINE-1, SINE B1, and SINE B2) whose hypomethylation or expression is thought to affect transcriptional function and genetic stability as it relates to aging (Asada et al., 2006; Valentina Bollati et al., 2009; Gentilini et al., 2012; Jintaridth & Mutirangura, 2010; Mustafina, 2013).

In these repetitive areas we found interesting differences due to genotype and age when studying Ames dwarf mice versus their wild type counterparts. We also employed another technique to investigate the differences found in LINE-1 between the two genotypes at different ages.

Our second aim was to establish whether growth hormone administration to a GH deficient mouse model (Ames dwarf) affected DNA methylation and the enzymatic mechanisms responsible. We have looked on a global scale to define major differences in possible GH regulation of epigenetic methylation processes. A sub-aim was to validate the use of primary hepatocyte culture for specific pathway studies by testing whether dwarf mice showed any alterations in DNMT signaling at the hepatocyte level similar to the *in vivo* results. We found that hepatocyte primary cultures reflected the differences seen in expression in the *in vivo* experiments.. In addition, we explored one possible and novel pathway of DNMT post-transcriptional regulation that has been very recently introduced and never studied in the context of a longevity mouse model as an additional sub aim based on our findings and whether it was modulated by GH administration.

For our third aim, we characterized basal histone methylation marker differences in a cross-sectional study between Ames dwarf and age-matched wild type mice and identified possible histone modification enzyme targets for future study. Our final aim consisted of characterizing other mutant mouse strains with altered GH signaling. Within this aim, we utilized the Laron dwarf or growth hormone receptor binding protein knockout mouse and the GH transgenic mouse. This allowed us to identify possible similarities between longevity models

(Ames dwarf and GHRKO mice) and a short-lived premature aging model (GH Tg mice), and further establish the potential role of growth hormone in processes affecting the expression of epigenetic markers and in epigenetic stability.

Specific Aim 1- To examine GNMT, DNMT expression, DNMT activity, and global DNA methylation cross-sectionally in Ames dwarf and age-matched wild type mice

Several lines of long-living mice display deficiencies in growth hormone or growth hormone signaling (Brown-Borg, 2009). Growth hormone influences the methionine pathway by decreasing the expression and activity of several including methionine adenosyltransferase and glycine-Nenzymes, methyltransferase, which promote the production of S-adenosylmethionine and S-adenosylhomocysteine, respectively. Glycine-N-methyltransferase is the most abundant protein in the liver, about 1% of total protein, and facilitates the conversion of SAM to SAH. Thus, GNMT is a major regulator of SAM in the liver(Yeo & Wagner, 1994). S-adenosylmethionine is the major methyl donor for most methyltransferase reactions in cells. While many methyltransferases, including DNMTs, are negatively regulated by rising SAH levels, GNMT is thought to regulate DNMT by an unknown mechanism (Wang, Tang, Chen, Chen, & Chiang, 2011). Previously, we showed that GNMT activity decreased between 3 and 12 months of age in Ames dwarf mice (Holly M Brown-Borg et al., 2005). In our first aim, we investigated cross-sectional GNMT expression in both genotypes, looking for age-related differences, and expanded our findings to include protein levels. We found age-related decreases in GNMT mRNA expression in both genotypes and confirmed increased GNMT gene expression

in dwarf mice at all three age groups, most significant at 3 and 12 months of age, in comparison to wild type mice (Figure 1). Protein levels of GNMT were significantly elevated in dwarf mice (12 months) therefore, our GNMT expression relates well with current literature and known GNMT activity level differences between dwarf and wild type mice (Brown-Borg et al., 2009; Holly M Brown-Borg et al., 2005)

To determine if alterations in DNMTs were associated with GNMT expression, we examined DNMTs in liver tissue of GH-deficient dwarf and normal age-matched wild type mice (Figure 2 and 4). Interestingly, all three known catalytically active DNMTs (1, 3a, and 3b) showed a significant difference in agerelated transcriptional expression but did not correlate with the linear decrease exhibited in GNMT mRNA expression. Though in dwarf mice, DNMT1 and 3a expression was significantly higher at 3 months of age and decreased thereafter. In both genotypes, the lowest levels of DNMT mRNA were observed at 12 months of age with a subsequent increase at 24 months, indicating a u-shaped pattern of age-related expression. In dwarf mice, the highest levels of DNMT1 and DNMT3a were expressed in the youngest mice. Consequently, the expression of methyltransferases may be related to aging in both long-living and normal mice.

The elevated DNMT transcription in 3-month-old dwarf mice is a novel finding. Compared to the present literature, very few studies have reported agerelated differences in murine DNMT expression. Similar to our findings, DNMT1deficient mouse T cells showed a decrease in DNMT1 transcriptional expression

with age (Ray et al., 2006). However this landmark study used histone H4 as the normalizing transcript to rule out increased cellular proliferation skewing the findings. We also tested H4 in comparison to our normal standardization transcript β 2m to see if cellular proliferation could have influenced our results (Figure 3). We found that alteration of cellular proliferation was not a factor in our results and therefore β 2m was used for normalization of all DNMT transcription between mice. Folate and methyl-deficient diets altered methionine metabolism in rats that, in turn, also decreased DNMT1 and 3a gene expression with age (Ghoshal et al., 2006). This evidence corroborates a link between DNMT transcription, the methionine pathway, and age-related expression of DNMTs.

To determine if DNMT transcription was predictive of DNMT protein abundance, immunoblotting for all three DNMT families was implemented. Liver protein levels of DNMT1 in dwarf mice were much lower than in their wild type counterparts at every age examined, even though transcriptional expression was significantly higher in the dwarf (Figure 4). These particular protein assays were designed to detect primarily genotype differences and maximize sample numbers thus; age-related differences were ascertained later in a different experiment (Figure 5). DNA methyltransferase 3a protein expression in our cross-sectional study also yielded novel results. At 3 months of age, dwarf mice had considerably more of this enzyme (almost 2-fold), but equivalent amounts as wild type mice at 12 months of age. Also at 24 months of age, dwarf mice had approximately half of the amount of protein expressed compared to age-matched wild type counterparts. In previous literature, a comparison between long-living

(C57BI/6) and short-living (DBA2J) mouse strains indicated that liver DNMT1 decreased in both lines when fed a lipogenic methyl-deficient diet but the longer living C57BI/6 mice showed higher liver DNMT3a protein levels. High levels of DNMT3a were thought to be protective against the more pronounced demethylation of repetitive elements observed in the DBA2J thereby protecting epigenetic stability (Pogribny et al., 2009). Additionally, ablation of DNMT3a in the nervous system of mice causes shortened lifespans even though at birth they appear healthy and similarly shortens the lifespan of conditional *K-ras* knockout mice (Gao et al., 2011; Nguyen et al., 2007). Our results in addition to previous literature suggest that DNMT3a may be important to longevity and aging.

Our studies also included DNMT protein expression of DNMT1 and DNMT3a within each genotype to determine age related-differences. Reoptimization of both protein amounts and antibody concentrations was conducted based on our previous finding that DNMT1 protein expression was extremely low in dwarf mice. We observed DNMT1 protein expression increases in both genotypes with age although the change across the three age groups was statistically more dramatic in dwarf mice (Figure 5). DNA methyltransferase 3a levels increased in wild type mice with age and decreased in dwarf mice. However the constraint in sample numbers per gel (n=8) may have undermined any statistical significance for this enzyme. Mutant mice deficient in DNMT1 expression showed no detriments or benefits to longevity (Ray et al., 2006). DNMT1 deficient mice exhibited delayed autoimmunity due to aging. They also exhibited protective effects from cancer

or exhibited a higher incidence of cancer compared to wild type mice depending on the organ studied (Ray et al., 2006). Therefore, DNMT1 does not appear to have any independent effects in regards to lifespan. In totum, our data indicates that DNMT3a levels in young mice may indeed be protective but expressed later in life may be detrimental, thus DNMT3a protein abundance during aging may correlate with longevity. Whether the lower expression of DNMT1 is required for this action still remains to be verified. Finally, whether Ames dwarf mice exhibit low DNMT1 in other tissues remains to be studied but because methylation enzymes and global DNA methylation changes with age are tissue specific, we suspect that DNMT1 and DNMT3a differences will be tissue-specific in our animals as well (Maegawa et al., 2010).

In general, DNMT1 is considered the main DNMT expressed in adulthood (and somatic cells) and is responsible for maintaining DNA methylation therefore, it is considered the largest contributor to DNMT activity. Overall, liver DNMT activity was comparatively higher in the young and lower in old dwarf mice compared to age-matched controls (Figure 6). The pattern of activity in dwarf mice may be significantly affected by the contribution DNMT3a since DNMT1 protein is present at markedly lower levels in dwarf mice. Increased DNMT activity has been widely associated with hepatocellular carcinoma, loss of GNMT expression, and methyl-deficient diets (Y. Wang et al., 2011). However, tumor initiation and progression are controlled by the magnitude and timing of DNMT

phenotype (Gao et al., 2011; Kinney et al., 2010; Yamada et al., 2005). A diminished level of DNMT activity concomitant with high GNMT expression in dwarf mice during old age might delay cancer and aging in dwarf mice in comparison to wild type mice. It is also possible that DNMT activity is under greater inhibition in the liver of 24-month-old dwarf mice due to higher SAH levels. Nonetheless, in young dwarf animals, increased DNMT3a may override SAH inhibition and GNMT competition for SAM in the liver allowing greater DNMT activity. From another perspective, early life over-expression of DNMT3a (before and during 3 months of age) may set up a more stable methylation pattern for many genes which are maintained and become larger in magnitude with age, as some research demonstrates, regardless of DNMT protein or activity changes later on (Takasugi, 2011).

Global methylation was also examined in Ames dwarf mice to determine the impact DNMT expression may have on the global DNA methylation landscape (Figure 7). According to current literature, increased DNMT activity in the liver due to methyl-deficient diets can lead to global DNA hypomethylation, whereas, in hepatocellular carcinoma cells, the administration of glucose and insulin can increase DNMT activity and global methylation. The induction of GNMT expression has opposite effects (Chiang et al., 2009; Pogribny et al., 2004; Wang et al., 2011). Ames dwarf mice retain high insulin sensitivity, high GNMT expression, and low levels of DNMT1 throughout aging, making it difficult to predict whether these mice would show any difference in global methylation in the liver. In addition,

through earlier work, we found no differences in DNA methylation between 18-month-old Ames dwarf and wild type mice (Uthus & Brown-Borg, 2003). In this cross-sectional study, DNA methylation in Ames mice was similar or higher than that observed in wild type mice at all three ages (Figure 9; Armstrong, et al., 2013). Wild type mice exhibited a u-shaped pattern in global DNA methylation comparable to their DNMT transcription; however, overall DNA methylation in dwarf mice remained relatively stable. Consistent with the earlier study using 18 month old mice, the older 24-month-old groups did not show any difference between genotype. Also our methylation results showing approximately 16% more methylation in dwarf mice at 12 months of age was consistent with Snell dwarf global methylation measurements at 9-12 months of age (Armstrong et al., 2013; Vitvitsky et al., 2013). Snell dwarf mice are phenotypically identical to the Ames dwarf but have a single nucleotide mutation in *pit-1*. This gene is a transcript acting downstream of prop-1 (the mutation in Ames dwarf mice) which is also responsible for the development of somatotropes, lactotropes and thyrotropes in the anterior pituitary. Snell dwarf mice also do not secrete thyroxin stimulating hormone, prolactin, or growth hormone, and live longer than their wild type counterparts similar to dwarf mice (Bartke et al., 2001). Therefore, the similarity of global methylation between the two dwarf populations at similar ages are strong validation for our results, and suggests that these results are independent of background strain.

We did not see a linear progression in hypomethylation in this particular strain of mice, which has a heterogenous background, contrary to many laboratory strains. In a widely cited landmark study, C57Bl/6 mouse liver was shown to lose DNA methylation with age using a linear model (Wilson, Smith, Mag, & Cutler, 1987). However, in that same study older mice showed large variations in methylation measurements after 20 months of age. In addition, another report within the same timeframe found a u-shaped pattern of global methylation using a different technique in the same strain of mice indicating that methylation in the liver does not necessarily decrease in a linear fashion with age (Singhal et al., 1987). Despite the contradiction in studies that may be due to murine strain background, the main finding of this study is that dwarf mice appear resistant to age-related methylation changes due to age compared to wild type mice.

DNMT1 is required for the activity of *de novo* methylation of repetitive elements that make up a large part of murine and human DNA (Liang et al., 2002). This, as stated earlier, is important to the maintenance of genetic stability that occurs with retroviral transcription and possible transposition. We investigated whether the genotype differences discovered in our study contribute to epigenetic stability as postulated (Figure 8). Also, studying retroviral element methylation may give a different picture of the methylation landscape since LTRs and LINEs are found in gene poor regions (rich in A-T sequences) and SINEs are found in gene rich regions (higher frequency of C-G sequences) (Tomilin, 2008). Many of these repeats are expressed during embryonic development and

reduced in expression during induced differentiation (Martens et al., 2005; Tomilin, 2008). This indicates they could play a regulatory role even though the functions are unknown. Interestingly, we found differences in the methylation status of IAP-LTR, LINE-1 and SINE B2 between dwarf and wild type mice due to age and/or genotype (some differences were nearly statistically significant). We also found transcription of all four retroviral elements to be affected by age but found genotype differences only in SINE B1 transcription. Particular transcripts of the IAP retroviral element have been known for some time to increase with aging in mice and become hypomethylated with age in different mouse strains and from methyl-deficient diets (Dupressoir, Puech, & Heidmann, 1995; Mays-Hoopes, Brown, & Huang, 1983; Pogribny et al., 2009). We found that the IAP-LTR of wild type mice was hypomethylated with age relative to the Ames dwarf, and remained less methylated with age. Interestingly, dwarf mice regain some methylation at 24 months of age. Age and genotype are independent factors that significantly influence the methylation of this transposable element. Transcription of IAP-LTR, which by earlier studies was thought to be induced by hypomethylation, did not correlate with methylation loss or gain. In fact, we observed the u-shaped transcription expression remarkably similar to DNMT mRNA expression in all of our retroviral elements for both wild type and dwarf mice. Transcription of IAP-LTR was higher in dwarf mice at 3 months of age, though not statistically significant, and was definitively influenced by age for both genotypes.

LINE-1 is the most abundant transposable element in the murine and human genome (Han, Szak, & Boeke, 2004; Waterston et al., 2002). Increased LINE-1 expression or hypomethylation with age have been noted in several studies across many species and disease states including rats, mice, humans, hepatocellular carcinomas, and methyl deficient diets (Asada et al., 2006; Pogribny et al., 2009; Takai, Yagi, Habib, Sugimura, & Ushijima, 2000). LINE-1 also plays a role in cellular senescence (Baker & Sedivy, 2013). However, agerelated LINE-1 hypomethylation in human studies has had mixed results and more recent studies have found Alu repeats are better markers of age-related hypomethylation (Valentina Bollati et al., 2009; Langevin et al., 2011). LINE-1 hypomethylation in our Ames dwarf mice or their wild type controls did not show age-related statistical differences. Genotype differences come close to significance, with more hypomethylation being present in dwarf mice at 3 and 12 months of age using a methylation restriction PCR technique (McrBC-gPCR) (Figure 8). When LINE-1 was further investigated through methylation specific-PCR, in which more than one primer set can be designed for better coverage of the 5' UTR region, we found that one area from 150-324 base pairs of this region was significantly less methylated, at three months of age (Figure 9). Also this area of LINE-1 showed nearly equivalent methylation at 12 months of age, and more methylation at 24 months of age in dwarf mice. This validates the changes seen at 3 months in the dwarf mice through McrBC-qPCR. It appears for dwarf mice LINE-1 methylation is age-related possibly indicating better maintenance of methylation in gene poor regions in old age. LINE-1 transcription has been

observed to disrupt genome stability, transcription, and translation in other human and mouse cell types from aging, cellular senescence, or age-related diseases (De Cecco et al., 2013; Han et al., 2004; Muotri et al., 2010; Neidhart et al., 2000; Oricchio et al., 2007). However, as in IAP-LTR transcription, LINE-1 transcription did not appear to be regulated by methylation and changed with age similarly in dwarf and age-matched wild type controls. Our transcription data correlates with a recent publication that examined the transcription of interspersed repeats in C57BI/6 liver at early and late ages (De Cecco, Criscione, Peterson, et al., 2013). However, LINE-1 and the other repetitive elements diminish transcription at 12 months of age regardless of genotype; this may be an indicator of an important period in adult development whose regulatory mechanisms are unknown.

Murine SINE B1 is homologous to the human *Alu* repeat which has been associated with aging. SINE B1 in the liver also loses methylation in rodents fed methyl-deficient diets. Its transcription can be increased during embryonic implantation, by retinoic acid induced differentiation, and cellular or physiological stress (Kalkkila et al., 2004; Li et al., 1999; Liu et al., 1995; Martens et al., 2005; Ohnishi et al., 2012; Tryndyak et al., 2006). A subtype of SINE B1 transcripts may also have gene insulator effects by cooperating or inducing repressive heterochromatin and forming chromatin barriers to transcription (Román, González-Rico, & Fernández-Salguero, 2011; Román et al., 2011). In humans, *Alu* repeats are thought to control transcription and RNA splicing and play a role in aging, however except for the study of *Alu* transcription in senescent adult

stem cells, to date transcriptional differences in *Alu* in human aging have yet to be defined. In our study, hypomethylation of SINE B1 did not differ by age or genotype (Figure 8). However, transcription was affected by both age and genotype, showing prominence in dwarf mice at 24 months of age. Wild type mice showed the highest transcription of SINE B1 at 3 months of age. In agreement, a recent study also found an increase of SINE B1 transcription in C56BL/6 mice at 24 months of age corresponding to our findings in dwarf mice (De Cecco, Criscione, Peterson, et al., 2013). C56BL/6 is one of the longest living strains among laboratory mice and this paper also noted that calorie restriction, a long studied and well-documented intervention that increases longevity in mice, decreased transcription of this SINE B1 as well as LINE-1. However, SINE B1 expression may be a positive response if it is increased in longevity models compared to shorter living models of mice.

Specific Aim 2- To examine growth hormone administration effects on DNA methylation mechanisms, and global DNA methylation.

Ames dwarf do not secrete three hormones, thyroxine stimulating hormone, prolactin, or growth hormone. However, many studies indicate that growth hormone is the hormone responsible for life span extension and increased cellular stress resistance, especially during the early part of adult development before physiological (reproductive) maturity (Panici et al., 2010). Some work has shown that GH can alter chromatin modifications on a specific predefined set of genes known to be affected by or regulate growth hormone signaling (Chia & Rotwein, 2010). Growth hormone administration to adipocytes causes changes in the nuclear architecture forming punctate patterns in the nucleus indicating a rearrangement of chromatin (Piwien Pilipuk, Galigniana, & Schwartz, 2003). Liver tissue regeneration depends on growth hormone secretion more than cytokine secretion for cellular proliferation (Pennisi et al., 2004). However, the examination of GH's possible role on epigenetic methylation mechanisms, which are affected by the methionine pathway and SAM abundance in liver, is undefined and unique. Growth hormone regulates GNMT activity and, though not directly correlative, alterations in GNMT expression and activity do coincide with differences in DNMT expression, DNMT activity, and DNA methylation in Ames dwarf mouse liver. In the current study, increases in the transcription of DNMT1 and DNMT3b were noted upon one week of GH administration in dwarf liver (Figure 11). DNMT3a transcription, while still somewhat increased basally in dwarf liver at 6 months of age, showed no difference, therefore transcription of this gene may be influenced by another pathway downstream or through a related pathway separate from GH, such as the insulin pathway. Indeed, there is evidence that the induction of glucose and insulin pathways in hepatocellular carcinoma cells are able to induce large increases in DNMT3a mRNA but not DNMT1 or DNMT3b (Chiang et al., 2009). Glucose and insulin administration also have large effects on the transcription of many methionine enzymes such as GNMT and MAT along with the methionine salvage pathway and transulfuration enzymes. Both glucose uptake and insulin release are greatly influenced by GH signaling in liver (Brown-Borg, 2009; Louis et al., 2010; Masternak et al., 2010). The insulin pathway is also involved in

longevity (Bartke et al., 2013). Both young and old dwarf mice are naturally more insulin sensitive than their wild type counterparts (Bartke et al., 2001; Louis et al., 2010). It is also possible that differences in DNMT3a transcription do not show immediate effects by acute GH administration, but may show effects after many weeks of treatment. Interestingly, our DNMT hepatocyte data does not correspond to those found in rat primary hepatocytes (Vinken et al., 2010). However, both species and culture condition differences likely account for this discrepancy. For instance, DNMT1 is regulated by glucocorticoid receptor stimulation by dexamethasone and corticosterone (Yang et al., 2012). Rat hepatocyte culture protocols require these compounds for primary hepatocyte cultures contrary to murine protocols.

Measurements of relative protein quantities following *in vivo* and *in vitro* GH administration to GH-deficient dwarf mice displayed a marked increase in DNMT1 and decreased DNMT3a levels (Figures 12 and 13). A lower concentration of GH was required by dwarf hepatocytes to stimulate DNMT1 expression when compared to wild type cells suggesting increased sensitivity in the GH-deficient state. This supports earlier findings that dwarf liver is more sensitive to GH stimulation than wild type tissue in pathways related to stress response and cellular proliferation (Brown-Borg & Rakoczy, 2003; Miquet et al., 2010). As previously noted, wild type cells did not produce enough DNMT3a protein for us to detect by immunoblotting and may be a consequence of hepatocyte culture conditions.

We next examined whether GH alters global DNA methylation in dwarf mice. GH-treated dwarf mice showed significantly lower global DNA methylation compared to saline injected wild type and dwarf mice (Figure 7). This novel finding may be indicative of global chromatin changes and globally increased gene expression. Therefore determining the genomic location of these DNA methylation changes would provide insight on the magnitude of gene expression alterations and possible heterochromatic architectural changes between dwarf and wild type mice. We examined whether global methylation changes occurred in the most abundant and highly methylated repetitive element LINE-1, to look for changes in gene poor regions of the genome due to GH (Figure 9). Previous publication has shown, decreases in liver LINE-1 methylation are induced by methyl-deficient diets, which also show alterations in SAM and SAH abundance (Pogribny et al., 2009). However, in our study, no changes in DNA methylation were noted in the LINE-1 region either basally between dwarf or wild type mice at 4-6 months of age, or with the addition of growth hormone in the liver. This leads us to conclude that the majority of DNA hypomethylation related changes due to GH may be found in gene rich areas of expression or at repeat regions associated with these areas.

GH administration did not appear to have large effects on mRNA expression. In addition Ames dwarf mice had higher levels of DNMT1 transcription yet lower levels of protein, especially at 3 months of age. This suggested that DNMT1 was somehow being post-transcriptionally regulated. Recently a study discovered a novel pathway of DNMT1 post-transcriptional

regulation in hepatocellular carcinoma cells and mouse liver (Takata et al., 2013). They demonstrated a regulatory role for a DEAD-box helicase (DDX20) in decreasing DNMT1 levels post-transcriptionally via the regulation of microRNA-140-3p, which has some complementarity to the 3' untranslated region (UTR) of the DNMT1 mRNA sequence. According to miRBase, the miR-140-3p is highly conserved between species (Kozomara & Griffiths-Jones, 2014). DNMT1 negatively regulates the expression of metallothionein (MT) through promoter methylation. In human hepatocellular carcinoma lines knockdown of DDX20 decreases metallothionein expression (Takata et al., 2013).

DDX20 is also known as Gemin 3, and is a dead-box helicase that plays a major role in transcriptional repression through attachments to microRNAs and other proteins forming a ribonucleoprotein and guiding miRNA to the RNA induced silencing complex (RISC) (Van Kouwenhove et al., 2011; Wilker et al., 2010). DDX20 is involved in apoptosis and cellular proliferation, and is deficient or not functional in many diseases such as cancer, and motor neuron diseases such as spinal muscular atrophy (Guo, Zhang, Zhao, Li, & Li, 2011; Shpargel & Matera, 2005; X. Sun et al., 2010; van Kouwenhove et al., 2011; H. Yang et al., 2008). Increases of DDX20 transcription are observed in murine fibroblasts exposed to ultraviolet radiation acquiring consequent DNA lesions (Garinis et al., 2009). Interestingly, these irradiated fibroblasts also exhibit growth hormone and IGF signaling deficits reminiscent of Ames dwarf mice. DDX20 is definitely differentially expressed in dwarf mice at the protein level but not at the transcriptional level (Figure 16). As expected, increased levels of DDX20 protein

were seen in Ames dwarf mouse liver at 3, 12, and 24 months of age corresponding with our cross-sectional studies of decreased DNMT1 protein at all of these ages.

We next investigated whether miRNA 140-3p was basally overexpressed in dwarf mice, since DNMT1 protein was so diminished compared to wild type mice (Figure 17). Surprisingly, miRNA 140-3p levels were lower at three months of age in dwarf mice, and increased at 12 months of age, though not statistically significant at that age. When we investigated miRNA 140-3p at 24 months of age, we found significantly diminished levels. We observed that 5S rRNA levels were decreased (indicated by increased Ct counts in RT-PCR), which would indicate that 24-month-old dwarf mice have a lowered expression of this transcript. This is an unexpected finding and may have implications for overall translational function of dwarf liver cells. One possible explanation for this change is the overall decrease in total mRNA in aging mice which has been recently documented (De Cecco, Criscione, Peterson, et al., 2013). This may be a product of increased transcriptional expression of interspersed repeats. However, the only transcript we noted as being increased in dwarf mice at 24 months, compared to wild type mice was SINE B1. In many studies, transient induction of SINE B1 had no effect on 5S rRNA abundance and was used as a control, however, both are transcribed by RNA polymerase III (T. Li et al., 1999; Liu et al., 1995). Chronically induced SINE B1 transcription, could affect RNA polymerase III levels available for ribosomal RNA transcription, and thereby inhibit translational processes. However, there is evidence that Alu repeats (similar to SINE B1 transcripts in mice) can repress

translation by forming complexes with other proteins acting as *trans* regulatory factors (Häsler & Strub, 2006). In aging *Drosophila*, increased ribosomal RNA transcription is associated with the loss of heterochromatin, which might be differently affected in mammals, where there is a gain of heterochromatin in C56BL/6 mouse liver with aging (De Cecco, Criscione, Peterson, et al., 2013; Kreiling et al., 2011; Larson et al., 2012).

Metallothioneins are free radical scavengers and respond to many cellular stressors. Metallothioneins 1 and 2 are prevalent in most tissues and decreased protein expression is associated with hepatocellular carcinoma. Treatment with the DNMT inhibitor 5-azacytidine restored MT1 expression and tumor regression in rat hepatomas (Majumder et al., 2002). DDX20 and miRNA 140-3p purportedly suppressed DNMT1 translational repression and thereby increased metallothionein (MT) expression via loss of methylation in CpG regions of the MT gene in hepatocytes. Interestingly, it is documented that Ames dwarf mice exhibit increased basal expression of MT1 and MT2. We observed that liver MT1 expression is agerelated decreasing in both dwarf and wild type mice after 3 months of age. However the expression of MT1 and MT2 is greatest in difference between wild type and Ames dwarf mice at 3 months of age. Therefore, since DNMT1 levels and methylation of the MT promoter drive mRNA expression, we studied the promoter regions of MT1 and 2 at 3 months of age in dwarf and wild type mouse liver (Figure 19). Metallothionein 1 showed less methylation in dwarf mice in an area of CpG methylation that resides between exons 1 and 2 of this gene, rather than transcription factor binding areas. Using a transcription factor prediction data base
for this area of the MT-1 gene (TFSearch), several potential transcription factors including GATA-2 and Ik-2, which are both implicated in controlling the senescence protein marker-30 in aging rat liver were found and could be potential regulators (Heinemeyer et al., 1998; Rath, Pandey et al., 2008). Normal metal response element transcription binding areas of MT1 were not differentially methylated in dwarf mice compared to wild type mice. However, methylation in these areas of transcription are induced by the presence of heavy metals such as zinc, ischemia, and hypothermia, MTF-1, and metal response elements (MREs) (Majumder et al., 2006; Park et al., 2013). In addition, preliminary qualitative analysis of whole genome bisulfite sequencing of young dwarf liver compared to wild type liver is consistent with dwarf mice exhibiting more methylation differences within gene and promoter regions (Brown-Borg and Adams, unpublished data). The MT2 gene was highly unmethylated and methylation-specific PCR provided no evidence of differential methylation in this region.

Since DNMT1 expression is increased by growth hormone administration, we thought perhaps that DDX20 would be decreased and miRNA 140-3p might show decreased expression, in line with what was seen in hepatocellular carcinoma cultures (Takata et al., 2013). Unexpectedly, we observed DDX20 protein expression significantly increased in the dwarf liver after one week of growth hormone administration (Figure 20). Previously, we showed that GH administration increased DNMT1 translational expression in dwarf mice; however, protein levels were not rescued to wild type levels. This increase in DDX20 may be an acute or transient response to increased DNMT1 expression

as part of a negative feedback loop disallowing a full rescue of DNMT1 to wild type levels. This lack of rescue of GH treated dwarf mice to wild type phenotypes has been observed in other studies as well. For instance, Ames dwarf mice did not reach body weights of wild type mice even when exposed to as much as 6 weeks of GH treatment, nor were wild type levels attained in the expression of proteins, or activation of pathways, regulated by GH such as IGF1 and phosphorylation of STAT3 respectively (Louis et al., 2010; Panici et al., 2010). Whether DDX20 expression modulates or associates with these pathways is currently unknown. Further study is required to elucidate the response of DDX20 expression to long-term GH administration. Interestingly, there was no change in miRNA 140-3p in response to GH treatment indicating that in normal liver miRNA 140-3p expression is either tightly controlled, or other pathways may influence its expression (Figure 21).

Growth hormone administration decreased global DNA methylation in dwarf mouse liver (Figure 14) and because there are significantly higher metallothionein mRNA expression levels, we investigated whether there were methylation changes in the metallothionein gene region. Changes in DNA methylation of this region at 6 months of age in dwarf liver were not significant. In addition there were no differences between methylation in MT1 methylation at base pairs covering the area between exons 1 and 2 in dwarf mice with the administration of growth hormone (Figure 22). The loss of statistical methylation difference in dwarf liver may be an age-related change that coincides with a large loss of MT1 transcription after 3 months of age (Figure 18).

CpG methylation was not significantly different in areas common to metal transcription factor 1 (MTF-1) or the family of metal response elements (MREs) probed in Figure 18 between young dwarf and wild type mice. However, GH administration greatly increased methylation in this area. This increase in methylation should decrease MT1 transcription and yet it does not. This indicates the methylation regulation of MT1 is more complex that just the up- or downregulation of DNMT1 or global DNA methylation. Because the MT1 gene contains many transcription binding factor sites, the increased expression of MT1 due to GH administration may be at binding sites farther upstream from the transcriptional start site, such as sequences associated with STAT. GH administration is known to activate JAK/STAT signaling. STAT3 signaling has also been implicated in the increase of MT1 expression due to hypothermic protection against induced ischemia (Park et al., 2013). To address this question, we designed methylation specific primers for the binding sites of STAT and the STAT response element (which also is a response element for interleukin-6) within the first 150 base pairs of the MT1 gene (Figure 23). However, the results were inconclusive for any relative methylation changes in all groups, (wild type, dwarf, and dwarf treated with growth hormone) and the STAT binding regions all appeared to be highly unmethylated. More sensitive measures will have to be undertaken to probe these two methylation sites. There is also a possibility that because of the increase of methylation in MREs, GH treated dwarf mice may be more resistant to the heavy metal and

stress induction of MT1, causing a deficiency in the ability to scavenge free radicals and heavy metals decreasing oxidative stress resistance.

At any rate, GH associated changes in methylation of the MT1 gene do not appear to be simply a consequence of global methylation changes caused by increased DNMT1 as suggested in previous literature, but specific to regulatory areas of the MT1 gene and promoter regions. Metallothionein expression due to GH administration may be a transient response that may be down-regulated during long term GH treatment such as has been indicated in one study through a six-week treatment of GH in 7-month-old Ames dwarf mice (Swindell et al., 2010).

To summarize, in contrast to the findings of Takata et al (2013), in our mice, miRNA 140-3p expression does not appear to be the key factor in regulating DNMT1 expression. DDX20 protein levels however, still could be important to DNMT1 regulation if this pathway is a major regulator. High levels of DDX20 protein may still be regulatory by selectively bringing miR-140-3p to the RISC complex and therefore offset the much higher transcription of Ames dwarf mice as seen in our previous work, however, we feel it is unlikely for several reasons. Firstly, manipulation of DNMT1 expression through DDX20 could involve many different miRNA transcript partners. For instance, only one of many possible miRNA partners for DDX20 could include miR-148a, which has been predicted to negatively regulate DNMT1 and is involved in maintaining the differentiation of hepatocytes and repressing hepatocellular carcinoma malignancy (Denis et al., 2011; Gailhouste et al., 2013). miR- 148a

expression has been noted to change with age in murine tissues and is responsive to calorie restriction, which is a well-known intervention that increases life span in mice (Dhahbi et al., 2013). Also miR140-3p may be more important for tissues other than the liver for the suppression of other pathways such as IGF-1 (Yuan, Shen, Xue, & Fan, 2013). Other factors may regulate DNMT1 as well, and miRNA regulation may only be a minor player in regulation. For example, DNMT1 is also regulated in *cis* by unique RNA molecules expressed by gene regions (Ruscio et al, 2013). Several other factors have also been shown to modulate DNMT expression and activity and include PCNA, PKA, PKB (Akt), PKC, and GSK3B. GH treatment of dwarf mice increased liver phosphorylated Akt protein and phosphorylated GSK38 protein levels when compared to wild type mice or untreated dwarf mice (Masternak et al., 2010; Miquet et al., 2010; Panici et al., 2010). GSK3β regulates pAkt activity and can stabilize DNMT1 affecting its expression and activity (Sun et al., 2007). PI3K and pAkt are known to be involved in cell proliferation and aging. Since liver DNMT activity is higher in the dwarf at 3 months and lower at 24 months, there may be additional regulation by PKA, PKB (Akt), PKC, and other pathways where Ames dwarf mice exhibit increased responses to GH treatment in the liver. If the increase of DDX20 protein expression is significant in DNMT1 post-transcriptional regulation, more studies are needed to identify the ways in which DDX20 may be working with one or several miRNA transcripts to post-transcriptionally regulate DNMT1 transcription. Together, all of these pathways could modulate DNMT

expression and represent potential avenues of investigation for posttranscriptional regulation of DNMT in the liver of Ames dwarf mice and in aging studies, in general. Growth hormone deficiency in the Ames dwarf mouse may contribute to epigenetic stability by decreasing DNMT1 protein through a variety of aging-associated pathways, and increasing DNMT3a protein at young ages. We have data indicating differences between genotypes in global DNA methylation and preliminary results showing differences in specific gene regions (Brown-Borg, unpublished data). Furthermore, GH signaling may also be important to differences in tissues other than liver such as muscle and fat. The results of this study do not exclude potential IGF-1 effects on DNMT expression. DNMT1 also has DNA methylation independent actions that may be different in dwarf mice and contribute to cell cycle regulation (Milutinovic et al., 2004).

Specific Aim 3- to examine histone H3 and H4 markers associated with aging

Histone methyltransferases also use S-adenosylmethionine from the methionine pathway as a substrate. Therefore these methyltransferases may well be affected by methionine pathway alterations similar to GNMT and DNMTs. Methyl-deficient diets are known to cause alterations in SAM, methionine, and the expression of methionine enzymes (Pogribny et al., 2009). Alterations in the methionine pathway due to nutritional alterations, or enzyme loss, such as GNMT knockout mice, have been shown to prolong life (methionine restriction) or cause cancer (choline or folate deficient), an age-related disease, in mice (Cavuoto &

Fenech, 2012; Martínez-Chantar et al., 2008). These factors are also known to alter the DNA and histone methylation in mice (Davis & Uthus, 2004; Pogribny et al., 2009). As stated earlier, histone methylation has also been linked to aging in a variety of species (Figure 36). We found profound changes in histone abundance and distribution between Ames dwarf and wild type mice during our cross-sectional studies (Figures 24 and 25). First was the discovery that total H3 was not expressed similarly between wild type and dwarf mice in liver histone extracts. However when compared within genotype, dwarf mice showed more stable expression of this protein through all three age groups, while wild type mice showed a progressive increase in total histone H3 which led to differences in expression between the two genotypes at different ages (Figure 25). One of the first studies to note changes in histone H3 was in *Drosophila*, and showed that histone H3 decreases with age, which as stated earlier, suggests a loss of heterochromatin with age (Larson et al., 2012). In rodents however, heterochromatin increases with age as evidenced by studies in mice and increases in H4K20me3 in rat liver (De Cecco et al., 2013; Sarg et al., 2002). In addition, in mice exposed to early life stressors that trigger abnormal emotive behavior, total H3 is responsive to pharmaceuticals, showing this marker to be dynamic and impacted by environmental events and chemical interventions (Levine et al., 2012).

We studied one histone methylation marker associated with transcriptionally active areas of the genome, H3K4 tri-methylation (H3K4me3). Dwarf mice compared to wild type mice have altered total expression of this marker at 12 and 24 months. Gains of this marker are associated with aging in *c. elegans* (Greer et al.,

2011). In humans, losses or gains of this marker are associated with cancer progression and with hepatic steatosis (Blair & Yan, 2012; Jun, Kim, Hoang, & Lee, 2012). Of note, it has been shown that the loss of this H3K4me3 is associated with a higher activity of DNMT3a; this might be important as dwarf mice exhibit less DNMT3a protein and more H3K4me3 at 24 months of age (Kuzumaki et al., 2010b; Ooi et al., 2007). This could be associated with resisting the gain of methylation in gene regions during aging as our mice demonstrate less global methylation changes over all in whole genome bisulfite sequencing (Brown-Borg, unpublished data).

The facultative repressive marker histone H3K27me3, is also diminished in dwarf mice compared to age-matched wild type mice at 12 months of age, and increased at 24 months of age, similar to H3K4me3 abundance. When examined in proportion to total histone H3 expression however, less histone H3 is methylated at lysine 4 at 3 months of age (similar to H3K4me3). Since H3K27me3 is purportedly decreased in abundance with aging in *C. elegans*, and in cells from patients with Hutchinson–Gilford Progeria Syndrome (HGPS) it is interesting to note that dwarf mice resist this change at 24 months of age (S. Han & Brunet, 2012; Shumaker et al., 2006).

The constitutive heterochromatin marker H3K9me3 has also been found to be reduced with age in cells taken from patients with HGPS (Shumaker et al., 2006). However it increases with age in *Drosophila* (Han & Brunet, 2012). Dwarf mice had higher total levels of this marker at 3 months of age and similar levels at 12 and 24 months of age. However when normalized to total H3 protein at 12 months of age, H3K9me3 is more abundant in dwarf mice and equivalent at 3

and 24 months of age. Therefore, dwarf mice may be allocating most of the histone H3 resources into retaining areas of constitutive heterochromatin at this age. Our studies did not indicate that H3K9me3 was especially altered between the two genotypes at 24 months of age either in overall abundance or in total histone H3 distribution. Coupled with the high DNA methylation status in dwarf mice and the resistance to DNA methylation changes, it appears that areas of constitutive chromatin are well maintained in dwarf mice compared to wild type mice even with fluctuations in total histone H3. Locations of these markers may be more informative in determining their impact on the aging phenotype.

In a preliminary experiment, we noted some changes in methylation enzymes related to H3K9me3 and H3K4me3 in 3 month old dwarf mice compared to their wild type counterparts (Table 5). The lysine demethylase Kdm5 (also known as Jarid1b) is known to participate in cellular senescence, and its expression affects longevity in *c. elegans* and cancer in humans, making its expression important as a possible aging target. Also, the histone methyltransferase Setdb2 is a marker that hasn't been identified as an aging related protein yet, thus this may be a novel finding that warrants further investigation.

Specific Aim 4- To examine global DNA methylation and DNMT expression and growth hormone expression mutants.

For our last specific aim, we began investigations to validate some of the epigenetic methylation differences that we observed in Ames dwarf mice in other GH mutant mice. We focused on growth hormone receptor binding protein knockout mice that exhibit high growth hormone but lack the ability to respond to

it due to a mutated receptor. Global DNA methylation in these mice did not differ from their age-matched wild type counterparts, but an age-related effect was nearly significant (Figure 28). For mice overexpressing growth hormone however, differences were noted at 10 months of age, where aged GH Tg mice display ~50% higher levels of DNA methylation compared to age-matched wild type mice (Figure 32). This is interesting as these mice live only to approximately 12 months of age and express premature aging phenotypes by six months of age. It is possible that result may show they accumulate a large increase in heterochromatin at a younger age, which has been shown in normally aging mice. However, heterochromatin markers have yet to be studied in this model.

For the methylation assessment of interspersed repeats, some similarities and differences were noted in GHRKO, GH Tg, and dwarf mice when studied cross-sectionally. Both long-living GH signaling deficient mice (Ames, GHRKO) showed some resistance to the hypomethylation of IAP-LTR repeats, although at different ages (Figures 8 and 29). GH Tg mice however, displayed more hypomethylation at younger ages, while their wild type counterparts maintained similar levels of methylation (Figure 33). For wild type mice this could be expected since the wild type mice from our two other long-lived strains showed differences at 12 months of age. However, we may have missed potential changes in methylation as we didn't look past 12 months of age in the wild type controls of the GH Tg line. Excitingly, the hypomethylation of IAP-LTR may be a consistent marker for aging among many mouse strains, and such an early loss

of methylation in GH Tg mice for IAP-LTR may have huge implications for genetic instability and chromatin structure in these mice.

In addition, GHRKO mice express more IAP-LTR at 3 months of age than their wild type counterparts. Though it was not statistically significant, Ames dwarf mice showed an increase in transcription at this age as well. The GH Tg mice showed less IAP-LTR transcription at 10 months of age compared to their wild type counterparts where expression was unchanged with age. This altered transcription occurred at an age when the premature aging phenotype is already apparent and there is a large increase of genomic DNA methylation in these animals. This repeat appears to have some important function in relation to the aging epigenome and requires further investigation.

LINE-1 was more hypomethylated at 24 months of age in wild type mice than in the age-matched mutant GHRKO mice. The longer-lived mutant mouse was able to maintain consistent methylation of this repetitive element. Interestingly, methylation changes in this repeat in the wild type mice might be strain specific when they are compared to the wild type mice of the Ames dwarf strain. LINE-1 hypomethylation during aging has been somewhat controversial as mentioned earlier. LINE-1 hypomethylation is not always apparent in normally aging human cells, but is more apparent in cancer, where the knockdown of expression can abrogate cellular proliferation or metastases (Chalitchagorn et al., 2004; Oricchio et al., 2007; Takai et al., 2000). In GH Tg mice, LINE-1 hypomethylation does not change in mutant mice compared to a small elevation

at 6 months methylation loss in its wild type counterpart. The six month increase is surprising, and will have to be investigated in other mouse lines to see if this is consistently observed. The transcription of LINE-1 in both lines of dwarf mice is age-related regardless of genotype, however whereas Ames dwarf mice exhibit no genotypic differences in expression, GHRKO mice exhibit higher levels of expression. GH Tg mice exhibit lower amounts of transcription compared to wild type counterparts. This may be an important factor specific to growth hormone signaling. These results are somewhat contrary to the current literature where LINE-1 expression appears to be deleterious with age and promotes cancer. However, as LINE-1 is usually found in A-T regions in gene-poor regions, loss of expression in GH Tg mice might be a result of increased heterochromatin formation at an early age.

SINE B1 GH Tg mice did not show any significant changes in hypomethylation due to age or genotype. Only the GHRKO line appeared to have an interactive effect between age and genotype that altered expression of SINE B1. This is most likely a strain specific difference. SINE B1 transcription however, showed very interesting results. Just as its transcription was increased in dwarf mice at 24 months of age, its transcription was increased in GHRKO mutants at 12 and 24 months of age when compared to age-matched controls. In GH Tg mice, there was no genotype difference between the mice though it decreased with age. The fact that SINE B1 transcription is higher in two long-living mutants, and not in short-living GH Tg mice, raises the possibility that the transcription of this element may indeed be protective in aging, especially when expressed at

later ages. Further study will be required to assess whether GHRKO mice have reduced amounts of translation or RNA splicing differences at these older ages which could be protective mechanisms in the aging of these rodents.

For SINE B2, the rodent specific repeat, hypomethylation assays showed age-related differences in all three strains of mouse. In the GHRKO and Ames dwarf mouse lines the hypomethylation was increased with age in both wild type and mutant mice. Only the Ames dwarf showed resistance to hypomethylation of this repeat that may or may not be growth hormone associated. In GH Tg mice both the wild type and mutant mice gain methylation (lost hypomethylation) with age, however, since this cross-sectional study does not include wild type mice older than 10 months of age, hypomethylation of this repeat may yet occur. Agerelated transcriptional differences were only seen in the Ames dwarf line, while there were genotype differences in GHRKO mice, and no differences between GH Tg and respective age-matched wild type mice. Differences in transcription appear to be strain specific for the mice overall.

Examination of DNMT transcription yielded fascinating results when comparing all three lines of mice. DNMT1 transcription was significantly increased in GHRKO mice compared to their wild type counterparts. At 12 months of age, DNMT3a was also 2-fold higher than wild type transcription levels. However, Ames dwarf mice showed greater transcription levels of DNMT1 and DNMT3a at 3 months of age. At first this seems as if it may not correlate, however, earlier reports from our lab showed that methionine pathway gene expression differences between GHRKO mice and wild type mice do occur until

12 months of age, and are not as large in magnitude as Ames dwarf mice (Brown-Borg et al., 2009). The 2-fold increase in DNMT1 and DNMT3a RNA expression observed at 12 months of age in GHRKO mice is mirrored by the twofold increase in MAT1a and GNMT expression, two important enzymes in the production and regulation of SAM in the methionine pathway (Brown-Borg et al., 2009). This substantiates our finding that DNMT1 and DNMT3a transcription coincide with methionine pathway differences in both strains of long-living dwarf mice. DNMT1 transcription in both the GHRKO and GH Tg lines of mice decreased with age, in agreement with the literature that examined DNMT1 transcription in T cells mentioned earlier (Ray et al., 2006). Both GHRKO and GH Tg are laboratory inbred strains, as are the DNMT1 deficient mice used in the T cell study, which unlike the Ames dwarf mouse line which is bred on a heterogenous background. DNMT1 was not altered in transcription in GH Tg mice compared to wild type mice at any age. DNMT3a however did show genotypic differences, however the increase in DNMT3a expression did not approach the magnitude of change detected in the dwarf mouse lines. DNA methyltransferase 3b was not different between genotypes in GHRKO mutants or wild type mice at any age, reminiscent of the Ames dwarf line. In contrast, transcriptional expression of DNMT3b in GH Tg mice at 3 months of age was 2fold higher compared to wild type controls. Age-related differences were noted between all three strains of mice however, DNMT3b mRNA increased with age in the Ames dwarf line, while both the GHRKO and growth hormone transgenic lines decreased with age, indicating strain specific differences. Interestingly,

DNMT3b differences in transcription of the GH Tg mice had confounding effects of age and genotype, which frequently reoccurs in all the mouse lines when studying these transcripts in a cross-sectional manner.

Interestingly, we found background genetics alters the wild type pattern of expression or hypomethylation, supporting the idea that epigenetic mechanisms are at least partially controlled through genetic background. However, there is plasticity in epigenetic expression that can be permanently altered by chronic or early life events. Strain differences in aging are well-documented and should be expected when comparing different mutant strains of mice (Yuan et al., 2011). However, when commonalities between diverse genetic background strains are discovered due to a lack of hormone signaling, the findings become an even more potent discovery.

A few other preliminary studies were accomplished to further elucidate the epigenetic characterization of the GHRKO and GH Tg mutants. Since GH modulates differences in DNMT expression of Ames dwarf mice, we decided to see if Insulin-like growth factor-1 administration would alter liver DNMT levels (Figure 31) in GHRKO mice. IGF-1 administration to Ames dwarf, GH Tg and age-matched wild type hepatocyte cultures induced significant differences of expression in enzymes responsible for oxidative stress response, including glutathione peroxidase, a transulfuration enzyme which is connected to the methionine pathway (Brown-Borg et al., 2002). IGF-1 also has feedback effects on growth hormone secretion, cellular proliferation, mediating many of the functions of GH, and is affected by the nutritional availability of methionine

(Bartke et al., 2013; Miller et al., 2005). IGF-1 receptors are not expressed in liver; however, IGF-1 is able to stimulate insulin receptors, illustrating some promiscuity in signaling. Interestingly, DNMT1 and DNMT3a mRNA expression were responsive to IGF-1 injections in the liver of GHRKO mice (Figure 31). Surprisingly, in this genetic background, GHRKO mutant mice at 6 months of age showed decreased expression basal expression of DNMT3b that remained unchanged upon IGF-1 treatment. GH, IGF-1, and insulin signaling in the liver are interconnected. While DNMT1 showed no effects when insulin was applied to hepatocellular carcinoma cells, differences in insulin signaling between hepatocellular carcinoma cells and normal liver may have accounted for the differences (Chiang et al., 2009). The increase in DNMT3a is likely due to the ability of IGF-1 to influence insulin receptor signaling, similarly to what has been seen in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Also IGF-1 signaling through insulin receptors had no effect on DNMT3b transcription, similar to the literature. However, IGF-1 has a much smaller affinity for insulin receptors than its own receptors, therefore applications or injections of insulin would be expected to produce more drastic alterations in these transcripts, and would be an excellent future study. More DNA methyltransferase protein studies will be forthcoming subject to tissue availability.

We also began preliminary studies based on tissue availability for the expression of DNMT proteins in transgenic mice (Figure 35). For this study, we expected DNMT1 protein to be higher in these mice since one week of GH administration in dwarf mice was able to increase DNMT1 protein. Though at 3

months of age DNMT1 protein appeared to be slightly increased, low samples sizes may have left any results statistically non-significant (n=5-6). However there was decreased expression in DNMT1 in 10 month old GH Tg mice compared to wild type counterparts. This coincided with a large increase in global methylation. Also DNMT3a protein at every age is significantly lower in expression in GH Tg mice, a dramatically different expressional profile than Ames dwarf mice, which showed an increased protein expression at 3 months of age. DNMT3b protein expression results are still forthcoming, as are replication of these studies with larger sample sizes when tissue availability allows. From this data, it appears DNMT3a expression is a vital enzyme to longevity and possibly delays hepatocellular tumorigenesis as predicted from methyl-deficient dietary studies (Pogribny et al., 2009). DNMT3b may play an opposing role in longevity based on the transcriptional studies of GH Tg mice, however further study of epigenetic methylation mechanisms of GHRKO and GH Tg mice are warranted.

In conclusion, it has been proposed that epigenetic mechanisms can contribute greatly to the aging phenotype and genetic instability. DNA methylation plays a significant role in development and likely in responses to early life events, either of which may avert or exacerbate the aging phenotype. However, due to the lack of GH signaling, Ames dwarf mice remain able to resist and delay many pathologies of aging such as the hepatocellular carcinoma found in their wild type siblings (Ikeno et al., 2003). GHRKO mice are also long-lived mutants, that exhibit GH signaling deficiency and showed some strikingly similar

features of DNMT mRNA expression and interspersed repeat methylation or transcription with Ames dwarf mice. Our study demonstrated that Ames dwarf mice, GHRKO, and GH Tg mice exhibited significant differences in DNMT expression that change with age. We also demonstrated that GH administration can have a significant impact on the methylation mechanisms and global DNA methylation of the Ames dwarf. Similarly, IGF-1 has some transcriptional effects on methylation enzymes for GHRKO mice as well. The differential expression of both *de novo* and maintenance DNMTs between Ames dwarf, GHRKO, and GH Tg mice, compared to their wild type counterparts affects the methylation of repetitive elements and specific genes and therefore contributes to epigenetic stability, or instability in the case of GH Tg mice. Also Ames dwarf mice showed differences in histone methylation that can offer further clues for chromatin structure and organization. Continuing studies of these proteins and enzymes in GH signaling mutant mice are extremely valuable tools to elucidate the changes of the epigenetic landscape during aging. These novel findings have initiated a new line of inquiry and contributed to our understanding of the mechanisms underlying the relationships between GH, longevity and epigenetic stability associated with aging and aging pathologies.

REFERENCES

- Aberg, N. D., Brywe, K. G., & Isgaard, J. (2006). Aspects of growth hormone and insulin-like growth factor-I related to neuroprotection, regeneration, and functional plasticity in the adult brain. *The Scientific World Journal*, *6*, 53–80.
- Agrawal, A., Tay, J., Yang, G.-E., Agrawal, S., & Gupta, S. (2010). Ageassociated epigenetic modifications in human DNA increase its immunogenicity. *Aging Albany NY Online*, *2*(2), 93–100.
- Aguiar-Oliveira, M. H., Oliveira, F. T., Pereira, R. M. C., Oliveira, C. R. P., Blackford, A., Valenca, E. H. O., Santos, E. G., Miburge B. Gois-Junior, R.I A. Meneguz-Moreno, V. P. Araujo, L. A. Oliveira-Neto, R. P. Almeida, M. A. Santos, N. T. Farias, D. C. R. Silveira, G. W. Cabral, F. R. Calazans, J. D. Seabra, T. F. Lopes, E. O. Rodrigues, L. A. Porto, I. P. Oliveira, E. V. Melo, M. Martari, and R.Salvatori (2010). Longevity in untreated congenital growth hormone deficiency due to a homozygous mutation in the GHRH receptor gene. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *95*(2), 714–21.
- Aida, K., Tawata, M., Negishi, M., & Onaya, T. (1997). Mouse glycine Nmethyltransferase is sexually dimorphic and regulated by growth hormone. *Hormone and Metabolic Research Hormon und Stoffwechselforschung Hormones et Metabolisme*, *29*(12), 646–649.
- Alberts, B., Johnson, A., Lewis, J., Raff, M., Roberts, K., & And Walter, P. (2008). Molecular Biology of the Cell. Amino Acids (Vol. 54, p. 1725).
- Al-Regaiey, K. a, Masternak, M. M., Bonkowski, M., Sun, L., & Bartke, A. (2005). Long-lived growth hormone receptor knockout mice: interaction of reduced insulin-like growth factor i/insulin signaling and caloric restriction. *Endocrinology*, 146(2), 851–60.
- Amador-Noguez, D., Yagi, K., Venable, S., & Darlington, G. (2004). Gene expression profile of long-lived Ames dwarf mice and Little mice. *Aging Cell*, *3*(6), 423–41.
- Amador-Noguez, D., Zimmerman, J., Venable, S., & Darlington, G. (2005). Gender-specific alterations in gene expression and loss of liver sexual dimorphism in the long-lived Ames dwarf mice. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 332(4), 1086–100.

- Andersen, B., Pearse, R. V, Jenne, K., Sornson, M., Lin, S. C., Bartke, a, & Rosenfeld, M. G. (1995). The Ames dwarf gene is required for Pit-1 gene activation. *Developmental Biology*, *172*(2), 495–503.
- Armstrong, V. L., Rakoczy, S., Rojanathammanee, L., & Brown-Borg, H. M. (2014). Expression of DNA Methyltransferases Is Influenced by Growth Hormone in the Long-Living Ames Dwarf Mouse In Vivo and In Vitro. *The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 69(8), 923-933.
- Asada, K., Kotake, Y., Asada, R., Saunders, D., Broyles, R. H., Towner, R. A., Fukui, H., F., Robert A. (2006). LINE-1 Hypomethylation in a Choline-Deficiency-Induced Liver Cancer in Rats: Dependence on Feeding Period. *Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology*, 2006(1), 17142.
- Atzmon, G., Cho, M., Cawthon, R. M., Budagov, T., Katz, M., Yang, X., Siegel, G., Bergman, A., Huffman, D. M., Schechter, C. B., Wright, W. E., Shay, J. W. Barzilai, N. Govindaraju, D.R., Suh, Y. (2010). Evolution in health and medicine Sackler colloquium: Genetic variation in human telomerase is associated with telomere length in Ashkenazi centenarians. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 107 Suppl, 1710–1717.
- Bachman, K. E., Rountree, M. R., & Baylin, S. B. (2001). Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b are transcriptional repressors that exhibit unique localization properties to heterochromatin. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *276*(34), 32282–7.
- Baker, D. J., & Sedivy, J. M. (2013). Probing the depths of cellular senescence. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, *202*(1), 11–3.
- Balada, E., Vilardell-Tarrés, M., & Ordi-Ros, J. (2010). Implication of human endogenous retroviruses in the development of autoimmune diseases. *International Reviews of Immunology*, *29*(4), 351–370.
- Barter, M. J., Bui, C., & Young, D. a. (2012). Epigenetic mechanisms in cartilage and osteoarthritis: DNA methylation, histone modifications and microRNAs. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society, 20(5), 339–49.
- Barth, T. K., & Imhof, A. (2010). Fast signals and slow marks: the dynamics of histone modifications. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, *35*(11), 618–26.
- Bartke, a, Brown-Borg, H., Mattison, J., Kinney, B., Hauck, S., & Wright, C. (2001). Prolonged longevity of hypopituitary dwarf mice. *Experimental Gerontology*, *36*(1), 21–8.

- Bartke, A. (1964). Histology of the anterior hypophysis, thyroid and gonads of two types of dwarf mice. *The Anatomical Record*, *149*, 225–235.
- Bartke, A, Chandrashekar, V., Turyn, D., Steger, R. W., Debeljuk, L., Winters, T. A., Mattison, J. A., Danilovich, N A., Croson, W. Wernsing, D. R., Kopchick, J. J. (1999). Effects of growth hormone overexpression and growth hormone resistance on neuroendocrine and reproductive functions in transgenic and knock-out mice. *Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine. Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine. Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine (New York, N.Y.), 222(2), 113–23.*
- Bartke, Andrzej, Sun, L. Y., & Longo, V. (2013). Somatotropic signaling: tradeoffs between growth, reproductive development, and longevity. *Physiological Reviews*, *93*(2), 571–98.
- Barzilai, A., Biton, S., & Shiloh, Y. (2008). The role of the DNA damage response in neuronal development, organization and maintenance. *DNA Repair*, 7(7), 1010–1027.
- Bates, D., Li, N., Liang, R., Sarojini, H., & An, J. (2010). MicroRNA regulation in Ames dwarf mouse liver may contribute to delayed aging. *Aging Cell*, *9*(1), 1–18.
- Berdasco, M., & Esteller, M. (2012). Hot topics in epigenetic mechanisms of aging: 2011. *Aging cell*, (January), 181–186.
- Berdyshev, G. D., Korotaev, G. K., Boiarskikh, G. V, & Vaniushin, B. F. (1967). [Nucleotide composition of DNA and RNA from somatic tissues of humpback and its changes during spawning]. *Biokhimii* a (*Moscow, Russia*), 32(5), 988–93.
- Bestor, T. H. (2000). The DNA methyltransferases of mammals. *Human Molecular Genetics*, *9*(16), 2395–402.
- Bestor, T. H., & Verdine, G. L. (1994). DNA methyltransferases. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology*, *6*(3), 380–9.
- Bian, E.-B., Zhao, B., Huang, C., Wang, H., Meng, X.-M., Wu, B.-M., Ma, T.-T., Zhang, L.,Lv, X.-W., Li, J. (2013). New advances of DNA methylation in liver fibrosis, with special emphasis on the crosstalk between microRNAs and DNA methylation machinery. *Cellular Signalling*, 25(9), 1837–1844.

Blagosklonny, M. V. (2011). Cell cycle arrest is not senescence. *Aging*, *3*(2), 94–101.

- Blair, L. P., & Yan, Q. (2012). Epigenetic mechanisms in commonly occurring cancers. *DNA and cell biology*, *31 Suppl 1*, S49–61.
- Boehm, M., & Slack, F. (2005). A developmental timing microRNA and its target regulate life span in C. elegans. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 310(5756), 1954–1957.
- Bollati, V, Galimberti, D., Pergoli, L., Dalla Valle, E., Barretta, F., Cortini, F., Scarpini, E., Bertazzi, P A., Baccarelli, A. (2011). DNA methylation in repetitive elements and Alzheimer disease. *Brain behavior and Immunity*, 25(6), 1078–1083.
- Bollati, Valentina, Schwartz, J., Wright, R., Litonjua, A., Tarantini, L., Suh, H., Sparrow, D., Vokonas, P., Baccarelli, A. (2009). Decline in genomic DNA methylation through aging in a cohort of elderly subjects. *Mechanisms of Ageing and Development*, *130*(4), 234–9.
- Bradford, M. (1976). RAPID AND SENSITIVE METHOD FOR QUANTITATION OF MICROGRAM QUANTITIES OF PROTEIN UTILIZING PRINCIPLE OF PROTEIN-DYE BINDING. *Analytical Biochemistry*, *72*(1-2), 248–254.
- Brown-Borg, H, Johnson, W. T., Rakoczy, S., & Romanick, M. (2001).
 Mitochondrial oxidant generation and oxidative damage in Ames dwarf and GH transgenic mice. *Journal of the American Aging Association*, 24(3), 85–96.
- Brown-Borg, H M, Borg, K. E., Meliska, C. J., & Bartke, a. (1996, November 7). Dwarf mice and the ageing process. *Nature*.
- Brown-Borg, H M, & Rakoczy, S. G. (2000). Catalase expression in delayed and premature aging mouse models. *Experimental gerontology*, *35*(2), 199–212.
- Brown-Borg, HM, & Rakoczy, S. (2002). Effects of growth hormone and insulinlike growth factor-1 on hepatocyte antioxidative enzymes. *Experimental*, 94– 104.
- Brown-Borg, HM, Rakoczy, S., & Sharma, S. (2009). Long-living growth hormone receptor knockout mice: potential mechanisms of altered stress resistance. *Experimental*, *44*, 10–19.
- Brown-Borg, Holly M. (2009). Hormonal control of aging in rodents: the somatotropic axis. *Molecular and cellular endocrinology*, *299*(1), 64–71.

- Brown-Borg, Holly M, Rakoczy, S. G., Romanick, M. A., & Kennedy, M. A. (2002). Effects of growth hormone and insulin-like growth factor-1 on hepatocyte antioxidative enzymes. *Experimental biology and medicine (Maywood, N.J.)*, *227*(2), 94–104.
- Brown-Borg, Holly M, Rakoczy, S. G., & Uthus, E. O. (2005). Growth hormone alters methionine and glutathione metabolism in Ames dwarf mice. *Mechanisms of ageing and development*, *126*(3), 389–98.
- Brown-Borg, Holly M., & Rakoczy, S. G. (2003). Growth hormone administration to long-living dwarf mice alters multiple components of the antioxidative defense system. *Mechanisms of Ageing and Development*, *124*(10-12), 1013–1024.
- Burtner, C. R., & Kennedy, B. K. (2010). Progeria syndromes and ageing: what is the connection? *Nature reviews. Molecular Cell Biology*, *11*(8), 567–578.
- Burzynski, S. R. (2005). Aging: gene silencing or gene activation? *Medical Hypotheses*, *64*(1), 201–8.
- Bygren, L. O., Kaati, G., & Edvinsson, S. (2001). Longevity determined by paternal ancestors' nutrition during their slow growth period. *Acta Biotheoretica*, *49*(1), 53–9.
- Calvanese, V., Lara, E., Kahn, A., & Fraga, M. F. (2009). The role of epigenetics in aging and age-related diseases. *Ageing Research Reviews*, *8*(4), 268–76.
- Campisi, J., & d'Adda di Fagagna, F. (2007). Cellular senescence: when bad things happen to good cells. *Nature Reviews. Molecular Cell Biology*, *8*(9), 729–40.
- Cantoni, G., & Chiang, P. (1980). The Role of S-Adenosylhomocysteine and S-Adenosylhomocysteine Hydrolase in the Control of Biological Methylations.
 In D. Cavallini, G. Gaull, & V. Zappia (Eds.), *Natural Sulfur Compounds SE 6* (pp. 67–80). Springer US.
- Cavuoto, P., & Fenech, M. F. (2012). A review of methionine dependency and the role of methionine restriction in cancer growth control and life-span extension. *Cancer Treatment Reviews*, *38*(6), 726–36.
- Chalitchagorn, K., Shuangshoti, S., Hourpai, N., Kongruttanachok, N., Tangkijvanich, P., Thong-ngam, D., Voravud, N., Sriuranpong, V., Mutirangura, A. (2004). Distinctive pattern of LINE-1 methylation level in normal tissues and the association with carcinogenesis. *Oncogene*, *23*(54), 8841–6.

- Challen, G. a, Sun, D., Jeong, M., Luo, M., Jelinek, J., Berg, J. S., Bock, C.,
 Vasanthakumar, A., Gu, H., Xi, Y., Liang, S., Lu, Y., Darlington, G. J., Meissner,
 Alexander, I., Jean-Pierre, J., Godley, L., A., Li, W., Goodell, M.A. (2012).
 Dnmt3a is essential for hematopoietic stem cell differentiation. *Nature Genetics*, 44(1), 23–31.
 - Chandrashekar, V., & Bartke, a. (1993). Induction of endogenous insulin-like growth factor-I secretion alters the hypothalamic-pituitary-testicular function in growth hormone-deficient adult dwarf mice. *Biology of Reproduction*, *48*(3), 544–51.
 - Chen, H.-W., Chen, J. J. W., Yu, S.-L., Li, H.-N., Yang, P.-C., Su, C.-M., Au, H.-K., Chang, C.-W., Chien, L.-W., Chen, C.-S., Tzeng, C.-R. (2005). Transcriptome analysis in blastocyst hatching by cDNA microarray. *Human Reproduction (Oxford, England)*, *20*(9), 2492–501.
 - Chen, N. C., Yang, F., Capecci, L. M., Gu, Z., Schafer, A. I., Durante, W., Yang, X.-F., Wang, H., (2010). Regulation of homocysteine metabolism and methylation in human and mouse tissues. *FASEB journal* : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology, 24(8), 2804–17.
 - Chen, T., Ueda, Y., Xie, S., & Li, E. (2002). A novel Dnmt3a isoform produced from an alternative promoter localizes to euchromatin and its expression correlates with active de novo methylation. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *277*(41), 38746–54.
 - Cheng, X., & Blumenthal, R. (2008). Mammalian DNA methyltransferases: a structural perspective. *Structure*, *16*(3), 341–350.
 - Cheung, I., Shulha, H. P., Jiang, Y., Matevossian, A., Wang, J., Weng, Z., & Akbarian, S. (2010). Developmental regulation and individual differences of neuronal H3K4me3 epigenomes in the prefrontal cortex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 107(19), 8824–8829.
 - Cheung, P., & Lau, P. (2005). Epigenetic regulation by histone methylation and histone variants. *Molecular endocrinology (Baltimore, Md.)*, *19*(3), 563–73.
 - Chia, D. J., & Rotwein, P. (2010). Defining the epigenetic actions of growth hormone: acute chromatin changes accompany GH-activated gene transcription. *Molecular endocrinology (Baltimore, Md.)*, *24*(10), 2038–49.
 - Chiang, E.-P. I., Wang, Y.-C., Chen, W.-W., & Tang, F.-Y. (2009). Effects of insulin and glucose on cellular metabolic fluxes in homocysteine

transsulfuration, remethylation, S-adenosylmethionine synthesis, and global deoxyribonucleic acid methylation. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *94*(3), 1017–25.

- Choi, S., & Friso, S. (2010). Epigenetics: A New Bridge between Nutrition and Health. *Advances in Nutrition (Bethesda, Md.)*, *1*(1), 8–16.
- Chomczynski, P., & Sacchi, N. (1987). Single-step method of RNA isolation by acid guanidinium thiocyanate-phenol-chloroform extraction. *Analytical Biochemistry*, *162*(1), 156–159.
- Christensen, B. C., Houseman, E. A., Marsit, C. J., Zheng, S., Wrensch, M. R., Wiemels, J. L., Nelson, H. H., Padbury, J. F., Bueno, R., Sugarbaker, D. J.,Yeh, R.-F., Wiencke, J. K., Kelsey, K. T. (2009). Aging and environmental exposures alter tissue-specific DNA methylation dependent upon CpG island context. *PLoS Genetics*, *5*(8), e1000602.
- Chuang Jody C., J. P. A. (2007). Epigenetics and microRNAs. *Pediatric Research*, *61*(5 Pt 2), 24R–29R.
- Cockerill, P. N. (2011). Structure and function of active chromatin and DNase I hypersensitive sites. *The FEBS journal*, *278*(13), 2182–210.
- Coppieters, N., Dieriks, B. V., Lill, C., Faull, R. L. M., Curtis, M. A., & Dragunow, M. (2014). Global changes in DNA methylation and hydroxymethylation in Alzheimer's disease human brain. *Neurobiology of Aging*, *35*(6), 1334–1344.
- Cornford, A. S., Barkan, A. L., & Horowitz, J. F. (2011). Rapid suppression of growth hormone concentration by overeating: potential mediation by hyperinsulinemia. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *96*(3), 824–830.
- Coschigano, K T, Clemmons, D., Bellush, L. L., & Kopchick, J. J. (2000). Assessment of growth parameters and life span of GHR/BP gene-disrupted mice. *Endocrinology*, *141*(7), 2608–13.
- Coschigano, Karen T, Holland, A. N., Riders, M. E., List, E. O., Flyvbjerg, A., & Kopchick, J. J. (2003). Deletion, but not antagonism, of the mouse growth hormone receptor results in severely decreased body weights, insulin, and insulin-like growth factor I levels and increased life span. *Endocrinology*, *144*(9), 3799–810.
- Davis, C., & Uthus, E. (2004). DNA methylation, cancer susceptibility, and nutrient interactions. *Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 988–995.

- Davis, S. R., & Cousins, R. J. (2000). Metallothionein expression in animals: a physiological perspective on function. *The Journal of Nutrition*, *130*(5), 1085–8.
- De Cabo, S. F., Santos, J., & Fernández-Piqueras, J. (1995). Molecular and cytological evidence of S-adenosyl-L-homocysteine as an innocuous undermethylating agent in vivo. *Cytogenetics and Cell Genetics*, *71*(2), 187–192.
- De Cecco, M., Criscione, S. W., Peckham, E. J., Hillenmeyer, S., Hamm, E. a, Manivannan, J., Peterson, A. L., Kreiling, J. a., Neretti, N., Sedivy, J.M. (2013). Genomes of replicatively senescent cells undergo global epigenetic changes leading to gene silencing and activation of transposable elements. *Aging Cell*, *12*(2), 247–56.
- De Cecco, M., Criscione, S. W., Peterson, A. L., Neretti, N., Sedivy, J. M., & Kreiling, J. a. (2013). Transposable elements become active and mobile in the genomes of aging mammalian somatic tissues. *Aging*, *5*(12), 867–83.
- Denis, H., Ndlovu, M. N., & Fuks, F. (2011). Regulation of mammalian DNA methyltransferases: a route to new mechanisms. *EMBO reports*, *12*(7), 647–56. doi:10.1038/embor.2011.110
- Dhahbi, J. M., Spindler, S. R., Atamna, H., Yamakawa, A., Guerrero, N., Boffelli, D., Mote, P., Martin, D. I. K. (2013). Deep sequencing identifies circulating mouse miRNAs that are functionally implicated in manifestations of aging and responsive to calorie restriction. *Aging*, *5*(2), 130–41.
- Dunn, B. K. (2003). Hypomethylation: one side of a larger picture. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *983*, 28–42.
- Dupressoir, A., Puech, A., & Heidmann, T. (1995). IAP retrotransposons in the mouse liver as reporters of ageing. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*, *1264*(3), 397–402.
- Ehrlich, M., Gama-Sosa, M. A., Huang, L. H., Midgett, R. M., Kuo, K. C., McCune, R. A., & Gehrke, C. (1982). Amount and distribution of 5methylcytosine in human DNA from different types of tissues of cells. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *10*(8), 2709–21.
- Elmore, C. L., & Matthews, R. G. (2007). The many flavors of hyperhomocyst(e)inemia: insights from transgenic and inhibitor-based mouse models of disrupted one-carbon metabolism. *Antioxidants & Redox Signaling*, *9*(11), 1911–21.

- Faggioli, F., Wang, T., Vijg, J., & Montagna, C. (2012). Chromosome-specific accumulation of aneuploidy in the aging mouse brain. *Human molecular* genetics, 21(24), 5246–53.
- Filkowski, J. N., Ilnytskyy, Y., Tamminga, J., Koturbash, I., Golubov, A., Bagnyukova, T., Pogribny, I. P., Kovalchuk, O. (2010). Hypomethylation and genome instability in the germline of exposed parents and their progeny is associated with altered miRNA expression. *Carcinogenesis*, 31(6), 1110–5.
- Forsberg, L. A., Rasi, C., Razzaghian, H. R., Pakalapati, G., Waite, L., Thilbeault, K. S., Ronowicz, A., Wineinger, N.E., Tiwari, H.K., Boomsma, D.,Westerman, M. P.,Harris, J. R., Lyle, R.,Essand, M., Eriksson, F., Assimes, T. L., Iribarren, C., Strachan, E., O'Hanlon, T. P., Rider, L. G., Miller, F. W., Giedraitis, V., Lannfelt, L., Ingelsson, M., Piotrowski, A., Pedersen, N. L., Absher, D., Dumanski, J. P. (2012). Age-related somatic structural changes in the nuclear genome of human blood cells. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, *90*(2), 217–228.
- Fraga, M. F., Ballestar, E., Paz, M. F., Ropero, S., Setien, F., Ballestar, M. L., Heine-Suñer, D., Cigudosa, J. C., Urioste, M., Benitez, J., Boix-Chornet, M.,Sanchez-Aguilera, A., Ling, C., Carlsson, E., Poulsen, P., Vaag, A., Stephan, Z., Spector, T. D., Wu, Y.-Z., Plass, C., Esteller, M. (2005).
 Epigenetic differences arise during the lifetime of monozygotic twins. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102(30), 10604–9.
- Fraga, M. F., & Esteller, M. (2007). Epigenetics and aging: the targets and the marks. *Trends in Genetics* : *TIG*, *23*(8), 413–8.
- Gailhouste, L., Gomez-Santos, L., Hagiwara, K., Hatada, I., Kitagawa, N., Kawaharada, K., Thirion, M., Kosaka, N., Takahashi, R.-U., Shibata, T., Miyajima, A., Ochiya, T. (2013). miR-148a plays a pivotal role in the liver by promoting the hepatospecific phenotype and suppressing the invasiveness of transformed cells. *Hepatology (Baltimore, Md.)*, *58*(3), 1153–65.
- Gao, Q., Steine, E. J., Barrasa, M. I., Hockemeyer, D., Pawlak, M., Fu, D., Reddy, S., et al. (2011). Deletion of the de novo DNA methyltransferase Dnmt3a promotes lung tumor progression. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *108*(44), 18061–18066.
- Garcia, B., & Thomas, C. (2008). Tissue-specific expression and posttranslational modification of histone H3 variants. *Journal of Proteome Research*, 4225–4236.

- Garinis, G. a, Uittenboogaard, L. M., Stachelscheid, H., Fousteri, M., Van Ijcken, W., Breit, T. M., Van Steeg, H., Mullenders, L. H. F., van der Horst, G. T. J., Brüning, J. C., Niessen, C. M., Hoeijmakers, J. H. J., Schumacher, B. (2009). Persistent transcription-blocking DNA lesions trigger somatic growth attenuation associated with longevity. *Nature Cell Biology*, *11*(5), 604–15.
- Gaubatz, J. W., Arcement, B., & Cutler, R. G. (1991). Gene expression of an endogenous retrovirus-like element during murine development and aging. *Mechanisms of ageing and development*, *57*(1), 71–85.
- Gentilini, D., Mari, D., Castaldi, D., Remondini, D., Ogliari, G., Ostan, R., Bucci, L., Sirchia, S. M., Tabano, S., Cavagnini, F., Monti, D., Franceschi, C., Di Blasio, A.M., Vitale, G. (2012). Role of epigenetics in human aging and longevity: genome-wide DNA methylation profile in centenarians and centenarians' offspring. Age (Dordrecht, Netherlands).
- Ghoshal, K., Li, X., Datta, J., Bai, S., Pogribny, I., Pogribny, M., Huang, Y., Young, D., Jacob, S.T. (2006). Nutrition and Disease A Folate- and Methyl-Deficient Diet Alters the Expression of DNA Methyltransferases and Methyl CpG Binding Proteins Involved in. *Measurement*, (December 2005), 1522–1527.
- Giustina, A., & Veldhuis, J. D. (1998). Pathophysiology of the neuroregulation of growth hormone secretion in experimental animals and the human. *Endocrine Reviews*, *19*(6), 717–97.
- Goronzy, J., Li, G., & Weyand, C. (2010). DNA Methylation, Age-Related Immune Defects, and Autoimmunity. In T. O. Tollefsbol (Ed.), *Epigenetics of Aging SE* - 18 (pp. 327–344). Springer New York.
- Gravina, S., & Vijg, J. (2010). Epigenetic factors in aging and longevity. *Pflügers Archiv* : *European Journal of Physiology*, *459*(2), 247–58.
- Greer, E. L., Maures, T. J., Ucar, D., Hauswirth, A. G., Mancini, E., Lim, J. P., Benayoun, B. a, Shi, Y., Brunet, A. (2011). Transgenerational epigenetic inheritance of longevity in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Nature*, 479(7373), 365–71.
- Grillari, J., & Grillari-Voglauer, R. (2010). Novel modulators of senescence, aging, and longevity: Small non-coding RNAs enter the stage. *Experimental Gerontology*, *45*(4), 302–11.
- Groen, T. (2010). DNA Methylation and Alzheimer's Disease. In T. Tollefsbol (Ed.), *Epigenetics of Aging SE 17* (pp. 315–326). Springer New York.

- Guevara-Aguirre, J., Balasubramanian, P., Guevara-Aguirre, M., Wei, M., Madia, F., Cheng, C.-W., Hwang, D., Martin-Montalvo, A., Saavedra, J., Ingles, S., de Cabo, R., Cohen, P., Longo, V. D. (2011). Growth hormone receptor deficiency is associated with a major reduction in pro-aging signaling, cancer, and diabetes in humans. *Science Translational Medicine*, *3*(70), 70ra13.
- Guibert, S., & Weber, M. (2013). Functions of DNA methylation and hydroxymethylation in mammalian development. *Current Topics in Developmental Biology*, *104*, 47–83.
- Guo, Y., Zhang, X., Zhao, N., Li, T., & Li, H. (2011). [Gemin3 inhibits cell apoptosis through suppression of p53 expression]. *Zhonghua zhong liu za zhi [Chinese journal of oncology]*, *33*(11), 810–5.
- Han, J. S., Szak, S. T., & Boeke, J. D. (2004). Transcriptional disruption by the L1 retrotransposon and implications for mammalian transcriptomes. *Nature*, *429*(6989), 268–74.
- Han, S., & Brunet, A. (2012). Histone methylation makes its mark on longevity. *Trends in Cell Biology*, *22*(1), 42–9.
- Hanasoge, S., & Ljungman, M. (2007). H2AX phosphorylation after UV irradiation is triggered by DNA repair intermediates and is mediated by the ATR kinase. *Carcinogenesis*, *28*(11), 2298–2304.
- Hartman, M. L., Veldhuis, J. D., & Thorner, M. O. (1993). Normal control of growth hormone secretion. *Hormone Research*, *40*(1-3), 37–47.
- Häsler, J., & Strub, K. (2006). Alu elements as regulators of gene expression. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *34*(19), 5491–7.
- Hauck, S. J., Hunter, W. S., Danilovich, N., Kopchick, J. J., & Bartke, A. (2001). Reduced levels of thyroid hormones, insulin, and glucose, and lower body core temperature in the growth hormone receptor/binding protein knockout mouse. *Experimental Biology and Medicine (Maywood, N.J.)*, 226(6), 552–8.
- Heemst, D. van. (2010). Insulin, IGF-1 and longevity. *Aging and Disease*, 1(2), 147–57.
- Heid, C. A., Stevens, J., Livak, K. J., & Williams, P. M. (1996). Real time quantitative PCR. *Genome Research*, *6*(10), 986–994.

- Heijmans, B. T., Tobi, E. W., Stein, A. D., Putter, H., Blauw, G. J., Susser, E. S., Slagboom, P. E., Lumey, L H. (2008). Persistent epigenetic differences associated with prenatal exposure to famine in humans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 105(44), 17046–9.
- Heinemeyer, T., Wingender, E., Reuter, I., Hermjakob, H., Kel, A. E., Kel, O. V, Ignatieva, E. V, Ananko, E. A., Podkolodnaya, O. A., Kolpakov, F. A., Podkolodny, N. L., Kolchanov, N. A. (1998). Databases on transcriptional regulation: TRANSFAC, TRRD and COMPEL. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *26*(1), 362–7.
- Hendrich, B., & Bird, a. (1998). Identification and characterization of a family of mammalian methyl-CpG binding proteins. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, *18*(11), 6538–47.
- Herman, J. G., Graff, J. R., Myöhänen, S., Nelkin, B. D., & Baylin, S. B. (1996). Methylation-specific PCR: a novel PCR assay for methylation status of CpG islands. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *93*(18), 9821–6.
- Herrington, J., Smit, L. S., Schwartz, J., & Carter-Su, C. (2000). The role of STAT proteins in growth hormone signaling. *Oncogene*, *19*(21), 2585–97.
- Hilmer, S. N., Cogger, V. C., & Le Couteur, D. G. (2007). Basal activity of Kupffer cells increases with old age. *The journals of gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 62(9), 973–8.
- Hoeijmakers, J. H. J. (2009). DNA damage, aging, and cancer. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *361*(15), 1475–1485.
- Hojman-Montes de Oca, F., Dianoux, L., Peries, J., & Emanoil-Ravicovitch, R. (1983). Intracisternal A particles: RNA expression and DNA methylation in murine teratocarcinoma cell lines. *Journal of virology*, *46*(1), 307–10.
- Holemon, H., Korshunova, Y., Ordway, J. M., Bedell, J. a., Citek, R. W., Lakey, N., Leon, J., Finney, M., McPherson, J.D., Jeddeloh, J.a. (2007).
 MethylScreen: DNA methylation density monitoring using quantitative PCR. *BioTechniques*, 43(5), 683–693.
- Holliday, R. (1987). The inheritance of epigenetic defects. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, *238*(4824), 163–170.
- Holliday, Robin. (2006). Epigenetics: a historical overview. *Epigenetics : official journal of the DNA Methylation Society*, 1(2), 76–80.

- Hsieh, L. L., Wainfan, E., Hoshina, S., Dizik, M., & Weinstein, I. B. (1989).
 Altered expression of retrovirus-like sequences and cellular oncogenes in mice fed methyl-deficient diets. *Cancer research*, *49*(14), 3795–9.
- Huang, Y.-C., Lee, C.-M., Chen, M., Chung, M.-Y., Chang, Y.-H., Huang, W. J.-S., Ho, D. M.-T., Pan, C.-C., Wu, T. T., Yang, S., Lin, M.-W., Hsieh, J.-T., Chen, Y.-M. A. (2007). Haplotypes, loss of heterozygosity, and expression levels of glycine N-methyltransferase in prostate cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research* : an Official Journal of the American Association for Cancer *Research*, 13(5), 1412–20.
- Hunter, W. S., Croson, W. B., Bartke, A., Gentry, M. V, & Meliska, C. J. (1999). Low body temperature in long-lived Ames dwarf mice at rest and during stress. *Physiology & Behavior*, 67(3), 433–7.
- Ibáñez-Ventoso, C., Yang, M., Guo, S., Robins, H., Padgett, R. W., & Driscoll, M. (2006). Modulated microRNA expression during adult lifespan in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Aging cell*, 5(3), 235–246.
- Ikeno, Y., Bronson, R. T., Hubbard, G. B., Lee, S., & Bartke, a. (2003). Delayed Occurrence of Fatal Neoplastic Diseases in Ames Dwarf Mice: Correlation to Extended Longevity. *The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, *58*(4), B291–B296.
- Inukai, S., & Slack, F. (2013). MicroRNAs and the genetic network in aging. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 425(19), 3601–8.
- Jablonka, E., & Lamb, M. J. (1989). The inheritance of acquired epigenetic variations. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, *139*(1), 69–83.
- Jang, H., & Serra, C. (2014). Nutrition, Epigenetics, and Diseases. *Clinical nutrition research*, *3*(1), 1–8.
- Jin, B., Ernst, J., Tiedemann, R. L., Xu, H., Sureshchandra, S., Kellis, M., Dalton, S., Liu, C., Choi, J.-H., Robertson, K. D. (2012). Linking DNA methyltransferases to epigenetic marks and nucleosome structure genome-wide in human tumor cells. *Cell Reports*, 2(5), 1411–24.
- Jin, B., Li, Y., & Robertson, K. D. (2011). DNA methylation: superior or subordinate in the epigenetic hierarchy? *Genes & Cancer, 2*(6), 607–17.
- Jintaridth, P., & Mutirangura, A. (2010). Distinctive patterns of age-dependent hypomethylation in interspersed repetitive sequences. *Physiological Genomics*, *41*(2), 194–200.

- Jones, P., & Liang, G. (2009). Rethinking how DNA methylation patterns are maintained. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, *10*(11), 805–811.
- Jun, H.-J., Kim, J., Hoang, M.-H., & Lee, S.-J. (2012). Hepatic lipid accumulation alters global histone h3 lysine 9 and 4 trimethylation in the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha network. *PloS One*, *7*(9), e44345.
- Kalkkila, J.-P., Sharp, F. R., Kärkkäinen, I., Reilly, M., Lu, A., Solway, K., Murrel, M., Honkaniemi, J. (2004). Cloning and expression of short interspersed elements B1 and B2 in ischemic brain. *The European Fournal of Neuroscience*, *19*(5), 1199–206.
- Khare, S. P., Habib, F., Sharma, R., Gadewal, N., Gupta, S., & Galande, S. (2012). HIstome--a relational knowledgebase of human histone proteins and histone modifying enzymes. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 40 (Database issue), D337–42.
- Kingston, R. (2010). Chromatin Assembly and Analysis. *Current Protocols in Molecular Biology*, (January).
- Kinney, S. R. M., Moser, M. T., Pascual, M., Greally, J. M., Foster, B. a, & Karpf, A. R. (2010). Opposing roles of Dnmt1 in early- and late-stage murine prostate cancer. *Molecular and cellular biology*, *30*(17), 4159–74.
- Klotz, U. (2009). Pharmacokinetics and drug metabolism in the elderly. *Drug Metabolism Reviews*, *41*(2), 67–76.
- Kozomara, A., & Griffiths-Jones, S. (2014). miRBase: annotating high confidence microRNAs using deep sequencing data. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 42 (Database issue), D68–73.
- Kreamer, B. L., Staecker, J. L., Sawada, N., Sattler, G. L., Hsia, M. T., & Pitot, H. C. (1986). Use of a low-speed, iso-density percoll centrifugation method to increase the viability of isolated rat hepatocyte preparations. *In vitro Cellular Developmental Biology Journal of the Tissue Culture Association*, 22(4), 201–211.
- Kreiling, J. A., Tamamori-Adachi, M., Sexton, A. N., Jeyapalan, J. C., Munoz-Najar, U., Peterson, A. L., Manivannan, J., Rogers, E. S., Pchelintsev, N. A., Adams, P. D., Sedivy, J. M. (2011). Age-associated increase in heterochromatic marks in murine and primate tissues. *Aging Cell*, *10*(2), 292–304.

- Kumari, M. V, Hiramatsu, M., & Ebadi, M. (1998). Free radical scavenging actions of metallothionein isoforms I and II. *Free Radical Research*, *29*(2), 93–101.
- Kuzumaki, N., Ikegami, D., Tamura, R., Sasaki, T., Niikura, K., Narita, M., Miyashita, K., Imai, S., Takeshima, H., Ando, T., Igarashi, K., Kanno, J., Ushijima, T., Suzuki, T., Narita, M. (2010a). Hippocampal epigenetic modification at the doublecortin gene is involved in the impairment of neurogenesis with aging. *Synapse (New York, N.Y.)*, *64*(8), 611–616.
- Kuzumaki, N., Ikegami, D., Tamura, R., Sasaki, T., Niikura, K., Narita, M., Miyashita, K., Imai, S., Takeshima, H., Ando, T., Igarashi, K., Kanno, J., Ushijima, T., Suzuki, T., Narita, M. (2010b). Hippocampal epigenetic modification at the doublecortin gene is involved in the impairment of neurogenesis with aging. *Synapse (New York, N.Y.)*, 64(8), 611–6.
- Laird, C. D., Pleasant, N. D., Clark, A. D., Sneeden, J. L., Hassan, K. M. A., Manley, N. C., Vary, J. C., Morgan, T., Hansen, R. S., Stöger, R. (2004). Hairpin-bisulfite PCR: assessing epigenetic methylation patterns on complementary strands of individual DNA molecules. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(1), 204–209.
- Lan, J., Hua, S., He, X., & Zhang, Y. (2010). DNA methyltransferases and methyl-binding proteins of mammals. Acta Biochimica et Biophysica Sinica, 42(4), 243–52.
- Lane, N., Dean, W., Erhardt, S., Hajkova, P., Surani, A., Walter, J., & Reik, W. (2003). Resistance of IAPs to methylation reprogramming may provide a mechanism for epigenetic inheritance in the mouse. *Genesis (New York, N.Y. : 2000)*, *35*(2), 88–93.
- Langevin, S. M., Houseman, E. A., Christensen, B. C., Wiencke, J. K., Nelson, H. H., Karagas, M. R., Marsit, C. J., Kelsey, K. T. (2011). The influence of aging, environmental exposures and local sequence features on the variation of DNA methylation in blood. *Epigenetics*, *6*(7), 908–919.
- Larson, K., Yan, S.-J., Tsurumi, A., Liu, J., Zhou, J., Gaur, K., Guo, D., et al. (2012). Heterochromatin formation promotes longevity and represses ribosomal RNA synthesis. *PLoS genetics*, *8*(1), e1002473.

- Laugel, V., Dalloz, C., Durand, M., Sauvanaud, F., Kristensen, U., Vincent, M. C., Pasquier, L., Odent, S., Cormier-Daire, V., Gener, B., Tobias, E. S., Tolmie, J. L., Martin-Coignard, D., Drouin-Garraud, V., Heron, D., Journel, H., Raffo, E., Vigneron, J., Lyonnet, S., Murday, V., Gubser-Mercati, D., Funalot, B., Brueton, L., Sanchez Del Pozo, J., Muñoz, E., Gennery, A. R., Salih, M., Noruzinia, M., Prescott, K., Ramos, L., Stark, Z., Fieggen, K., Chabrol, B., Sarda, P., Edery, P., Bloch-Zupan, A., Fawcett, H., Pham, D., Egly, J. M., Lehmann, A. R., Sarasin, A., Dollfus, H. (2010). Mutation update for the CSB/ERCC6 and CSA/ERCC8 genes involved in Cockayne syndrome. *Human Mutation*, *31*(2), 113–126.
- Lebel, M., De Souza-Pinto, N. C., & Bohr, V. a. (2011). Metabolism, genomics, and DNA repair in the mouse aging liver. *Current Gerontology and Geriatrics Research*, *2011*, 859415.
- Levine, A., Worrell, T. R., Zimnisky, R., & Schmauss, C. (2012). Early life stress triggers sustained changes in histone deacetylase expression and histone H4 modifications that alter responsiveness to adolescent antidepressant treatment. *Neurobiology of Disease*, 45(1), 488–98. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2011.09.005
- Li, B., Carey, M., & Workman, J. L. (2007). The role of chromatin during transcription. *Cell*, *128*(4), 707–19.
- Li, L.-C., & Dahiya, R. (2002). MethPrimer: designing primers for methylation PCRs. *Bioinformatics (Oxford, England)*, *18*(11), 1427–31.
- Li, T., Spearow, J., Rubin, C. M., & Schmid, C. W. (1999). Physiological stresses increase mouse short interspersed element (SINE) RNA expression in vivo. *Gene*, *239*(2), 367–72.
- Liang, G., Chan, M. F., Tomigahara, Y., Tsai, Y. C., Gonzales, F. A., Li, E., Laird, P. W., Jones, P. A. (2002). Cooperativity between DNA Methyltransferases in the Maintenance Methylation of Repetitive Elements. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 22(2), 480–491.
- Lindahl, T. (1974). An N-glycosidase from Escherichia coli that releases free uracil from DNA containing deaminated cytosine residues. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 71(9), 3649–53.
- Liu, W. M., Chu, W. M., Choudary, P. V, & Schmid, C. W. (1995). Cell stress and translational inhibitors transiently increase the abundance of mammalian SINE transcripts. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *23*(10), 1758–65.

- Loenen, W. A. M. (2006). S-adenosylmethionine: jack of all trades and master of everything? *Biochemical Society Transactions*, *34*(Pt 2), 330–3.
- Londoño-Vallejo, J. A. (2010). Telomeres, Epigenetics, and Aging. In T. Tollefsbol (Ed.), *Epigenetics of Aging SE - 12* (pp. 205–225). Springer New York.
- Longo, V. D., & Finch, C. E. (2003). Evolutionary medicine: from dwarf model systems to healthy centenarians? *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, *299*(5611), 1342–1346.
- López-Otín, C., Blasco, M. A., Partridge, L., Serrano, M., & Kroemer, G. (2013). The hallmarks of aging. *Cell*, *153*(6), 1194–217.
- Louis, A., Bartke, A., & Masternak, M. M. (2010). Effects of growth hormone and thyroxine replacement therapy on insulin signaling in Ames dwarf mice. *The journals of gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, *65*(4), 344–52.
- Lupberger, J., Kreuzer, K. A., Baskaynak, G., Peters, U. R., Le Coutre, P., & Schmidt, C. A. (2002). Quantitative analysis of beta-actin, beta-2microglobulin and porphobilinogen deaminase mRNA and their comparison as control transcripts for RT-PCR. *Molecular and Cellular Probes*, *16*(1), 25– 30.
- Maegawa, S., Hinkal, G., Kim, H. S., Shen, L., Zhang, L., Zhang, J., Zhang, N., Liang, S., Donehower, L. A., Issa, J.-p. J. (2010). Widespread and tissue specific age-related DNA methylation changes in mice, (713), 332–340.
- Maes, O. C., An, J., Sarojini, H., & Wang, E. (2008). Murine microRNAs implicated in liver functions and aging process. *Mechanisms of Ageing and Development*, *129*(9), 534–41.
- Majumder, S., Ghoshal, K., Datta, J., Bai, S., Dong, X., Quan, N., Plass, C., Jacob, S. T. (2002). Role of de novo DNA methyltransferases and methyl CpG-binding proteins in gene silencing in a rat hepatoma. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(18), 16048–58.
- Majumder, S., Kutay, H., Datta, J., Summers, D., Jacob, S. T., & Ghoshal, K. (2006). Epigenetic regulation of metallothionein-i gene expression: differential regulation of methylated and unmethylated promoters by DNA methyltransferases and methyl CpG binding proteins. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, *97*(6), 1300–16.

- Martens, J. H. A., O'Sullivan, R. J., Braunschweig, U., Opravil, S., Radolf, M., Steinlein, P., & Jenuwein, T. (2005). The profile of repeat-associated histone lysine methylation states in the mouse epigenome. *the The European Molecular Biology Organization Journal*, 24(4), 800–812.
- Martínez-Chantar, M. L., Vázquez-Chantada, M., Ariz, U., Martínez, N., Varela, M., Luka, Z., Capdevila, A., Rodríguez, J., Aransay, A. M., Matthiesen, R., Yang, H., Calvisi, D. F. Esteller, M., Fraga, M., Lu, S. C., Wagner, C., Mato, J. M. (2008). Loss of the glycine N-methyltransferase gene leads to steatosis and hepatocellular carcinoma in mice. *Hepatology (Baltimore, Md.)*, 47(4), 1191–9.
- Masternak, M. M., Panici, J. A., Wang, F., Wang, Z., & Spong, A. (2010). The Effects of Growth Hormone (GH) Treatment on GH and Insulin/IGF-1 Signaling in Long-Lived Ames Dwarf Mice. *The journals of gerontology Series A Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 65(1), 241. Masternak MM, Panici JA, Wang F, Wang Z, Spon.
- Mays-Hoopes, L. L., Brown, a, & Huang, R. C. (1983). Methylation and rearrangement of mouse intracisternal a particle genes in development, aging, and myeloma. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, *3*(8), 1371–80.
- McGrane, M. M., De Vente, J., Yun, J., Bloom, J., Park, E., Wynshaw-Boris, A., Wagner, T., Rottman, F. M., Hanson, R. W. (1988). Tissue-specific expression and dietary regulation of a chimeric phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase/bovine growth hormone gene in transgenic mice. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *263*(23), 11443–51.
- Meyer, M.M., Swinscoe, J.C., Brown-Borg, H.M., Carlson, E. C. (2003). Increased glomerular metallothionein accompanies reduced glomerular basement membrane thickening in the Ames dwarf mouse model of delayed aging. *FASEB J.* (p. 17,362).
- Miller, R. A., Buehner, G., Chang, Y., Harper, J. M., Sigler, R., & Smith-Wheelock, M. (2005). Methionine-deficient diet extends mouse lifespan, slows immune and lens aging, alters glucose, T4, IGF-I and insulin levels, and increases hepatocyte MIF levels and stress resistance. *Aging Cell*, 4(3), 119–25.
- Milutinovic, S., Brown, S. E., Zhuang, Q., & Szyf, M. (2004). DNA methyltransferase 1 knock down induces gene expression by a mechanism independent of DNA methylation and histone deacetylation. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(27), 27915–27.
- Miquet, J. G., Muñoz, M. C., Giani, J. F., González, L., Dominici, F. P., Bartke, A., Turyn, D., Sotelo, A. I. (2010). Ames dwarf (Prop1(df)/Prop1(df)) mice display increased sensitivity of the major GH-signaling pathways in liver and skeletal muscle. *Growth hormone & IGF research* : OfficialJournal of the *Growth Hormone Research Society and the International IGF Research Society*, 20(2), 118–26.
- Miranda, K. C., Huynh, T., Tay, Y., Ang, Y.-S., Tam, W.-L., Thomson, A. M., Lim, B., Rigoutsos, I. (2006). A pattern-based method for the identification of MicroRNA binding sites and their corresponding heteroduplexes. *Cell*, *126*(6), 1203–17.
- Morgan, H. D., Sutherland, H. G., Martin, D. I., & Whitelaw, E. (1999). Epigenetic inheritance at the agouti locus in the mouse. *Nature genetics*, *23*(3), 314–8.
- Moskalev, A. A., Shaposhnikov, M. V., Plyusnina, E. N., Zhavoronkov, A., Budovsky, A., Yanai, H., & Fraifeld, V. E. (2013). The role of DNA damage and repair in aging through the prism of Koch-like criteria. *Ageing Research Reviews*.
- Muniyappa, R., Sorkin, J. D., Veldhuis, J. D., Harman, S. M., Münzer, T., Bhasin, S., & Blackman, M. R. (2007). Long-term testosterone supplementation augments overnight growth hormone secretion in healthy older men. *American Journal of Physiology. Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 293(3), E769–75.
- Muotri, A. R., Marchetto, M. C. N., Coufal, N. G., Oefner, R., Yeo, G., Nakashima, K., & Gage, F. H. (2010). L1 retrotransposition in neurons is modulated by MeCP2. *Nature*, *468*(7322), 443–6.
- Mustafina, O. E. (2013). The possible roles of human Alu elements in aging. *Frontiers in Genetics*, *4*(22), 96.
- Nakahara, K., & Carthew, R. W. (2004). Expanding roles for miRNAs and siRNAs in cell regulation. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology*, *16*(2), 127–33.
- Neidhart, M., Rethage, J., Kuchen, S., Künzler, P., Crowl, R. M., Billingham, M. E., Gay, R. E., Gay, S. (2000). Retrotransposable L1 elements expressed in rheumatoid arthritis synovial tissue: association with genomic DNA hypomethylation and influence on gene expression. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 43(12), 2634–47. 1

- Nguyen, S., Meletis, K., Fu, D., Jhaveri, S., & Jaenisch, R. (2007). Ablation of de novo DNA methyltransferase Dnmt3a in the nervous system leads to neuromuscular defects and shortened lifespan. *Developmental Dynamics an Official Publication of the American Association of Anatomists*, *236*(6), 1663–1676.
- Oberdoerffer, P., & Sinclair, D. a. (2007). The role of nuclear architecture in genomic instability and ageing. *Nature reviews. Molecular Cell Biology*, *8*(9), 692–702.
- Ohlsson, C., Mohan, S., Sjögren, K., Tivesten, A., Isgaard, J., Isaksson, O., Jansson, J.-O., Svensson, J. (2009). The role of liver-derived insulin-like growth factor-I. *Endocrine Reviews*, *30*(5), 494–535.
- Ohnishi, Y., Totoki, Y., Toyoda, A., Watanabe, T., Yamamoto, Y., Tokunaga, K., Sakaki, Y., Sasaki, H., Hohjoh, H. (2012). Active role of small non-coding RNAs derived from SINE/B1 retrotransposon during early mouse development. *Molecular Biology Reports*, 39(2), 903–9.
- Ooi, S. K. T., Qiu, C., Bernstein, E., Li, K., Jia, D., Yang, Z., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Tempst, P., Lin, S.-P., Allis, C D., Cheng, X., Bestor, T. H. (2007).
 DNMT3L connects unmethylated lysine 4 of histone H3 to de novo methylation of DNA. *Nature*, 448(7154), 714–7.
- Oricchio, E., Sciamanna, I., Beraldi, R., Tolstonog, G. V, Schumann, G. G., & Spadafora, C. (2007). Distinct roles for LINE-1 and HERV-K retroelements in cell proliferation, differentiation and tumor progression. *Oncogene*, *26*(29), 4226–33.
- Osorio, F. G., Varela, I., Lara, E., Puente, X. S., Espada, J., Santoro, R., Freije, J. M. P., Fraga, M. F., López-Otín, C. (2010). Nuclear envelope alterations generate an aging-like epigenetic pattern in mice deficient in Zmpste24 metalloprotease. *Aging Cell*, *9*(6), 947–57.
- Panici, J. a, Wang, F., Bonkowski, M. S., Spong, A., Bartke, A., Pawlikowska, L., Kwok, P.-Y., Masternak, M. M. (2009). Is altered expression of hepatic insulin-related genes in growth hormone receptor knockout mice due to GH resistance or a difference in biological life spans? *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 64(11), 1126–33.

- Panici, J. A., Harper, J. M., Miller, R. A., Bartke, A., Spong, A., & Masternak, M. M. (2010). Early life growth hormone treatment shortens longevity and decreases cellular stress resistance in long-lived mutant mice. *The FASEB Journal Official Publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*, 24(12), 5073–5079.
- Park, Y. H., Lee, Y. M., Kim, D. S., Park, J., Suk, K., Kim, J. K., & Han, H. S. (2013). Hypothermia enhances induction of protective protein metallothionein under ischemia. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, *10*, 21.
- Pegoraro, G., & Misteli, T. (2009). The central role of chromatin maintenance in aging. *Aging*, *1*(12), 1017–22.
- Peleg, S., Sananbenesi, F., Zovoilis, A., Burkhardt, S., Bahari-Javan, S., Agis-Balboa, R. C., Cota, P., Wittnam, J. L., Gogol-Doering, A., Opitz, L., Salinas-Riester, G., Dettenhofer, M., Kang, H., Farinelli, L., Chen, W., Fischer, A. (2010). Altered histone acetylation is associated with agedependent memory impairment in mice. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 328(5979), 753–6.
- Pennisi, P. a, Kopchick, J. J., Thorgeirsson, S., LeRoith, D., & Yakar, S. (2004). Role of growth hormone (GH) in liver regeneration. *Endocrinology*, *145*(10), 4748–55.
- Perl, A. (2003). Role of endogenous retroviruses in autoimmune diseases. *Rheumatic Diseases Clinics of North America*, *29*(1), 123–143, vii.
- Piwien Pilipuk, G., Galigniana, M. D., & Schwartz, J. (2003). Subnuclear localization of C/EBP beta is regulated by growth hormone and dependent on MAPK. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, *278*(37), 35668–77.
- Pogribny, I. P., James, S. J., Jernigan, S., & Pogribna, M. (2004). Genomic hypomethylation is specific for preneoplastic liver in folate/methyl deficient rats and does not occur in non-target tissues. *Mutation Research*, 548(1-2), 53–9.
- Pogribny, I. P., Ross, S. a, Wise, C., Pogribna, M., Jones, E. a, Tryndyak, V. P., James, S. J., Dragan, Y. P. Poirier, L. a. (2006). Irreversible global DNA hypomethylation as a key step in hepatocarcinogenesis induced by dietary methyl deficiency. *Mutation Research*, *593*(1-2), 80–7.

- Pogribny, I. P., Starlard-Davenport, A., Tryndyak, V. P., Han, T., Ross, S. a, Rusyn, I., & Beland, F. a. (2010). Difference in expression of hepatic microRNAs miR-29c, miR-34a, miR-155, and miR-200b is associated with strain-specific susceptibility to dietary nonalcoholic steatohepatitis in mice. *Laboratory Investigation; a Journal of Technical Methods and Pathology*, 90(10), 1437–46.
- Pogribny, I. P., Tryndyak, V. P., Bagnyukova, T. V., Melnyk, S., Montgomery, B., Ross, S. a., Latendresse, J. R., Rusyn, I., Beland, F. a. (2009). Hepatic epigenetic phenotype predetermines individual susceptibility to hepatic steatosis in mice fed a lipogenic methyl-deficient diet. *Journal of Hepatology*, *51*(1), 176–86.
- Pond, S. M., & Tozer, T. N. (1984). First-pass elimination. Basic concepts and clinical consequences. *Clinical Pharmacokinetics*, *9*(1), 1–25.
- Poulsen, P., Esteller, M., Vaag, A., & Fraga, M. F. (2007). The epigenetic basis of twin discordance in age-related diseases. *Pediatric Research*, 61(5 Pt 2), 38R–42R.
- Rath, B., Pandey, R. S., Debata, P. R., Maruyama, N., & Supakar, P. C. (2008). Molecular characterization of senescence marker protein-30 gene promoter: identification of repressor elements and functional nuclear factor binding sites. *BMC Molecular Biology*, *9*, 43.
- Rawlings, J. S., Rosler, K. M., & Harrison, D. a. (2004). The JAK/STAT signaling pathway. *Journal of Cell Science*, *117*(Pt 8), 1281–3.
- Ray, D., Wu, A., Wilkinson, J. E., Murphy, H. S., Lu, Q., Kluve-Beckerman, B., Liepnieks, J. J., Benson, M., Yung, R., Richardson, B. (2006). Aging in heterozygous Dnmt1-deficient mice: effects on survival, the DNA methylation genes, and the development of amyloidosis. *The journals of gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, *61*(2), 115–24.
- Rice, J. C., & Allis, C. D. (2001). Histone methylation versus histone acetylation: new insights into epigenetic regulation. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology*, *13*(3), 263–73.
- Robertson, K D, Uzvolgyi, E., Liang, G., Talmadge, C., Sumegi, J., Gonzales, F. a, & Jones, P. a. (1999). The human DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs) 1, 3a and 3b: coordinate mRNA expression in normal tissues and overexpression in tumors. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *27*(11), 2291–8.

- Robertson, Keith D. (2002). DNA methylation and chromatin unraveling the tangled web. *Oncogene*, *21*(35), 5361–79.
- Rojanathammanee, L., Rakoczy, S., & Brown-Borg, H. M. (2013). Growth Hormone Alters the Glutathione S-Transferase and Mitochondrial Thioredoxin Systems in Long-Living Ames Dwarf Mice. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*.
- Román, Angel C, González-Rico, F. J., & Fernández-Salguero, P. M. (2011). B1-SINE retrotransposons: Establishing genomic insulatory networks. *Mobile Genetic Elements*, 1(1), 66–70.
- Román, Angel Carlos, González-Rico, F. J., Moltó, E., Hernando, H., Neto, A., Vicente-Garcia, C., Ballestar, E., Gómez-Skarmeta, J. L., Vavrova-Anderson, J., White, R. J., Montoliu, L., Fernández-Salguero, P.M. (2011). Dioxin receptor and SLUG transcription factors regulate the insulator activity of B1 SINE retrotransposons via an RNA polymerase switch. *Genome Research*, *21*(3), 422–32.
- Rowling, M. J., McMullen, M. H., & Schalinske, K. L. (2002). Vitamin A and its derivatives induce hepatic glycine N-methyltransferase and hypomethylation of DNA in rats. *The Journal of Nutrition*, *132*(3), 365–369.
- Salminen, A., & Kaarniranta, K. (2010). Insulin/IGF-1 paradox of aging: regulation via AKT/IKK/NF-kappaB signaling. *Cellular Signalling*, *22*(4), 573–7.
- Salmon, A. B., Ljungman, M., & Miller, R. A. (2008). Cells from long-lived mutant mice exhibit enhanced repair of ultraviolet lesions. *The journals of* gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences, 63(3), 219–31.
- Salvioli, S., Capri, M., Bucci, L., Lanni, C., Racchi, M., Uberti, D., Memo, M., Mari, D., Govoni, S., Franceschi, C. (2009). Why do centenarians escape or postpone cancer? The role of IGF-1, inflammation and p53. *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy* : *CII*, *58*(12), 1909–1917.
- Sancho, M., Diani, E., Beato, M., & Jordan, A. (2008). Depletion of human histone H1 variants uncovers specific roles in gene expression and cell growth. *PLoS Genetics*, *4*(10), e1000227.
- Sanz, A., Bartke, A., & Barja, G. (2002). Long-lived Ames dwarf mice: Oxidative damage to mitochondrial DNA in heart and brain. *Journal of the American Aging Association*, *25*(3), 119–22.

- Sarg, B., Koutzamani, E., Helliger, W., Rundquist, I., & Lindner, H. H. (2002). Postsynthetic trimethylation of histone H4 at lysine 20 in mammalian tissues is associated with aging. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(42), 39195–201.
- Sato, F., Tsuchiya, S., Meltzer, S. J., & Shimizu, K. (2011). MicroRNAs and epigenetics. *The FEBS Journal*, *278*(10), 1598–609.
- Sato, M., & Bremner, I. (1993). Oxygen free radicals and metallothionein. *Free Radical Biology & Medicine*, *14*(3), 325–37.
- Schaible, R., & Gowen, J. W. (1961). A new dwarf mouse. *Genetics*, *46*(896), 349–356.
- Schellenberg, A., Lin, Q., Schüler, H., Koch, C. M., Joussen, S., Denecke, B., Walenda, G., Pallua, N., Suschek, C. V., Zenke, M., Wagner, W. (2011).
 Replicative senescence of mesenchymal stem cells causes DNAmethylation changes which correlate with repressive histone marks. *Aging*, *3*(9), 873–88.
- Schmucker, D. L., & Sanchez, H. (2011). Liver regeneration and aging: a current perspective. *Current gerontology and geriatrics research*, *2011*, 526379.
- Schumacher, B., Van Der Pluijm, I., Moorhouse, M. J., Kosteas, T., Robinson, A. R., Suh, Y., Breit, T. M., Van Steeg, H., Niedernhofer, L. J., Van IJcken, W., Bartke, A., Spindler, S. R., Hoeijmakers, J. H. J., Van Der Horst, G. T. J., Garinis, George A (2008). Delayed and Accelerated Aging Share Common Longevity Assurance Mechanisms. (S. K. Kim, Ed.) *PLoS Genetics*, *4*(8), 13.
- Scrable, H., Medrano, S., & Ungewitter, E. (2010). Running on empty: how p53 controls INS/IGF signaling and affects life span. *Experimental Gerontology*, *44*(1-2), 93–100.
- Sedivy, J., Banumathy, G., & Adams, P. (2008). Aging by epigenetics a consequence of chromatin damage? *Experimental Cell Research*, *314*(9), 1909–1917.
- Shapiro, J. a, & Von Sternberg, R. (2005). Why repetitive DNA is essential to genome function. *Biological Reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society*, 80(2), 227–50.
- Sharma, S., Rakoczy, S., Dahlheimer, K., & Brown-Borg, H. (2010). The hippocampus of Ames dwarf mice exhibits enhanced antioxidative defenses

following kainic acid-induced oxidative stress. *Experimental Gerontology*, *45*(12), 936–49.

- Sheedfar, F., Di Biase, S., Koonen, D., & Vinciguerra, M. (2013). Liver diseases and aging: friends or foes? *Aging Cell*, *12*(6), 950–4.
- Shin, D.-M., Kucia, M., & Ratajczak, M. Z. (2011). Nuclear and chromatin reorganization during cell senescence and aging a mini-review. *Gerontology*, *57*(1), 76–84.
- Shpargel, K. B., & Matera, A. G. (2005). Gemin proteins are required for efficient assembly of Sm-class ribonucleoproteins. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *102*(48), 17372–7.
- Shumaker, D. K., Dechat, T., Kohlmaier, A., Adam, S. A., Bozovsky, M. R., Erdos, M. R., Eriksson, M., Goldman, A. E., Khuon, S., Collins, F. S., Jenuwein, T., Goldman, R. D. (2006). Mutant nuclear lamin A leads to progressive alterations of epigenetic control in premature aging. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 103(23), 8703–8.
- Sinclair, D. a, & Oberdoerffer, P. (2009). The ageing epigenome: damaged beyond repair? *Ageing Research Reviews*, *8*(3), 189–98.
- Singal, R., & Ginder, G. D. (1999). DNA methylation. *Blood*, 93(12), 4059–70. 2
- Singhal, R. P., Mays-Hoopes, L. L., & Eichhorn, G. L. (1987). DNA methylation in aging of mice. *Mechanisms of Ageing and Development*, *41*(3), 199–210.
- Sornson, M. W., Wu, W., Dasen, J. S., Flynn, S. E., Norman, D. J., O'Connell, S. M., Gukovsky, I., Carrière, C., Ryan, A. K., Miller, A. P., Zuo, L., Gleiberman, A. S., Andersen, B., Beamer, W. G., Rosenfeld, M. G. (1996). Pituitary lineage determination by the Prophet of Pit-1 homeodomain factor defective in Ames dwarfism. *Nature*, *384*(6607), 327–333.
- Sotelo, a I., Bartke, a, Kopchick, J. J., Knapp, J. R., & Turyn, D. (1998). Growth hormone (GH) receptors, binding proteins and IGF-I concentrations in the serum of transgenic mice expressing bovine GH agonist or antagonist. *The Journal of Endocrinology*, *158*(1), 53–9.
- Stanley, L. A., Carthew, P., Davies, R., Higginson, F., Martin, E., & Styles, J. A. (2001). Delayed effects of tamoxifen in hepatocarcinogenesis-resistant Fischer 344 rats as compared with susceptible strains. *Cancer Letters*, 171(1), 27–35.

- Steger, R. W., Bartke, A., & Cecim, M. (1993). Premature ageing in transgenic mice expressing different growth hormone genes. *Journal Of Reproduction And Fertility Supplement*, 46, 61–75.
- Steger, R. W., Bartke, A., Parkening, T. A., Collins, T., Cerven, R., Jun, J. S., & Wagner, T. E. (1994). Effects of chronic exposure to bovine growth hormone (bGH) on the hypothalamic-pituitary axis in transgenic mice: Relationship to the degree of expression of the PEPCK.bGH hybrid gene. *Transgenics*, 1, 245–253.
- Strahl, B. D., & Allis, C. D. (2000). The language of covalent histone modifications. *Nature*, *403*(6765), 41–45.
- Suh, Y., Atzmon, G., Cho, M.-O., Hwang, D., Liu, B., Leahy, D. J., Barzilai, N., Cohen, P. (2008). Functionally significant insulin-like growth factor I receptor mutations in centenarians. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 105(9), 3438–3442.
- Sun, L. Y., Bokov, A. F., Richardson, A., & Miller, R. a. (2011). Hepatic response to oxidative injury in long-lived Ames dwarf mice. *FASEB journal* : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology, 25(1), 398–408.
- Sun, L., Zhao, H., Xu, Z., Liu, Q., Liang, Y., Wang, L., Cai, X., Zhang, L., Hu, L., Wang, G., Zha, X. (2007). Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/protein kinase B pathway stabilizes DNA methyltransferase I protein and maintains DNA methylation. *Cellular Signalling*, *19*(11), 2255–63.
- Sun, X., Fontaine, J.-M., Hoppe, A. D., Carra, S., DeGuzman, C., Martin, J. L., Simon, S., Vicart, P., Welsh, M. J., Landry, J., Benndorf, R. (2010).
 Abnormal interaction of motor neuropathy-associated mutant HspB8 (Hsp22) forms with the RNA helicase Ddx20 (gemin3). *Cell stress & Chaperones*, *15*(5), 567–82.
- Sutherland, E., Coe, L., & Raleigh, E. A. (1992). McrBC: a multisubunit GTPdependent restriction endonuclease. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, *225*(2), 327–48.
- Swindell, W., Masternak, M., & Bartke, A. (2010). In vivo analysis of gene expression in long-lived mice lacking the pregnancy-associated plasma protein a (pappa) gene. *Experimental gerontology*, *45*(5), 366–374.

- Takai, D., Yagi, Y., Habib, N., Sugimura, T., & Ushijima, T. (2000). Hypomethylation of LINE1 retrotransposon in human hepatocellular carcinomas, but not in surrounding liver cirrhosis. *Japanese Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *30*(7), 306–9.
- Takasugi, M. (2011). Progressive age-dependent DNA methylation changes start before adulthood in mouse tissues. *Mechanisms of Ageing and Development*, *132*(1-2), 65–71.
- Takasugi, M., Hayakawa, K., Arai, D., & Shiota, K. (2013). Age- and sexdependent DNA hypomethylation controlled by growth hormone in mouse liver. *Mechanisms of ageing and development*, *134*(7-8), 331–7.
- Takata, A., Otsuka, M., Yoshikawa, T., Kishikawa, T., Hikiba, Y., Obi, S., Goto, T., Kang, Y. J., Maeda, S., Yoshida, H., Omata, M., Asahara, H., Koike, K. (2013). MicroRNA-140 acts as a liver tumor suppressor by controlling NF-KB activity by directly targeting DNA methyltransferase 1 (Dnmt1) expression. *Hepatology (Baltimore, Md.)*, *57*(1), 162–70.
- Takata, A., Otsuka, M., Yoshikawa, T., Kishikawa, T., Kudo, Y., Goto, T., Yoshida, H., Koike, K. (2012). A miRNA machinery component DDX20 controls NF-κB via microRNA-140 function. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, *420*(3), 564–9.
- Teschendorff, A. E., Menon, U., Gentry-Maharaj, A., Ramus, S. J.,
 Weisenberger, D. J., Shen, H., Campan, M., Noushmehr, H., Bell, C. G.,
 Maxwell, A. P., Savage, D. A., Mueller-Holzner, E., Marth, C., Kocjan, G.,
 Gayther, S. A., Jones, A., Beck, S., Wagner, W., Laird, P. W., Jacobs, I.
 J., Widschwendter, M.. (2010). Age-dependent DNA methylation of genes
 that are suppressed in stem cells is a hallmark of cancer. *Genome Research*, 20(4), 440–6.
- Thompson, R., Atzmon, G., & Gheorghe, C. (2010). Tissue-specific dysregulation of DNA methylation in aging. *Aging Cell*, *9*(4), 506–518.
- Tomilin, N. V. (2008). Regulation of mammalian gene expression by retroelements and non-coding tandem repeats. *BioEssays : News and Reviews in Molecular, Cellular and Developmental Biology, 30*(4), 338–48.
- Tost, J. (2010). DNA methylation: an introduction to the biology and the diseaseassociated changes of a promising biomarker. *Molecular Biotechnology*, *44*(1), 71–81.

- Tryndyak, V. P., Muskhelishvili, L., Kovalchuk, O., Rodriguez-Juarez, R., Montgomery, B., Churchwell, M. I., Ross, S. a., Beland, F. a., Pogribny, I. P. (2006). Effect of long-term tamoxifen exposure on genotoxic and epigenetic changes in rat liver: implications for tamoxifen-induced hepatocarcinogenesis. *Carcinogenesis*, *27*(8), 1713–20.
- Ugalde, A. P., Ramsay, A. J., De la Rosa, J., Varela, I., Mariño, G., Cadiñanos, J., Lu, J., Freije, J. M., López-Otín, C.. (2011). Aging and chronic DNA damage response activate a regulatory pathway involving miR-29 and p53. *The EMBO Journal*, *30*(11), 2219–32.
- Ulrey, C. L., Liu, L., Andrews, L. G., & Tollefsbol, T. O. (2005). The impact of metabolism on DNA methylation. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 14 Spec No(1), R139–47.
- Uthus, E. O., & Brown-Borg, H. M. (2003). Altered methionine metabolism in long living Ames dwarf mice. *Experimental Gerontology*, *38*(5), 491–498.
- Uthus, E. O., & Brown-Borg, H. M. (2006). Methionine flux to transsulfuration is enhanced in the long living Ames dwarf mouse. *Mechanisms of ageing and development*, *127*(5), 444–50.
- Van Kouwenhove, M., Kedde, M., & Agami, R. (2011). MicroRNA regulation by RNA-binding proteins and its implications for cancer. *Nature Reviews. Cancer*, *11*(9), 644–56.
- Vijayakumar, A., Yakar, S., & Leroith, D. (2011). The intricate role of growth hormone in metabolism. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, *2*(September), 32.
- Vijg, J., & Suh, Y. (2013). Genome instability and aging. *Annual Review of Physiology*, *75*, 645–68.
- Vinken, M., Snykers, S., Fraczek, J., Decrock, E., Leybaert, L., Rogiers, V., & Vanhaecke, T. (2010). DNA methyltransferase 3a expression decreases during apoptosis in primary cultures of hepatocytes. *Toxicology in vitro* : An International Journal Published in Association with BIBRA, 24(2), 445–51.
- Vitvitsky, V., Martinov, M., Ataullakhanov, F., Miller, R. a, & Banerjee, R. (2013). Sulfur-based redox alterations in long-lived Snell dwarf mice. *Mechanisms of Ageing and D*, 134(7-8), 321–30.
- Wallace, D. C., & Fan, W. (2010). Energetics, epigenetics, mitochondrial genetics. *Mitochondrion*, *10*(1), 12–31.

- Wang, C., Jurk, D., Maddick, M., Nelson, G., Martin-Ruiz, C., & Von Zglinicki, T. (2009). DNA damage response and cellular senescence in tissues of aging mice. *Aging Cell*, 8(3), 311–323.
- Wang, Y., Tang, F., Chen, S., Chen, Y., & Chiang, E. I. (2011). Glycine-N Methyltransferase Expression in HepG2 Cells Is Involved in Methyl Group Homeostasis by Regulating Transmethylation. *Online*, 777–782.
- Waterston R.H., Lindblad-Toh K., Birney E., Rogers J., Abril J.F., Agarwal P., Agarwala R., Ainscough R., Alexandersson M., An P., Antonarakis S.E., Attwood J., Baertsch R., Bailey J., Barlow K., Beck S., Berry E., Birren B., Bloom T., Bork P., Botcherby M., Bray N., Brent M.R., Brown D.G., Brown S.D., Bult C., Burton J., Butler J., Campbell R.D., Carninci P., Cawley S., Chiaromonte F., Chinwalla A.T., Church D.M., Clamp M., Clee C., Collins F.S., Cook L.L., Copley R.R., Coulson A., Couronne O., Cuff J., Curwen V., Cutts T., Daly M., David R., Davies J., Delehaunty K.D., Deri J., Dermitzakis E.T., Dewey C., Dickens N.J., Diekhans M., Dodge S., Dubchak I., Dunn D.M., Eddy S.R., Elnitski L., Emes R.D., Eswara P., Eyras E., Felsenfeld A., Fewell G.A., Flicek P., Foley K., Frankel W.N., Fulton L.A., Fulton R.S., Furey T.S., Gage D., Gibbs R.A., Glusman G., Gnerre S., Goldman N., Goodstadt L., Grafham D., Graves .TA., Green E.D., Gregory S., Guigó R., Guyer M., Hardison R.C., Haussler D., Hayashizaki Y., Hillier L.W., Hinrichs A., Hlavina W., Holzer T., Hsu F., Hua A., Hubbard T., Hunt A., Jackson I., Jaffe D.B., Johnson L.S., Jones M., Jones T.A., Joy A., Kamal M., Karlsson E.K., Karolchik D., Kasprzyk A., Kawai J., KeiblerE, Kells C., Kent W.J., Kirby A., Kolbe D.L., Korf I., Kucherlapati R.S., Kulbokas E.J., Kulp D., Landers T., Leger J.P., Leonard S., Letunic I., Levine R., Li J., Li M., Lloyd C., Lucas S., Ma B., Maglott D.R., Mardis E.R., Matthews L., Mauceli E., Mayer J.H., McCarthy M., McCombie W.R., McLaren S., McLay K., McPherson J.D., Meldrim J., Meredith B., Mesirov J.P., Miller W., Miner T.L., Mongin E., Montgomery K.T., Morgan M., Mott R., Mullikin J.C., Muzny D.M., Nash W.E., Nelson J.O., Nhan M.N., Nicol R., Ning Z., Nusbaum C., O'Connor M.J., Okazaki Y., Oliver K., Overton-Larty E., Pachter L., Parra G., Pepin K.H., Peterson J., Pevzner P., Plumb R., Pohl C.S., Poliakov A., Ponce T.C., Ponting C.P., Potter S., Quail M., Reymond A., Roe B.A., Roskin K.M., Rubin E.M., Rust A.G., Santos R., Sapoinikov V., Schultz B., Schultz J., Schwartz M.S., Schwartz S., Scott C., Seaman S., Searle S., Sharpe T., Sheridan A., Shownkeen R., Sims S., Singer J.B., Slater G., Smit A., Smith D.R., Spencer B., Stabenau A., Stange-Thomann N., Sugnet C., Suyama M., Tesler G., Thompson J., Torrents D., Trevaskis E., Tromp J., Ucla C., Ureta-Vidal A., Vinson J.P., Von Niederhausern A.C., Wade C.M., Wall M., Weber R.J., Weiss R.B., Wendl M.C., West A.P., Wetterstrand K., Wheeler R., Whelan S., Wierzbowski J., Willey D., Williams S., Wilson R.K., Winter E., Worley K.C., Wyman D., Yang S., Yang S.P., Zdobnov E.M., Zody M.C., Lander E.S. (2002). Initial sequencing and comparative analysis of the mouse genome. Nature, 420(6915), 520-62.

- Waxman, D. J., Ram, P. A., Park, S. H., & Choi, H. K. (1995). Intermittent plasma growth hormone triggers tyrosine phosphorylation and nuclear translocation of a liver-expressed, Stat 5-related DNA binding protein. Proposed role as an intracellular regulator of male-specific liver gene transcription. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 270(22), 13262–70.
- Weltman, A., Weltman, J. Y., Roy, C. P., Wideman, L., Patrie, J., Evans, W. S., & Veldhuis, J. D. (2006). Growth hormone response to graded exercise intensities is attenuated and the gender difference abolished in older adults. *Journal of Applied Physiology (Bethesda, Md. : 1985)*, 100(5), 1623–1629.
- Wilker, E. H., Baccarelli, A., Suh, H., Vokonas, P., Wright, R. O., & Schwartz, J. (2010). Black carbon exposures, blood pressure, and interactions with single nucleotide polymorphisms in MicroRNA processing genes. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *118*(7), 943–8.
- Wilson, V. L., Smith, R. A., Mag, S., & Cutler, R. G. (1987). Genomic 5-Methyldeoxycytidine Decreases with Age*. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 262(21), 9948–9951.
- Wolters, S., & Schumacher, B. (2013). Genome maintenance and transcription integrity in aging and disease. *Frontiers in Genetics*, *4*(February), 19.
- Wong, A. H. C., Gottesman, I. I., & Petronis, A. (2005). Phenotypic differences in genetically identical organisms: the epigenetic perspective. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 14 Spec No, R11–R18.
- Yamada, Y., Jackson-Grusby, L., Linhart, H., Meissner, A., Eden, A., Lin, H., & Jaenisch, R. (2005). Opposing effects of DNA hypomethylation on intestinal and liver carcinogenesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America, 102(38), 13580–5.
- Yang, H., Dinney, C. P., Ye, Y., Zhu, Y., Grossman, H. B., & Wu, X. (2008). Evaluation of genetic variants in microRNA-related genes and risk of bladder cancer. *Cancer Research*, 68(7), 2530–7.
- Yang, X., Ewald, E. R., Huo, Y., Tamashiro, K. L., Salvatori, R., Sawa, A., Wand, G. S., Lee, R. S. (2012). Glucocorticoid-induced loss of DNA methylation in non-neuronal cells and potential involvement of DNMT1 in epigenetic regulation of Fkbp5. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 420(3), 570–5.
- Ye, P., & D'Ercole, A. J. (2006). Insulin-like growth factor actions during development of neural stem cells and progenitors in the central nervous system. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, *83*(1), 1–6.

- Yeo, E. J., & Wagner, C. (1994). Tissue distribution of glycine Nmethyltransferase, a major folate-binding protein of liver. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 91(1), 210– 4.
- Yu, R., Jih, G., Iglesias, N., & Moazed, D. (2014). Determinants of heterochromatic siRNA biogenesis and function. *Molecular Dell*, 53(2), 262– 76.
- Yuan, R., Peters, L. L., & Paigen, B. (2011). Mice as a mammalian model for research on the genetics of aging. *ILAR journal / National Research Council, Institute of Laboratory Animal Resources*, 52(1), 4–15.
- Yuan, Y., Shen, Y., Xue, L., & Fan, H. (2013). miR-140 suppresses tumor growth and metastasis of non-small cell lung cancer by targeting insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor. *PloS One*, 8(9), e73604.
- Zhou, Y., Xu, B. C., Maheshwari, H. G., He, L., Reed, M., Lozykowski, M., Okada, S., L. Cataldo, K. Coschigamo, T. E. Wagner, G. Baumann, AND J. J. Kopchick. (1997). A mammalian model for Laron syndrome produced by targeted disruption of the mouse growth hormone receptor/binding protein gene (the Laron mouse). *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94(24), 13215–20.